
 

 

 
 

 
 

County Hall 
Rhadyr 

Usk 
NP15 1GA 

 
22nd June 2022 

 

Notice of meeting: 
 

Place Scrutiny Committee 
 

Thursday, 30th June, 2022 at 10.00 am 
Council Chamber, County Hall, The Rhadyr, Usk, NP15 1GA  

and Remote Attendance 
 

Please note that a pre meeting will be held 30 minutes prior to the start of the 
meeting for members of the committee. 

 

AGENDA 
 

Item No Item Pages 
 

1.   Election of Chair. 

 
 

2.   Appointment of Vice-Chair. 

 
 

3.   Apologies for Absence. 

 
 

4.   Declarations of Interest. 

 
 

5.   Public Open Forum. 
 

Select Committee Public Open Forum ~ Guidance  
 

Our Select Committee meetings are live streamed and a link to the live 
stream will be available on the meeting page of the Monmouthshire 
County Council website 
 
If you would like to share your thoughts on any proposals being 
discussed by Select Committees, you can submit your representation 
in advance via this form 
 

 Please share your views by uploading a video or audio file (maximum of 
4 minutes) or; 

 Please submit a written representation (via Microsoft Word, maximum 
of 500 words) 
 

 

Public Document Pack

https://democracy.monmouthshire.gov.uk/mgCalendarMonthView.aspx?GL=1&bcr=1
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fiweb.itouchvision.com%2Fportal%2Ff%3Fp%3Dcustomer%3Acategory_link%3A%3A%3A%3A%3ACUID%2CLANG%3AAF982C24C2572B3224E054315401AAED8CC0A7A0%2CEN%26P_LANG%3Den&data=04%7C01%7CHazelIlett%40monmouthshire.gov.uk%7C83a0bf3bf6ee41ee8d1b08d93b16b3e2%7C2c4d0079c52c4bb3b3cad8eaf1b6b7d5%7C0%7C0%7C637605790947963962%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=nMRDD%2BWQ%2FwINh1CtwEQ8%2B74RpzpM8pgA%2B29VGM5%2FzhE%3D&reserved=0


 

 

You will need to register for a My Monmouthshire account in order to 
submit the representation or use your log in, if you have registered 
previously.  
 
The deadline for submitting representations to the Council is 5pm three 
clear working days in advance of the meeting.   
 
If representations received exceed 30 minutes, a selection of these 
based on theme will be shared at the Select Committee meeting.  All 
representations received will be made available to councillors prior to 
the meeting. 

If you would like to attend one of our meetings to speak under the 
Public Open Forum at the meeting, you will need to give three working 
days’ notice by contacting Scrutiny@monmouthshire.gov.uk .    

The amount of time afforded to each member of the public to speak is 
at the chair’s discretion, but to enable us to accommodate multiple 
speakers, we ask that contributions be no longer than 3 minutes.  
 
If you would like to suggest future topics for scrutiny by one of our 
Select Committees, please do so by emailing 
Scrutiny@monmouthshire.gov.uk 

 
6.   Discussion on the Committee's Forward Work Programme. 

 
1 - 14 

7.   Pre-decision Scrutiny of the Wye Valley Villages Future Plan. 

 
15 - 282 

8.   Pre-decision Scrutiny of the Regeneration Funding and Delivery Plan 
2022-2025 (prior to going to Cabinet on 27th July 2022) (report to follow). 

 

 

9.   Petitions Received - to recommend actions to the Cabinet. 

 
283 - 304 

10.   To confirm the following minutes: 

 
 

10.1.   Economy and Development Select Committee - 3rd February 2022. 

 
305 - 310 

10.2.   Strong Communities Select Committee - 10th March 2022. 

 
311 - 316 

11.   Next Meeting: Thursday 15th September 2022 at 10.00am. 

 
 

 
Paul Matthews 

 
Chief Executive 

 
 

 

https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fiweb.itouchvision.com%2Fportal%2Ff%3Fp%3Dcustomer%3Acategory_link%3A%3A%3A%3A%3ACUID%2CLANG%3AAF982C24C2572B3224E054315401AAED8CC0A7A0%2CEN%26P_LANG%3Den&data=04%7C01%7CHazelIlett%40monmouthshire.gov.uk%7C83a0bf3bf6ee41ee8d1b08d93b16b3e2%7C2c4d0079c52c4bb3b3cad8eaf1b6b7d5%7C0%7C0%7C637605790947963962%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=nMRDD%2BWQ%2FwINh1CtwEQ8%2B74RpzpM8pgA%2B29VGM5%2FzhE%3D&reserved=0
mailto:Scrutiny@monmouthshire.gov.uk
mailto:Scrutiny@monmouthshire.gov.uk


 

 

MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
CYNGOR SIR FYNWY 

 

THE CONSTITUTION OF THE COMMITTEE IS AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 
County Councillor Louise Brown, Shirenewton; Welsh Conservative Party 
County Councillor Emma Bryn, Wyesham; Independent Group 
County Councillor Ben Callard, Llanfoist & Govilon; Welsh Labour/Llafur Cymru 
County Councillor Ian Chandler, Llantilio Crossenny; Green Party 
County Councillor Tomos Dafydd Davies, Llanfoist & Govilon; Welsh Conservative Party 
County Councillor Lisa Dymock, Portskewett; Welsh Conservative Party 
County Councillor Jane Lucas, Osbaston; Welsh Conservative Party 
County Councillor Su McConnel, Croesonen; Welsh Labour/Llafur Cymru 
County Councillor Maria  Stevens, Severn; Welsh Labour/Llafur Cymru 
County Councillor Jackie Strong, Caldicot Cross; Welsh Labour/Llafur Cymru 

 
Public Information 

 
Access to paper copies of agendas and reports 
A copy of this agenda and relevant reports can be made available to members of the public 
attending a meeting by requesting a copy from Democratic Services on 01633 644219. Please 
note that we must receive 24 hours notice prior to the meeting in order to provide you with a hard 
copy of this agenda.  
 
Welsh Language 
The Council welcomes contributions from members of the public through the medium of Welsh or 
English.  We respectfully ask that you provide us with adequate notice to accommodate your 
needs. 

 



 

 

Aims and Values of Monmouthshire County Council 
 
Our purpose 
 
Building Sustainable and Resilient Communities 
 
Objectives we are working towards 
 

 Giving people the best possible start in life 

 A thriving and connected county 

 Maximise the Potential of the natural and built environment 

 Lifelong well-being 

 A future focused council 
 

Our Values 
 
Openness. We are open and honest. People have the chance to get involved in decisions that 

affect them, tell us what matters and do things for themselves/their communities. If we cannot do 

something to help, we’ll say so; if it will take a while to get the answer we’ll explain why; if we can’t 

answer immediately we’ll try to connect you to the people who can help – building trust and 

engagement is a key foundation. 

Fairness. We provide fair chances, to help people and communities thrive. If something does not 

seem fair, we will listen and help explain why. We will always try to treat everyone fairly and 

consistently. We cannot always make everyone happy, but will commit to listening and explaining 

why we did what we did.  

Flexibility. We will continue to change and be flexible to enable delivery of the most effective and 

efficient services. This means a genuine commitment to working with everyone to embrace new 

ways of working. 

Teamwork. We will work with you and our partners to support and inspire everyone to get involved 

so we can achieve great things together. We don’t see ourselves as the ‘fixers’ or problem-solvers, 

but we will make the best of the ideas, assets and resources available to make sure we do the 

things that most positively impact our people and places. 

Kindness: We will show kindness to all those we work with putting the importance of relationships 

and the connections we have with one another at the heart of all interactions. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 
 
 Monmouthshire Scrutiny Question Guide  
 
 Role of the Pre-meeting  
 
1. Why is the Committee scrutinising this? (background, key issues)  
2. What is the Committee’s role and what outcome do Members want to achieve?  
3. Is there sufficient information to achieve this? If not, who could provide this?  
 
- Agree the order of questioning and which Members will lead  
- Agree questions for officers and questions for the Cabinet Member  
 
Questions for the Meeting  
 
Scrutinising Performance  
1. How does performance compare with previous 
years? Is it better/worse? Why?  
 
2. How does performance compare with other 
councils/other service providers? Is it 
better/worse? Why?  
 
3. How does performance compare with set 
targets? Is it better/worse? Why?  
 
4. How were performance targets set? Are they 
challenging enough/realistic?  
 
5. How do service users/the public/partners view 
the performance of the service?  
 
6. Have there been any recent audit and 
inspections? What were the findings?  
 
7. How does the service contribute to the 
achievement of corporate objectives?  
 
8. Is improvement/decline in performance linked 
to an increase/reduction in resource? What 
capacity is there to improve?  
 

Scrutinising Policy  
1. Who does the policy affect ~ directly and 
indirectly? Who will benefit most/least?  
 
2. What is the view of service 
users/stakeholders? Do they believe it will 
achieve the desired outcome?  
 
3. What is the view of the community as a whole 
- the ‘taxpayer’ perspective?  
 
4. What methods were used to consult with 
stakeholders? Did the process enable all those 
with a stake to have their say?  
 
5. What practice and options have been 
considered in developing/reviewing this policy? 
What evidence is there to inform what works? 
Does the policy relate to an area where there is a 
lack of published research or other evidence?  
 
6. Does the policy relate to an area where there 
are known inequalities?  
 
7. Does this policy align to our corporate 
objectives, as defined in our corporate plan? 
Does it adhere to our Welsh Language 
Standards?  
 
8. Have all relevant sustainable development, 
equalities and safeguarding implications been 
taken into consideration? For example, what are 
the procedures that need to be in place to protect 
children?  
 

 
 

9. How much will this cost to implement and what 
funding source has been identified?  

 
10. How will performance of the policy be 
measured and the impact evaluated?  



 

 

 

General Questions:  
Empowering Communities  
• • How are we involving local communities and empowering them to design and deliver 
services to suit local need?  
• • Do we have regular discussions with communities about service priorities and what level of 
service the council can afford to provide in the future?  
• • Is the service working with citizens to explain the role of different partners in delivering the 
service, and managing expectations?  
• • Is there a framework and proportionate process in place for collective performance 
assessment, including from a citizen’s perspective, and do you have accountability arrangements to 
support this?  
• • Has an Equality Impact Assessment been carried out? If so, can the Leader and 
Cabinet/Senior Officers provide members with copies and a detailed explanation of the EQIA 
conducted in respect of these proposals?  
• • Can the Leader and Cabinet/Senior Officers assure members that these proposals comply 
with Equality and Human Rights legislation? Do the proposals comply with the Local Authority’s 
Strategic Equality Plan?  
 
Service Demands  
• • How will policy and legislative change affect how the council operates?  
• • Have we considered the demographics of our council and how this will impact on service 
delivery and funding in the future?  
• • Have you identified and considered the long-term trends that might affect your service area, 
what impact these trends could have on your service/your service could have on these trends, and 
what is being done in response?  
 
Financial Planning  
• • Do we have robust medium and long-term financial plans in place?  
• • Are we linking budgets to plans and outcomes and reporting effectively on these?  
 
Making savings and generating income  
• • Do we have the right structures in place to ensure that our efficiency, improvement and 
transformational approaches are working together to maximise savings?  
• • How are we maximising income? Have we compared other council’s policies to maximise 
income and fully considered the implications on service users?  
• • Do we have a workforce plan that takes into account capacity, costs, and skills of the actual 
versus desired workforce?  
 
 
Questions to ask within a year of the decision:  
• • Were the intended outcomes of the proposal achieved or were there other results?  
• • Were the impacts confined to the group you initially thought would be affected i.e. older 
people, or were others affected e.g. people with disabilities, parents with young children?  
• • Is the decision still the right decision or do adjustments need to be made?  
 
Questions for the Committee to conclude…  
Do we have the necessary information to form conclusions/make recommendations to the executive, 
council, other partners? If not, do we need to:  
i (i) Investigate the issue in more detail?  
ii (ii) Obtain further information from other witnesses – Executive Member, independent expert, 
members of the local community, service users, regulatory bodies…  
 
Agree further actions to be undertaken within a timescale/future monitoring report  



 

 

 

 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1. PURPOSE: 
 
1.1 Scrutiny Committees are required to agree an annual work programme to outline 

their work commitments for the year (Local Government (Wales) Measure 2010). 
The work programme should as far as possible be agreed at the beginning of each 
year, however, it can be updated during the year to accommodate urgent items if 
agreed by the Committee. This report recommends a ‘planned approach’ to 
developing the work programme to maximise the effectiveness of the scrutiny 
activity within the timescale.   

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
2.1 That Scrutiny Committees utilise the process outlined in Appendix 1 of this report 

to assist them in developing focussed work programmes, taking into account: 
 

(i) The respective remits of the four Scrutiny Committees and the need to avoid 
duplication. 

(ii) The Committees’ capacity/resources when prioritising topics for scrutiny 
and agreeing their inclusion into the work programme. 

(iii) The need to demonstrate added value and to contribute to the Council’s 
strategic direction.  

 
3. KEY ISSUES: 
 
3.1 The Roles of Monmouthshire’s Scrutiny Committees 

 
3.2 Monmouthshire’s scrutiny arrangements have recently been reviewed to ensure 

they are fit for purpose and enable members to effectively perform the statutory 
scrutiny roles expected of them. The new structure provides:  

 

 Strengthened decision-making and informed policy development through 
engaging the public on major issues that affect them ~ People and Place 
Scrutiny Committees.  

 An involved and evidenced role in ensuring the Well-being of Future 
Generations, by identifying potential effects of decisions on the public before 
decisions are made ~ People and Place Scrutiny Committees. 

SUBJECT: SCRUTINY FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME 

MEETING: Place Scrutiny Committee 

DATE: 30th June 2022 

DIVISION/WARDS AFFECTED: All 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 6



 Clear accountability for the Cabinet/Executive and robust challenge ~ 
Performance and Overview Scrutiny Committee. 

 Democratic accountability of partnership activity and collaborative service 
delivery to local people ~ Public Services Scrutiny Committee. 

 
3.3 The new Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 (sections 39-41) 

places strong emphasis on public participation in decision-making and creates a 
duty to engage the public in the design of policy and the debate of major decisions 
that will affect them. Developments in live-streaming and the ability for people to 
send videos and contribute to meetings from their home or workplace serve as a 
reminder that the conventional public open forum, with residents sitting in the 
gallery of the council chamber, is no longer the most effective way to involve 
people in the democratic process.  
 

3.4 Two ‘Policy’ Scrutiny Committees (People and Place) conduct pre-decision 
scrutiny on key topics affecting residents, seeking public participation as part of 
the decision-making process. These committees will typically scrutinise two topics 
per meeting to enable them to dedicate the necessary time to reflect on the views 
of the public and stakeholders. Whilst the public are welcome to attend scrutiny 
meetings and to submit audio, video and written contributions on subjects being 
debated at the committees, Members can also hold informal meetings in 
communities and hold conversations with service users, stakeholders and expert 
witnesses to gather their views. 

 
3.5 The Performance and Overview Scrutiny Committee is responsible for challenging 

the Executive/the Cabinet and holding them to account for the performance of all 
services, risk management and robust financial monitoring. 
 

3.6 The Public Services Scrutiny Committee is responsible for scrutinising the 
effectiveness of strategic partnerships (including the Public Service Board) and 
other public service providers to ensure that services delivered in partnership with 
other bodies are accountable and deliver improved outcomes for residents. Given 
its partnership focus, this scrutiny committee also has responsibility for Crime and 
Disorder Scrutiny in line with the Police and Justice Act (2006) and Welsh 
Government Guidance published in 2010. 
 

3.7 The Scrutiny Chairs hold regular meetings with the Chair of the Governance and 
Audit Committee to discuss workstreams and to avoid duplication. 

 
4.0 Determining Topics for Scrutiny 
 
4.1 The Scrutiny Forward Work Programme should be planned and reflect the 

Council’s key priorities in the corporate plan and its strategic risks. This will ensure 
that scrutiny adds value to the Council’s strategic direction and may mean that 
Scrutiny Committees choose not to scrutinise some things, in order to focus on 
topics where they can add value. 

 
4.2  Topics for the work programme can derive from a wide range of sources, including: 
  

Page 2



 The Cabinet and Council Forward Plan (attached as Appendix 2) – topics on the 
Cabinet Forward Plan can be considered by a Scrutiny Committee in advance to 
enable the committee to inform the Cabinet's decision by reflecting public opinion 
and making evidence-based recommendations. The People and Place Scrutiny 
Committees would play a key role in considering the effects of decisions on the 
public in advance of decisions being made, taking into account the Well-being of 
Future Generations and equality impact assessments (Monmouthshire has an 
Integrated Impact Assessment which accompanies all decisions).  
 

 Suggestions made by: Committee Members, other members, officers, the public, 
partners and stakeholders – a topic may be identified for scrutiny because of 
changes to legislation/government guidance. A policy may be recognised as being 
in need of review, or a new policy or service is needing to be introduced.  
 

 The Corporate Plan and the Corporate Assessment which provide the Council’s 
strategic direction and outline its key priorities. 
 

 The Risk Register – the Performance and Overview Scrutiny Committee has 
responsibility for considering key risks and, where appropriate, challenging the 
performance of the Cabinet/Executive and the actions being taken to mitigate the  
risks.  
 

 Performance monitoring and budget monitoring reports – the Performance and 
Overview Scrutiny Committee will undertake regular monitoring of the Council's 
performance and progress in implementing previously agreed actions. 
 

 Issues highlighted in audit and inspection reports.  
 

 Outcomes of public consultation.  
 

 Petitions by the public.  
 
4.3 Members and Officers may suggest topics which they feel warrant scrutiny, 

however, it remains the committees’ prerogative to set and agree the work 
programmes. Once a committee has assembled its work programme, it will be 
important for them to identify and agree the highest priority topics, which are those 
that will add most value through their work and deliver outcomes.  

 
4.4 Topics requiring long and detailed examination can be looked at in detail via 

Scrutiny Workshops ~ these are scheduled for major topics that are complex and 
multi-faceted, requiring significant policy development over several months, 
complementing the formal scrutiny that takes place in Scrutiny Committees. The 
workshops enable officers to discuss the context with members, and members to 
suggest the strategic direction whilst officers lead on the delivery. They also enable 
members who do not sit on the hosting Scrutiny Committee to lend their expertise 
as a witness or to participate in scrutiny activity. Whilst the workshops are for 
members to engage in policy at a formative stage, external witnesses and 
stakeholders can be invited as necessary, and community engagement can be 
scheduled alongside the process.  

 

Page 3



5.0 PRIORITISING TOPICS FOR SCRUTINY 
 
5.1 Some key principles for Members to consider when setting the work programme 

are:  

 Topics should add value and support corporate priorities. 

 The timing of scrutiny activity should achieve maximum impact. 

 Where appropriate and possible, partners, stakeholders and the public 
should be involved. 

 Allowing some flexibility in the work programme will enable urgent topics to 
be included if they arise.  

 The aim should always be to seek improvement in service provision. 

 The work programme should be achievable within available resources. 
 
5.2 The criteria to determine topics for scrutiny (Appendix 1) is designed to assist the 

Committee in selecting appropriate topics for scrutiny by encouraging Members to 
consider the anticipated outcomes and impact of any scrutiny activity. Members 
are advised to ensure that there are clear outcomes for any scrutiny activity. Any 
topics chosen for an in-depth review via Scrutiny Workshops will be scoped by the 
Scrutiny Officers to assess their feasibility, the likely objectives, and potential lines 
of enquiry and Terms of Reference prior to their commencement.   

 
5.3 The June / July scrutiny committee cycle will primarily focus on familiarising new 

Members with the scope and remit of their committees and discussing topics for 
inclusion into the forward work programme. Members are encouraged to think 
carefully about what the scrutiny role would be and to identify the intended 
outcomes of the scrutiny. The meetings will also include some reports which are 
timely and require scrutiny.  

 
6.0 EQUALITY AND FUTURE GENERATIONS EVALUATION (INCLUDES SOCIAL 

JUSTICE, SAFEGUARDING AND CORPORATE PARENTING): 
 
6.1 This report offers guidance to committees to assist members in setting their work 

programme and as such, does not require an assessment of Equality, Well-being 
of Future Generations, Social Justice, Safeguarding and Corporate Parenting 
considerations.  

 
7.0 EVALUATION CRITERIA 
 
 Not applicable.  
 
8.0 REASONS: 
 
8.1 The requirement to produce and publish a Scrutiny Forward Work Programme is 

a legislative requirement, however, it is also good practice.  
 

9.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: 
 

There are no direct resource implications associated with this report.  
  

Page 4



 
10.0 CONSULTEES: 

 
None. 

 
11.0 BACKGROUND PAPERS: 
 

Appendix 1 ~ Determining Topics for Scrutiny Criteria 
Appendix 2 ~ Cabinet and Council Forward Plan 
 

12.0 AUTHOR: 
 

Hazel Ilett, Scrutiny Manager 
 
13.0 CONTACT DETAILS: 
 
 Tel: 01633 644233 
 E-mail: Hazelilett@monmouthshire.gov.uk 
 
 

Page 5

mailto:Hazelilett@monmouthshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Determining Topics for Scrutiny 
 

 

The following criteria can be used to determine whether topics are appropriate topics for 

scrutiny and which committee would be best placed to scrutinise them. It is the decision 

of the Scrutiny Committee as to what topics they will include in their work programme.  

Members and officers in suggesting items for scrutiny should consider: 

 

Is there a role for Scrutiny? 

 

Is this a new policy being developed or are changes proposed to an existing 

service?   
 

            Such topics should be considered by either of the policy scrutiny committees, 

who can assess the impact on the public, service users and relevant stakeholders. 

 

Is this a review of a service’s performance? Are there resource issues or risks to 

consider? 

   

             Such topics should be considered by the Performance and Overview Scrutiny 

Committee with the relevant Cabinet/Executive Member invited when necessary to 

attend and answer questions.  
 

Does the topic relate to a service that is provided in collaboration with others? 
 

            These topics should be scrutinised by the Public Services Scrutiny Committee. 
 

Are elected members needing to be informed or updated about this topic? 
 

            These topics should be discussed with all members via a ‘Member Seminar’.  

Public Interest Test 

 Is this a “high profile” topic?    

 Is there significant public interest? 

 Is this an area where a lot of complaints are received and/or bad press? 

 How will the scrutiny activity provide opportunities for local people to have their 

say? 

 Is survey / research work required? 

Impact of Scrutiny  

 Will this review have a significant impact on the “well-being” of people in 

Monmouthshire?  

 Does a local community or interest group have much to gain or lose? 

 To what extent can we effect change? Is this a national issue? 

 Would this make a big difference to the way services are delivered? 

 Would this make a big difference to the way resources are used? 

  

Page 7



Determining Topics for Scrutiny 
 

Performance issues 

 Are the Council and other organisations under-performing in this area? 

 Is performance poor compared to others and do we understand why this is the 

case? 

 Are we performing well, but spending too much of our resources in this area? 

 Are there local or national performance targets by which to measure our 

performance?  

Influence of scrutiny 

 Has this service been recently reviewed or inspected? 

 Will this topic be part of an improvement review or external inspection in the next 

two years? 

 If the service is to be reviewed or inspected soon, can a Scrutiny Committee make a 

positive contribution by focussing on specific aspects and making 

recommendations? 

 Are there any current or future major changes forecasted which reduce the value of 

undertaking scrutiny? 

 Are changes to this service planned and can Scrutiny positively influence change? 

 

If scrutiny cannot add value by scrutinising a particular topic based on the above criteria, 

then the Scrutiny Committee should think carefully about whether to include it in their 

work programme. Requests from Members for updates on topics should be referred to a 

‘Member Seminar’. Similarly, requests from officers to brief Members on topics should be 

managed via ‘Member Seminars’. 

 

Page 8



Committee / 

Decision Maker

Meeting date / Decision 

due
Subject Purpose Author

Date item added to 

the planner

Date item originally 

scheduled for 

decision

ICMD 14-Dec -22

Council Tax Base report

Ruth Donovan 31-May-22

Council 01-Oct-23

RLDP for Adoption

Mark Hand 23-Jan-20

Cabinet 07-Jun-23

2022/23 Revenue and Capital Monitoring - Month 12

Jon Davies

Cabinet 05-Apr-23

Welsh Church Fund Working Group - meeting 7 held 

on 9th March 2023
Dave Jarrett

Council 09-Mar-23

Capital Strategy & Treasury Strategy

Jon Davies 17-May-22

Council 09-Mar-23

Final Budget Sign Off including Council Tax 

Resolution

Jon Davies

Cabinet 01-Mar-23

2022/23 Revenue and Capital Monitoring - Month 9

Jon Davies 17-May-22

Cabinet 01-Mar-23

2023/4 Final Revenue and Capital Budget Proposals

Jon Davies 17-May-22

Cabinet 01-Mar-23

2023/4 WCF/Trust Treasury Fund Investments

Dave Jarrett 17-May-22

Monmouthshire County Council is required to publish a forward plan of all key decisions to be taken. Council and Cabinet items will only be considered for decision if they have been included on the planner no later than the month 

preceding the meeting, unless the item is considered urgent.  

Cabinet, Council and Individual Cabinet Member Decisions (ICMD) Forward Plan

P
age 9



Cabinet 01-Feb-23

Welsh Church Fund Working Group - meeting 6 held 

on 19th January 2023

Dave Jarrett 17-May-22

Council 01-Feb-23

LDP submission for examination 

Mark Hand 23-Jan-20

ICMD 25-Jan-23

Community Council and Police Precepts - final

Jon Davies 17-May-22

Council 19-Jan-23

Council Tax Reduction Scheme

Ruth Donovan 31-May-22

Cabinet 18-Jan-23

Draft Revenue & Capital Proposals

Jon Davies

Cabinet 04-Jan-23

Welsh Church Fund Working Group - meeting 5 held 

on 1st December 2022

Dave Jarrett 17-May-22

ICMD 14-Dec-22

2023/4 Community Council & Police Precepts - draft

Jon Davies 17-May-22

Cabinet 07-Dec-22

Welsh Church Fund Working Group - meeting 4 held 

on 27th October 2022

Dave Jarrett 17-May-22

Cabinet 07-Dec-22

2022/23 Revenue and Capital Monitoring report - 

Month 6

Jon Davies 17-May-22

Cabinet 07-Dec-22

MCC Statement of Accounts

Jon Davies 17-May-22

P
age 10



Council 01-Dec-22

RLDP Deposit Plan for submission to WG for 

examination

Approval of Deposit Plan post-consultation for 

submission to WG for independent examination

Mark Hand / Craig O'Connor 30-Jul-21

Cabinet 09-Nov-22 Revenue & Capital MTFP update and process Jon Davies 17-May-22

Cabinet 09-Nov-22

MonLife Heritage Strategy (or ICMD)

Matthew Lewis 10-Feb-22

Council 04-Nov-22 Final Statement of Accounts Peter Davies 7-May-21

Council 27-Oct-22

2021/22 Final Statement of Accounts

Peter Davies/Jon Davies 17-May-22

Council 27-Oct-22

ISA 260 report - MCC accounts

Peter Davies 17-May-22

Cabinet 05-Oct-22

22/23 Revenue and Capital Monitoring report - 

Month 4

Jon Davies 17-May-22

Cabinet 05-Oct-22

Welsh Church Fund working group - meeting 3 held 

on 22nd September 2022

Dave Jarrett 17-May-22

Cabinet 05-Oct-22

Monmouthshire Destination Management Plan 

Matthew Lewis 10-Feb-22

Council 22-Sep-22

Rivers and Ocean

Hazel Clatworthy 9-Jun-22

P
age 11



Council 22-Sep-22
RLDP Preferred Strategy endorsement post 

consultation 

Endorsement of preferred strategy to inform deposit 

plan
Mark Hand /Craig O'Connor 20-May-20

Cabinet 07-Sep-22

Welsh Church Fund Working Group - meeting 2 held 

on 21st July 2022

Dave Jarrett 17-May-22

ICMD 03-Aug-22

Designation of Secondary Catchment Areas 

Matthew Jones 6-Jun-22

Cabinet 27-Jul-22

Shared Prosperity Fund Local Investment Plan and 

Regional Lead Authority Arrangements

Hannah Jones 23-May-22

Cabinet 27-Jul-22

2021/22 Revenue and Capital Monitoring outturn

Peter Davies/Jon Davies 17-Feb-22

Cabinet 27-Jul-22

Welsh Church Fund Working Group - meeting 1 held 

on 23rd June 2022

Dave Jarrett 17-May-22

Cabinet 27-Jul-22

MUCH (Magor & Undy Community Hall) report

Nick Keys 9-Jun-22

Cabinet 27-Jul-22

Play Sufficiency Assessment and Action Plan 22/23 

Matthew Lewis 10-Feb-22

Council 21-Jul-22

Monmouthshire County Council self - assessment 

report 2021/2

Richard Jones 23-May-22

P
age 12



ICMD 13-Jul-22

Non Moving Traffic Regulation Orders (Amendment 

No 4)

Paul Keeble 17-Dec-21

ICMD 13-Jul-22

Appointment of an Education Systems and Digital 

Strategy Officer

Resources required to develop and maintain schools 

education systems and the implementatin of WG Ed 

Tech Programme Sian Hayward 14-Jun-22

Cabinet 29-Jun-22

Welsh Church Fund Working Group - meeting 9 held 

on 10th March 2022

Dave Jarrett

Cabinet 29-Jun-22

Cost of living discretionary scheme

Jude Langdon 13-Jun-22

Council 23-Jun-22 Agreed Syllabus for Religion, Values and Ethics
To approve an Agreed Syllabus for Religion, Values 

and Ethics for Monmouthshire Schools

Sharon Randall-Smith/ Hayley 

Jones (EAS)
14/04/2022

Council 23-Jun-22 21st Century Schools Band B Programme Cath Saunders 8-Feb-22

Cabinet 15-Jun-22
Review of Monmouthshire’s Destination 

Management Plan 2017-2020 
Deferred Matthew Lewis 22-Sep-20

Council 19-May-22 Tudor Rd - Playing Field and Play Area

Petition - to be presented to Council (in view of the 

delay until the petition can be presented - events may 

overtake its relevance so review nearer the time) 

Ian Saunders 3-Oct-22

Council 19-May-22 Constitution Report Matt Phillips

Council 19-May-22 Political Balance Matt Phillips

P
age 13



Council 19-May-22 Appointment to Committees John Pearson / Nicola Perry

Council 19-May-22 Appointment to Outside Bodies John Pearson / Nicola Perry

P
age 14



 

 

 

 

 

 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY AND PURPOSE: 

1.1 Partnership work has been ongoing since 2019 involving the community councils and 

elected representatives for the Wye Valley, the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) 

office and MCC officers to prepare the Wye Valley Villages Future Plan.  This seeks to draw 

together various shared emerging topics such as road safety, placemaking and tourism into 

a joint Plan.  It is intended that the Plan will be adopted by all of these bodies for 

implementation and to shape future decisions.  If adopted, a delivery group will be 

established. 

 

1.2 The purpose of this report is to brief members on the background to the development of the 

Wye Valley Villages Future Plan and to scrutinise the Plan and how the project might 

develop going forwards, prior to it being reported to Cabinet for adoption by MCC. 

 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 

2.1  That Scrutiny Committee notes the work undertaken to date to arrive at the Wye Valley 

Villages Future Plan and endorses the Plan for adoption by Cabinet to be implemented and 

to inform future decision-making (copy attached plus an executive summary – Appendices 

1 and 2 respectively). 

 

 

3.0      KEY ISSUES: 

 

3.1 Over the years there has been representations and lobbying on various matters by the 

various community councils that fall within the Wye Valley Area of Outstanding Natural 

Beauty (AONB) boundary.  In particular, the issue of road safety has been a consistent 

theme common amongst the community councils, albeit other matters have been raised by 

the community councils and residents such as public transport, public rights of way, road 

maintenance and a unified identity to support tourism. 

 

3.2 At an inaugural meeting held in Tintern in October 2019 representatives from the 

community councils, relevant county wards and Wye Valley AONB convened to discuss 

interest in commissioning a joint project that would investigate a range of issues including, 

amongst other things, road safety (copy of agenda attached at Appendix 3). 

 

SUBJECT: Wye Valley Villages Future Plan 

MEETING:  Place Scrutiny Committee 

DATE: 30th June 2022 

DIVISION/WARDS AFFECTED: Trellech United CC, Devauden CC, Wye Valley CC, 

 St Arvans CC 

 

Page 15

Agenda Item 7



3.3 Support was received from all of the community councils and Wye Valley AONB and 

subsequent to further meetings and preparation of a tender document, ARUP consultancy 

secured the contract to prepare the Plan. 

 

3.4 There followed various workshops and meetings (described in the Plan) along with 

consultation exercises before the Plan was presented to the community councils and 

AONB in March of this year. Since then, a report has been presented to the community 

councils prior to elections in May seeking agreement to adopt the Plan. These authorities 

will now be invited to formally adopt the plan. Similarly, following Scrutiny Committee’s 

consideration, MCC will consider if the Plan should be adopted, as will Wye Valley AONB 

Joint committee. 

 

3.5 Assuming the Plan is adopted by all of the member organisations then a delivery group will 

be established from member representatives from the community councils, local county 

councillors., relevant cabinet member(s) plus officers from Wye Valley AONB and MCC. 

MCC would continue to act as the secretariat. The delivery group will have executive 

powers within the context of the actions contained within the adopted plan. Outside of that 

decisions will be referred back to the various councils/bodies for ratification  

 

3.6 The project has been unusual in bringing together four community councils, county council 

and AONB to work and develop plans collectively. Furthermore that the plan works across 

an area and villages rather than a single town. 

 

3.7 Whilst this approach is innovative and brings collective ownership it also brings risks if the 

group fails to gain a consensus on how to proceed on any matter. The delivery group will 

be pivotal in ensuring that any such matters are resolved by agreement and subsequent 

joint common goals and recommendations are submitted to member authorities.  

 

 

 

4.0 EQUALITY AND FUTURE GENERATIONS EVALUATION (INCLUDES SOCIAL 

JUSTICE, SAFEGUARDING AND CORPORATE PARENTING): 

 

4.1 The Future Generation and Equality Impact form is attached at Appendix 4.  

 

5.0 OPTIONS APPRAISAL 

 

5.1 The Wye Valley AONB Villages Future Plan has been based upon options development 

and consultation to arrive at a plan for adoption by the various councils and the AONB. As 

such the exercise has considered various options during its development to arrive at this 

Plan. It would seem regressive to contemplate further options at this stage. However the 

delivery of the actions within the plan will be subject to ongoing evaluation during 

implementation by the delivery group so further options might become appropriate during 

the life of the plan. 

 

6.0 EVALUATION CRITERIA 

 

Page 16



6.1 Measuring the effect of actions within the Plan will be established where feasible. This will 
be established by the delivery group which is responsible for reviewing and delivering 
actions within the Plan. In some instances ‘measurement’ might be more qualitative that 
quantitative e.g. impact of new signage whereas other aspects e.g. changes to public 
transport may be measured by patronage. 
Review and assessment will be the role of the delivery group in the first instance. 
 
 

7.0 REASONS: 

 

7.1 The reasons for developing the plan are touched upon in the Key Issues section above 

and within the report itself. 

 

7.2 Overall it was seen as an opportunity to support a largely rural area and communities by 

inviting the local councils to work together. It is arguable that by working jointly, the project 

has become more meaningful and potentially with greater impact as community councils 

considered in isolation for this type of project may have insufficient impact or resources. 

  

8.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: 

 

8.1 The study has been funded through Wye Valley AONB grant. Community councils have 

raised precept to fund projects including the installation of new village signs (project 

underway) and funding has again been found by Wye Valley AONB to fund the new village 

gateway sign project. 

 

8.2 The plan has various initiatives outlined within it including cost estimates. Prioritising these 

projects will be the responsibility of the delivery group in consultation with the statutory 

responsible bodies.  MCC will resource the delivery group via the regeneration team. 

 

8.3 Similarly funding streams will be highlighted by the delivery group as projects are brought 

forward for implementation. Included within that exercise will be an analysis of funding 

demand and funding options (e.g. direct funding from county and community council 

budgets, grant application etc.) 

 

8 CONSULTEES: 

 

As described within the body of the report, this Plan has been developed in partnership 

with:  

 

Devauden CC 

Trellech Utd CC 

Tintern CC 

St Arvans CC 

Wye Valley AONB 

 

Public consultation took place in 2021. 

 

9 BACKGROUND PAPERS: 

 

Page 17



Wye Valley AONB Villages Plan for the Future - attached 

 

10 AUTHOR: Roger Hoggins, Head of Strategic Projects 

 

11 CONTACT DETAILS: 

 Tel:  01633 644133 

 E-mail: Rogerhoggins@monmouthshire.gov.uk  

 

 APPENDICES 

 

 Appendix 1 Wye Valley Villages Future Plan 

 

Appendix 2 Wye Valley Villages Future Plan executive summary 

 

Appendix 3 Agenda of the inaugural meeting October 2019 

 

Appendix 4 Future Generations and Equality Impact Assessment 

Page 18



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 1

Wye Valley 
AONB Villages 
Plan for the 
future

February 2022

Devauden Community 
Council

St Arvans Community 
Council

Page 19



© Arup 2022. All rights reserved.

Prepared by Arup on behalf of 
Monmouthshire County Council, 
Wye Valley AONB Partnership, 
Tintern Community Council, 
St Arvans Community Council, 
Trellech United Community 
Council and Devauden 
Community Council.

This report takes into account 
the particular instructions and 
requirements of our client. It 
is not intended for and should 
not be relied upon by any third 
party and no responsibility is 
undertaken to any third party.
In preparing this report we are 
relying on information contained 
in reports supplied by the client 
and third parties, as stated 
throughout the document. We 
have relied in particular on the 
accuracy and completeness 
of such reports and accept no 
liability for any error or omission 
in this statement to the extent 
the same results from error or 
omission in the other consultants’ 
reports. 

Please note, proposals on private land 
require further discussions with private 
landowners.

This report is intended to be viewed 
and printed as an A4 double-sided 
document with cover page.

All images © Arup unless otherwise 
stated. 

REVISION DATE DETAILS

2.0 18.02.2022 Final Draft
 

REVISION DETAILS DATE

Prepared By Mana Fana 18.02.2022

Reviewed By Jamie Tucker 18.02.2022

Page 20



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 3

Contents

 Executive Summary

1 Introduction

  1.1  What is the background to this plan?.......................................................................  6

2 Vision

  2.1  A plan for the future...................................................................................................  7

3 Study area

  3.1 Study area.................................................................................................................... 8

4 Six point plan

  4.1 Overview..................................................................................................................... 10

  4.2 Ensure safe and sustainable transport...................................................................  12

  4.3 Conserve & enhance the landscape......................................................................... 20

  4.4 Enable sustainable tourism......................................................................................  24

  4.5 Reinforce the network of unique villages...............................................................   29

  4.6 Support local economy............................................................................................   30

  4.7 Provide joined up governance..................................................................................  32

5 Wye Valley Villages

  5.1 Village plans...............................................................................................................  35

  5.2 Catbrook....................................................................................................................  36

  5.3 Devauden...................................................................................................................  40

  5.4 Llandogo....................................................................................................................  46

  5.5 Llanishen...................................................................................................................  52

  5.6 Penallt........................................................................................................................  56

  5.7 St Arvans....................................................................................................................  62

  5.8 The Narth...................................................................................................................  66

  5.9 Tintern........................................................................................................................  70

  5.10 Trellech.....................................................................................................................  78

  5.11 The Action Plan........................................................................................................  84 

6 Next steps

  6.1 How will the plan evolve and be delivered?..............................................................  98

Appendix 1 Llandogo Illustrative Plan

Appendix 2 Stage 1 Report

Appendix 3 Stage 2 Report

Appendix 4 Public Engagement Summary Report

 

Page 21



4    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for 
the future

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Our communities and natural environment 
face significant and imminent change from the 
climate emergency and post-Covid recovery. 
These are radically changing the way we think 
about our communities and environment. We 
need to change our day-to-day life and leave 
behind many of the accepted approaches we 
have become used to such as our over reliance 
on car use. Remote working, online shopping 
and the internet are radically changing the way 
we live, access services and seek information. 

Against this backdrop of major change, the 
natural beauty, local resources and human 
history of the Wye Valley has attracted residents, 
businesses and visitors for centuries. Each 
of these are intrinsically linked meaning that 
a careful balance is key to success or indeed 
failure. Where an imbalance occurs it becomes 
obvious. Local concerns over river pollution, 
speeding cars through the villages or the impact 
of large numbers of visitors to Tintern during 
peak times demonstrate how this delicate 
balance can shift the wrong way. To compound 
these challenges is the complex geography of 
the area as the convergence of multiple local 
authorities and the Wales-England border. 
Gaining consensus and consistency in policy, 
financing and governance is challenging. 

Despite these challenges the area benefits 
from notable advantages. Beyond the obvious 
quality of the landscape, active and engaged 
community council’s and residents are providing 
energy and ambition. Many independent local 
businesses have become part of the fabric 
each marketing the area to broad audiences 
and providing local jobs. The borderland 
location should become a point of celebration 
rather than a source of inertia. Success will 
mean embracing innovation, fronting up to 
contentious issues such as traffic, developing 

new partnerships, accepting trial and error and 
building on the existing natural assets. It will 
require investment in a way that delivers far 
wider benefits to our health, our environment, 
our local communities and our local economies.

The question for the Wye Valley, its 
communities, businesses and visitors is how 
can this balance be struck and what does it 
look like? 

The “Wye Valley AONB Villages Plan for the 
Future” sets a vision for change through 
short, medium and long-term projects aimed 
primarily at the villages that are located within 
Monmouthshire. At the heart of the study is 
a response to the community’s concern over 
road safety. The plan provides a strategy for 
reducing vehicle speeds and increasing the 
use of sustainable transport such as walking, 
cycling and public transport. Importantly 
road safety is not considered in isolation. In 
recognition of the fact that within the Wye Valley 
tourism, landscape, local economy, governance, 
placemaking and transport all impact one other, 
the plan proposes measures for all of these six 
themes. 

This has led to the creation of a six-point plan 
for change which responds to the six key 
themes identified with an emphasis on delivery. 
Phasing has been a key issue and the plan 
provides clear proposals for immediate changes 
to the villages such as gateway signage through 
to longer term aspirations for sustainable 
transport and tourism.

Page 22



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 5

1 Ensure safe and sustainable transport 
by delivering coordinated changes to the 
streets across the villages to make them 
slower for traffic, more attractive and safer 
for pedestrians and cyclists. To reduce car 
dependency ‘Sustainable transport’ including 
buses, walking and cycling should be improved 
by grouping bus stops, cycle hire and storage, 
tourist attractions and new public spaces at key 
locations such as Tintern as ‘mobility hubs’. Bus 
services should be improved particularly during 
high season for both local people and tourists. 
Extending the Wye Valley Greenway could have 
a catalytic effect on walking, cycling and tourism 
if it were to be extended to the north and should 
be assessed for viability.

2 Conserve and enhance the landscape by 
working with other local authorities, agencies 
and land owners across the length of the River 
Wye to improve the health of the river as part 
of a ‘whole catchment study’. To encourage 
community participation a ‘Green Village’ 
initiative is proposed to deliver small scale 
projects such as community food growing and 
habitat creation. A pilot should be delivered to 
test new farming practices that deliver wider 
benefits to nature such as less pesticide use 
and habitat management.

3 Enable sustainable tourism by updating 
the tourism strategy for the area around a 
business case which will provide a basis for 
measuring impact. The unique border location 
should be celebrated as a place where visitors 
can move between countries with just a few 
steps. A simple and effective brand should be 
developed along the lines of Iceland’s Golden 
Circle or Scotlands North Coast 500. Delivering 
better tourism ‘infrastructure’ such as improved 
signage and wayfinding, bold village gateways 
and more opportunities to meet local people, 
eat local food and experience the authenticity of 
the valley should be considered.

4 Retain and improve the network of unique 
villages by recognising the distinct history and 
character of each of the villages and reflecting 
this in the proposed changes. Tintern for 
example has a much greater need to support 
tourism than a village such as The Narth which 
is much more attuned to local community life. 

5 Support the local economy by working 
to delivering of high speed internet access 
with partners. It is recommended that a ‘local 
circular economy’ approach is adopted to 
support local business and to attract specifc 
Welsh Government funding. This approach 
encourages local producers and supply chains 
to work closely with each other to retain 
money within the area for the people who live 
there rather than export to other areas.  To 
allow people to work locally and attract new 
entrepreneurs new premises that allow ‘co-
working’ or shared office space should be 
delivered. To ensure that local people can 
continue to live in the area, the Wye Valley 
Local Housing Needs Requirements should be 
updated to deliver affordable housing.

6 Provide joined-up governance by 
establishing a delivery group between key 
partners such as the local community council’s, 
Monmouthshire County Council and the Wye 
Valley AONB. Cross border working with 
adjacent Local Authorities such as Forest 
of Dean District Council will be essential in 
sharing ideas and pooling resources. Both 
recommendations will be critical in making the 
plan a reality.

Page 23



6    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

The plan has been put together between 2021 
and 2022 by Arup who have worked closely 
with Monmouthshire County Council, Wye 
Valley AONB Unit and the local community 
councils.

This plan provides a blueprint for change for the 
villages in the Monmouthshire part of the AONB. 
The recommendations are strategic in nature 
and will direct more detailed study or set a clear 
path for the delivery of improvements on the 
ground. The plan outlines a series of proposals 
to improve road safety within the villages but 
casts the net wider to incorporate other key 
considerations such as transport, tourism and 
the local economy.

The project outcome is the result of a 
collaborative approach built around the courage 
and ambition of community leaders to improve 
the places they live in and an eagerness to 
enhance the outstanding character of the area. 
Arup have worked in close partnership with 
Monmouthshire County Council, Wye Valley 
AONB Unit and the four community councils 
(St Arvan’s Community Council, Devauden 
Community Council, Tintern Community Council 
and Trellech United Community Council). A 
community consultation event during August-
September 2021 gave local people and 
businesses the opportunity to shape their plan.

1.1 What is the background to this 
plan?                                                         

This report was preceded by two earlier 
stages of work:

Stage 1 identified the key issues, challenges 
and opportunities by reviewing the current 
situation. This included wide evidence 
based studies, reports, plans and strategies 
around green infrastructure (landscapes 
including habitats, woodlands, fields, parks 
etc), tourism, travel and transport, AONB 
management and regional development 
planning.

Stage 2 provided a draft vision and set of 
initial proposals for change. This formed the 
basis for public consultation. Following the 
consultaiton this has been reviewed and 
used as the basis for this final plan.

1

1 .   I N T R O D U C T I O N 

Page 24



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 7

2 .   V I S I O N

The Wye Valley is a story of people and 
nature that has been shaped by many hands 
over centuries. The immediate challenges of 
climate change, post-Covid recovery, mobility 
and sustainable development require a new 
perspective on the future of this outstanding 
landscape and its settlements. 

A vision is essential in providing a common 
approach and clear direction. The vision for this 
project reflects the character and importance 
of the Area Of Outstanding Natural Beauty, 
the villages and communites nestled within 
and the two gateway towns of Monmouth and 
Chepstow.

2.1 A plan for the future                                                    

The placemaking vision aims to define, 
enhance, and celebrate the uniqueness and 
diversity of the Wye Valley villages and 
their community. It aims to explore and 
unlock their distinct character, building 
on location conditions, history, heritage, 

landscape and the ethnographic narrative of 
the settlement and their people. 

The vision is to ensure that short term 
solutions are set within the context of long 
term needs and challenges. It is considered 
over a 100 year timescale to ensure it will 
endure for generations to come and work 
with a timescale for nature. It is founded 

upon three simple principles:

Conserving and enhancing the communities 
and natural and man-made assets that 

define this unique place for existing and 
future generations. 

A joined-up approach to governance, 
territory and integral drivers of change 

Evolving to respond to changes caused 
by climate change and to capitalise on 

opportunities created by the target of net 
zero carbon.

2
Page 25



8    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

3 .   S T U D Y  A R E A

The scope of this study is limited to the Welsh 
part of the Wye Valley AONB and the 9 main 
settlements that have been identified with MCC:

Catbrook
Devauden
Llandogo
Llanishen
Penallt
St Arvans
The Narth
Tintern
Trellech

The geographic boundary of the study reflects 
the administrative boundary of Monmouthshire 
County Council and Welsh Government. In 
reality the villages of the Wye Valley AONB 
extend east and north into the Forest of Dean 
and Herefordshire. This is important because 
the social and economic function of the area is 
not restricted by the administrative boundaries. 
Any proposed changes discussed in this 
study will potentially impact other settlements. 
For example, a consistent approach to road 
safety would be more effective if managed at 
a broader geographical area (to include places 
such as Redbrook) that is consistent with the 
cross border AONB.

3.1 Study area                                                 

3
Page 26



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 9
Page 27



10    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

4 .   T H E  S I X  P O I N T  P L A N 

4.1 Overview

This section contains the six point plan for 
change in the Wye Valley AONB and its 
communities in Monmouthshire. The plan is 
formed from the six pillars of the vision, as 
contained in section 2 of the Stage 2 report 
(Appendix 1), and outlines the projects and 
initiatives which are recommended to meet 
community needs and wider sustainable 
development goals. Given the strength 
of community support for road safety 
improvements this is afforded priority. The plan 
addresses change over different timescales 
from smaller, localised projects such as speed 
reductions and signage which can be delivered 
early to broader and more complex initiatives 
such as improving the health of the River Wye. 

Ensure safe and sustainable transport

Conserve and enhance the landscape

Enable sustainable tourism

Retain and improve the network of unique villages

Support the local economy

Provide joined-up governance

1

2

3

4

5

6 4
Page 28



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 11

70% 4.8%90%

chance of survival 

when hit at 20mph (at 

30mph this is only 50%). 

Source: World Health 

Organisation.

of all emissions on our 

roads are from private 

vehicles. Source: BEIC

The likelihood of individual 

obesity decreases 4.8% every 

km of walk per day. Source: TfL

1 in 6 41% 12%

species at threat of 

extinction in Wales

Source: State of Nature Report 2019

Percentage of 

species to have 

declined since 1970

Amount of land not used 

for agriculture in Wales

2.28 £245
Million Million

Visitors to 

Monmouthshire in 

2019

Generated for the 

local economy in 

2019

3rd

4

£350k
Monmouthshire has 

the third highest 

GVA in Wales

Local authorities whose 

administrative boundaries 

cover the Wye Valley AONB

Average house price in 

the Wye Valley vs the 

Welsh average of £213k

Source: Visit Monmouthshire

Source: Rightmove

Page 29



12    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

4.2 Ensure safe and sustainable 
transport

There are a number of measures to be explored 
further to reduce both perceived and actual 
road safety concerns. Some of these measures 
have been reflected in the diagrammatic plans 
for each village in section 5.1 “Village Plans” and 
further recommendations are included below:

 ▪ It is recommended that a detailed design for 
each of the villages is developed, where a 
common approach is undertaken to provide 
a ‘kit of parts’ applicable to any village. This 
consistent design approach will be based 
on shared objectives amongst stakeholders. 
Pilot projects, equivalent to RIBA Stage 
5, can be identified to provide early trials 
and demonstrations of the ideas. An initial 
example of this has been provided for 
Llandogo within the Appendix of this report.

 ▪ It is also recommended that a road speed 
strategy is developed for the study area. We 
recommend this includes a 20mph speed 
limit for all streets within the villages. Speed 
reduction features will be required to enforce 
the proposed reductions in speed limit. 

INTRODUCTION

The two key priorities for the Transport element 
of the strategy are as follows:

 ▪ Improving actual and perceived road 
safety within the villages with the help of 
coordinated village street design.

 ▪ Enhancing sustainable transport provision for 
both residents and tourists.

The priorities identified above align with the 
views expressed by stakeholders alongside the 
key themes that underpin local and national 
planning policy. Both priorities complement 
each other as improving road safety is likely 
to encourage more journeys to be made by 
sustainable modes of transport, particularly 
active travel. Similarly, encouraging more trips 
to be made by sustainable modes of travel will 
reduce vehicle movements on the transport 
network, thus improving road safety.

COORDINATED VILLAGE STREET DESIGN

The most significant observation is the lack of 
distinction that is made to the road (and not 
street) design when entering or leaving each 
village. This lack of transition reinforces the 
sense of continuity for drivers and therefore 
any sense that you are entering a ‘place’ 
where people live or visit is lost. The result is 
an inevitable conflict between road users and 
people where drivers are given priority.

KEY RECOMMENDATIONS

Coordinated village street design

Sustainable transport strategy

Active travel and recreational access

1

Page 30



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 13

1 .  I N C L U S I V E  A C T I V E  T R A V E L :  2 0 1 9  A R U P 
R E P O R T  A N D  M I X E D  A B I L I T Y  C Y C L I N G

The potential to engage others 
is huge: 55% of people from 
ethnic minority groups, 38% of 
people at risk of deprivation, 
36% of women and 31% of 
disabled people who do not 
cycle would like to start.1

SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT STRATEGY

There are opportunities to enable both residents 
and tourists to make more journeys to, from and 
within the Wye Valley by sustainable modes of 
transport. These include:

 ▪ Improvements to the existing bus service 
provision, including increased service 
frequencies and better connectivity with 
more strategic bus and rail services;

 ▪ Enhancing the pedestrian and cycle network, 
particularly focusing on the potential 
extension of the Wye Valley Greenway as 
touristic active travel and an opportunity for 
habitat creation. This could form the basis 
of a future Levelling Up Fund bid. Enhanced 
pedestrian and cycle networks could also be 
delivered through the potential introduction of 
Quiet Lanes; and

 ▪ Mobility hubs that become a ‘new place’ 
with a clear and distinct sense of arrival and 
departure for multiple modes of transport 
with services and facilities to support visitors 
and tourists alike. Potentially located both in 
the north and south of the Wye Valley, these 
hubs would enable tourists travelling by car to 
transfer to another mode. The mobility hubs 
would include access to hire vehicles such 
as cycles, e-bikes and potentially electric 
vehicles. There is also a future opportunity 
for e-scooters to be made available. Further 
investigation is required to identify potential 
locations for such hubs; however, Chepstow 
Racecourse is suggested as a potential site 
to be explored further.

ACTIVE TRAVEL AND RECREATIONAL ACCESS

The Wye Valley contains numerous walking and 
cycling routes which form a complex network 
of active travel, recreational and touristic routes. 
For expediency, this section notes the regionally 
significant Offa’s Dyke Path National Trail and 
Wye Valley Walk footpath and the emerging 
Wye Valley Greenway. These are the primary 
north-south routes which at varying points 
connect the river villages. Both Offa’s Dyke 
Path and Wye Valley Walk are part of longer 

walking routes linking the Wales Coast Path. 
As previously noted, this offers potential for 
the area to celebrate the beginning and end of 
these long distance routes.

Inclusive active travel where the needs 
of all people are understood and catered 
for is becoming an increasingly important 
consideration. This includes groups with 
typically lower levels of uptake including the 
elderly, BAME groups, women and people with 
disabilities. There is a significant opportunity 
for the Wye Valley to pioneer an approach 
to inclusive active travel by offering safe and 
adapted routes and means, as well as targeted 
marketing and branding.

Page 31



14    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

2 .  T H E  L AY E R S  O F  P R O P O S E D  R O A D  S A F E T Y 
A N D  S U S TA I N A B L E  T R A N S P O R T  A S  T H E Y 
R E L AT E  T O  V I L L A G E S

Sustainable transport strategy
Left: Bee-friendly bus stop, Utrecht
Right: Greener Grangetown, Cardiff

Coordinated village street design
Left: Blaenavon Ironworks, Blaenavon

Right: Pedestrian priority spaces 

The Arup publication Future Mobility Hubs

©Barbra Verbij

MOVEMENT STRATEGY

To make a truly meaningful impact on transport 
in the area, several strategies will need to be 
aligned. The diagram illustrates how these are 
layered from changing the street design of the 
villages, the connecting public transport and 
new mobility hubs to ‘get people out of their 
cars’ and experience the Wye Valley on foot or 
bike.

©Bright

Page 32



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 15
Page 33



16    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

The Arup publication Future Mobility Hubs 
illustrates how these facilities can be delivered 
at three different scales namely rural, semi 
urban and urban. To help understanding what 
this may mean for the Wye Valley, the following 
pages contain extracts from the report to 
show how a rural mobility hub could look and 
function. 

Page 34



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 17
Page 35



18    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

Page 36



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 19
Page 37



20    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

4.3 Conserve & enhance the landscape 

A HEALTH PLAN FOR THE RIVER WYE

The current level of river pollution and 
subsequent impact on ecology was cited as an 
issue during the public consultation and indeed 
poor river health across the UK is of growing 
concern. The reasons for increased pollutant 
levels are complex but contributors could 
include; 

 ▪ Fertiliser and pesticide usage associated with 
the intensification of agriculture

 ▪ Water run-off from our road network

 ▪ Waste water and contaminants from homes

The section of the River Wye explored in this 
study is located at the lower reaches of the 
wider river catchment area. To fully mitigate 
and improve the health of the River Wye a 
strong vision and plan is needed that covers 
the entirety of the river catchment area. This will 
need to include multiple local authorities, land 
owners, stakeholders across the English-Welsh 
border. This is a significant undertaking but 
without this approach the lower reaches of the 
River Wye will continue to be affected by issues 
that are beyond the control of Monmouthshire 
County Council, the Wye Valley AONB 
Partnership and NRW.

INTRODUCTION

Green and blue infrastructure refers to the 
landscapes (habitats, woodlands, fields, parks 
etc) and water systems (rivers, tributaries, 
streams etc). The recommendations offered 
around green and blue infrastructure are 
cognisant of the vast body of work contained 
by and managed by the AONB Partnership 
and the recently published Wye Valley Area 
of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) 
Management Plan 2021-2026. In response, the 
recommendations of this study are not based 
around large-scale change to the landscape 
and water system of the AONB. Instead, the 
focus of this study is on recommendations 
which can be aligned with community-based 
projects, council led initiatives or the result of 
collaboration.  

Interventions should support wider ecological 
connectivity through the enhancement and 
conservation of trees, hedgerows, verges, 
riparian habitat and lowland meadows for 
example. A local action group (Monmouthshire 
Meadows) is active within the area and have 
successfully delivered Trellech Wet Meadows 
Local Wildlife Site with Gwent Wildlife Trust. The 
potential to create additional schemes should 
be explored.

KEY RECOMMENDATIONS

A health plan for the River Wye

The ‘Green’ Villages initiative

Pilots for sustainable farming

Carbon footprint analysis

2

Page 38



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 21

In addition, community led initiatives which align 
with and support the overarching aims of the 
AONB can play an important role in placemaking 
and raising awareness amongst the community. 
Micro habitat creation such as the so-called Tiny-
forests initiative or local food production schemes 
such as Incredible Edible can prove an invaluable 
source of positive change and help further shape 
the character of the villages.
So-called ‘Citizen Science’ where the local 
community contribute to wider research can be a 
fantastic way of encouraging participation whilst 
delivering meaningful research. 

PILOTS FOR SUSTAINABLE FARMING

There is an opportunity to engage the agricultural 
community in order to deliver shared benefits 
for the AONB, local communities, local ecology 
and to mitigate climate change. Regenerative 
agriculture can be defined as farming practices 
which actively seek to conserve and enhance 
biodiversity, improve soil health and support the 
local economy. 

During the study we have discussed the 
opportunity for MCC to utilise publicly owned land 
holdings for a pilot project to explore the benefits, 
challenges and opportunities for regenerative 
agriculture. We recommend this is explored 
further. 

CARBON FOOTPRINT ANALYSIS

In 2019 Monmouthshire County Council declared 
a climate emergency committing to reduce its own 
carbon emissions to net zero by 2030. In achieving 
this target it is likely that Monmouthshire County 
Council will need to understand the contribution 
green and blue infrastructure can make both within 
the county and more specifically the study area 
of this report. Starting in January 2022 a carbon 
footprint analysis for the whole Wye Valley AONB 
will be undertaken. This will provide an invaluable 
resource which should be utilised to influence 
decision making and the prioritisation of projects.

Despite this there are actions that can be 
taken at the local level that can help create 
the conditions for change and demonstrate a 
‘better way’. These can include;

 ▪ Localised Sustainable Urban Drainage 
Systems (SuDS) to filter harmful 
contaminants before they find their way 
into the river system. Such systems use 
planting and landscaped features such as 
channels and ponds to store, filter and slowly 
release rainwater into streams, rivers and 
watercourses.

 ▪ A proactive campaign to raise awareness 
around household waste water and to 
encourage more environmentally friendly 
cleaning products.

 ▪ Encourage local action through community 
awareness initiatives. Encourage participation 
in citizen science, including the Wye 
Catchment Monitoring Project.

 ▪ Regenerative agriculture pilots that 
demonstrate how you can reduce or remove 
pesticides and manage the landscape to 
reduce surface run-off

In this way, the Wye Valley Villages can lead the 
cause for change for the wider River Wye. 

THE ‘GREEN’ VILLAGES INITIATIVE

At a village level, it is recommended that any 
improvements to localised streets and public 
spaces are taken forward with nature-based 
solutions to water management such as SUDs. 
This can deliver multiple benefits including the 
creation of low maintenance filtration systems, 
reducing flooding, new habitat and recreation 
value. These are now required by Welsh 
Government for new road and public realm 
schemes.

Page 39



22    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

©Aaron Volkening

3 .  T H E  L AY E R S  O F  L A N D S C A P E  A S  T H E Y 
R E L AT E  T O  T H E  V I L L A G E S

A Health Plan for the River Wye
Left: Regenerative river edge, Selwyn River catchment, Canterbury
Right: Using planting and landscape to manage water, Wisconsin

Pilots for sustainable farming
Left: Lowland meadows
Right: FitzPark, London

©Tjw71

The ‘Green’ Villages initiative
Left: Incredible Edible (https://www.incredibleedible.org.uk/)

Right: FitzPark, London

LANDSCAPE STRATEGY

The landscape recommendations are formed 
around three layers each of which complement 
the extensive and successful work of the 
AONB and are intrinsically linked. The first 
layer of ‘green’ includes the mosaic of habitats 
throughout and valley, the ‘blue’ captures the 
water system including the River Wye and 
the final layer recognises the importance of 
improvement and action within the villages and 
communities as part of a ‘whole’ approach.

Page 40



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 23
Page 41



24    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

part of project governance which could include 
communities, local business and public sector 
agencies.
3. Balancing tourism benefit and effect
Increasing tourism (or potentially decreasing 
in certain areas) poses significant questions. 
There needs to be an agreement on optimum 
level of positive benefits from tourism and 
potential effect for individual communities 
and component organisations. A clear 
understanding of what successful sustainable 
tourism looks like will need to be agreed.

4. The condition of the tourism economy
Before proceeding with a new strategy it is 
essential to understand the current condition 
of the existing tourism economy to establish 
whether it is ‘fragile’ or more robust. The 
second consideration will be to define what 
scale the ‘tourism engine’ should be to be more 
resilient.

The views, recommendations and ideas 
contained within this section have been 
discussed with key stakeholders and are 
focussed on the next steps and a possible 
way forward. To develop an effective, future 
action plan for the tourism aspects of “Wye 
Valley Villages Plan for the Future”, there is a 
need to step-back and look at opportunities 
and challenges with a slightly broader and 
more strategic view and to consult with local 
communities, residents and businesses 
regarding acceptable levels of tourism at 
different times of the year. Sustainable tourism 
has benefits in terms of growing tourism for the 
good of the area’s people, environment and 
communities.

Four key considerations have been identified as 
integral to a future tourism strategy. These are:

1. Geographic Boundaries 
The geopolitical context of the Wye Valley is 
evidently complex being located across multiple 
administrative boundaries and straddling both 
England and Wales. The geographic boundary 
of future work and management will need to be 
agreed. This could be focused on the villages 
within this report, the entire AONB or a broader 
area yet undefined.

2. Leadership and delivery
There will need to agreement on who will lead 
on the planning and delivery of a solution 
as destination marketing and destination 
management cannot be delivered in separate 
silos. Further agreement is need on who forms 

4.4  Enable sustainable tourism 

3
KEY RECOMMENDATIONS

Formulate a new tourism strategy

Page 42



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 25

APPROACH TO FORMULATING A NEW 

TOURISM STRATEGY

The following recommendations outline a series 
of steps to develop and deliver a new strategy:

 ▪ The swift delivery of an updated strategy and 
action plan (with measurable outcomes) for 
sustainable tourism with hard metrics and 
a defined business case at its heart, that 
can be measured and monitored so that as 
the strategy gets implemented, the degree 
of its success can be measured, and its 
implementation guided and shaped. 

 ▪ A new strategy should build on, and update, 
the Wye Valley AONB Sustainable Tourism 
Strategy 2011-2016. Although this report did 
not contain detailed metrics and economics, 
it did provide a clear and comprehensive 
picture of what sustainable tourism could 
look like. A review of this plan is needed 
to determine which elements worked and 
those which did not. It will be essential to 
understand what has changed and what new 
opportunities and challenges have emerged. 

 ▪ The new strategy should be based on hard 
data – linking into the ongoing research 
and data collection already being done for 
example by MCC / Visit Wales

 ▪ A new strategy should also be cognisant 
of, and align with the Monmouthshire 
Destination Plan. 

 ▪ Business cases should be quantified with 
either ‘hard’, economic outcomes or social 
value generation. For example, the number of 
new full and part time jobs created, the value 
this brings to the local economy and relative 
uplift against the existing situation.

 ▪ Any new strategy should be realistic and 
pragmatic – but should not be afraid to 
be ambitious and aspirational.  Without an 
ambitious plan, that can deliver sustainable 
economic and social benefits, why should 
stakeholders and investors want to back it 
and provide the resources needed? This 
represents evolution as opposed to revolution 
but will require a significant and positive step-
change, built-in.

 ▪ A new strategy should be divided into what is 
termed ‘hardware and software’.

Software – The behaviours, methodologies, and 
means used to market, manage and curate the 
visitor experience and the destination (in general 
terms- the destination management plan and 
the destination marketing plan) 

Hardware - The physical and bricks & mortar 
facilities, amenities and infrastructure that 
support the delivery of the visitor experience.

Page 43



26    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

 ▪ More to see than just a day trip! Don’t just 
pass-through, stay overnight. There is great 
potential for after dark experiences such as 
dark skies, bat watching and son et lumière.  

 ▪ Avoid the queues! The Valley is just as 
incredible out of season and off-peak. 
The Valley’s scenery changes with the 
seasons and is maybe even more beautiful 
& compelling and the welcome maybe even 
warmer, when we are not at our busiest. For 
example, autumn is a wonderful time for leaf 
peeping in the Wye Valley. Leaf peeping is 
an activity where people travel to admire the 
changing season as the foliage turns from 
summer greens to the vibrant colours of 
autumn. 

The Borderlands Theme and Identity - The 
English and Welsh border represents an exciting 
melting pot, of differing histories, languages, 
ethnographies, and cultures. As long as 
boundaries separate places in political, socio-
cultural, and economic terms, borderlands 
will continue to be a unique venue for tourist 

SOFTWARE OPPORTUNITIES

Brand - The development and application 
of a more clearly defined place brand, in 
terms of common, shared values; strategic 
messages and visual identity. The current lack 
of singularity, clarity, and consistency of place 
brand within the wider Valley, dilutes and fails 
to enhance a unique and compelling sense of 
place.

Messages that can be developed, unified, and 
amplified across all channels & platforms such 
as websites, social media, printed form and 
signage. These messages can be focused 
on encouraging the tourism behaviours that 
we want to promote. They might (for example) 
include:

 ▪ Ditch the Car! The Wye Valley is an 
immersive, multi-sensory experience that 
you can only enjoy when you get out of the 
car. Any visit to the Valley needs to include 
parking-up and getting out and into the 
landscape whether it be by walking, cycling, 
or canoeing etc.

©Peter Moore

Page 44



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 27

4 .  B E L O W :  N O R T H  C O A S T  5 0 0 ,  S C O T L A N D

5 .  R I G H T:  G O L D E N  C I R C L E ,  I C E L A N D ©httpwww.cpgrey.com

SUCCESSFUL PLACE BRANDING

(www.visiticeland.com/article/the-golden-circle/)
(www.northcoast500.com)

Page 45



28    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

operators in appropriate locations. 

 ▪ Supporting amenities – for example 
more serviced and or semi-serviced, 
accommodation and food and beverage 
opportunities. Celebrating the food 
provenance of the area, and offering 
the chance to really ‘meet local people’, 
as tourists are looking increasingly for 
authenticity in their experiences.

 ▪ Local Tourism Hubs – pockets of more 
dedicated tourist activity located strategically 
with parking, amenities and access to the 
landscape or recreation especially along the 
river Valley. This would mean actively curating 
this need in appropriate locations with the 
supporting amenities especially in potentially 
underused areas like NRW woodlands with 
cycle trails etc nearby.

 ▪ Main Tourism Hubs There may be scope 
for developing larger and more integrated 
tourism hubs. These could accommodate 
and integrate new attractions and amenities 
and be co-located with the inter modal 
interchanges discussed in section 4.2. These 
could be compact versions possibly, of the 
proposed PEAK - Peak District National Park 
resort campus near Chesterfield located at 
the prime gateways to the Valley such as 
Chepstow racecourse.

HARDWARE OPPORTUNITIES 

Hardware opportunities that the Wye Valley 
stakeholders can champion, lead, or partner on 
might include:

 ▪ Signage and Wayfinding - applying a 
reinvigorated and renewed place brand and 
visual identity, swiftly via new signage and 
wayfinding within the agreed geographic 
boundary.  This could be a quick win and 
early deliverable demonstrating positive 
change for the local communities and visitors 
alike.

 ▪ Gateways – bold, physical forms on highways 
and footpaths, that signify arrival into or 
departure from this special and magical 
place. This could enhance and reaffirm the 
sense of place and create a positive sense 
of arrival which is currently missing. This 
represents another quick win and early 
deliverable.

 ▪ Visitor Attractions – especially those 
that celebrate and promote rural life and 
sustainable living, as tourists have become 
increasingly aware of environmental impact.  
If attraction opportunities are left to market 
forces, and the mix only curated passively, 
this risks a race to bottom – bringing the 
wrong sort of visitor for the wrong sort 
of occasion.  Attraction operators with 
adequate finances are scarce across the UK 
and Europe. That is why partnerships, soft 
equity (capital grant support) and joined-
up thinking will be required, to proactively 
plan, deliver and sustain a broader range of 
complementary attractions and attraction 

Page 46



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 29

Using the same six point plan as for the 
overarching vision, common strategies and 
principles for placemaking can be defined, such 
as interventions that improve:

 ▪ travel and movement (road safety, active 
travel routes), 

 ▪ tourism (signage and wayfinding, amenities 
and services), 

 ▪ landscape (SUDs, biodiversity, trees and 
vegetation) and 

 ▪ local economy (co-working hubs, local supply 
chains, digital economy and businesses)

To emphasise this uniqueness, the villages are 
a tapestry of settlements, moving away from 
the basic distinction between the villages in 
the valley and the ones high on the plateau 
between Wye Valley and Vale of Usk. This 
network of villages allows for unique identities 
to flourish and be reinforced, together with 
Monmouth and Chepstow as gateway towns. 
Of these, nine are explored within this study. 
Redbrook although part of the structure of 
villages and acknowledged here falls outside of 
Monmouthshire and therefore this study.

4.5 Reinforce the network of unique 
villages

4
KEY RECOMMENDATIONS

Celebrate the uniqueness of the villages

Coordinated approach to village 
improvements including village street 
design

Continued partnership working between 
community councils

Page 47



30    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

AFFORDABLE HOUSING STRATEGY

The Wye Valley is a desirable and expensive 
place to live but is unaffordable for many people 
employed locally and younger people. The high 
cost of housing may also be discouraging new 
and existing local businesses. Specific actions 
could be:

 ▪ Encourage construction of new houses and 
address the need for affordable and varied 
housing stock.

 ▪ Increase availability of housing sites to 
provide differing residential products and to 
enable higher rates of jobs per dwelling.

 ▪ Address the wider geographic differences 
in employment and housing markets in the 
region.

To address this issue it is important to to 
revise the Wye Valley Local Housing Needs 
Requirements specifically for the villages and to 
implement the Rural Allocations Policy. 

REMOTE WORKING HUB PILOT

One way to raise the profile of the region as a 
dynamic place to do business is to work with 
Welsh Government and private operators to 
deliver a pilot remote working hub in one of 
the villages. This would provide office type 
accommodation on a flexible basis, access 
to IT, fast internet and attractive meeting and 
socialising spaces. This could benefit local 
communities and businesses in order to 
increase social capital, create skills networks 
and drive initiatives forward.

While Monmouthshire has the highest rate of 
active businesses and business births as well 
as the third highest Gross Value Added or 
GVA in Wales (this is a measure of the value 
of goods and services produced in an area), 
career opportunities and availability and quality 
of employment sites are limited, and the tourism 
industry is seasonal.

An older population is attracted to the region’s 
high quality of life but are often in need of 
specific services such as health and social 
care and a younger population is in need of 
employment opportunities and incentives to 
drive initiatives forward locally. 
Five drivers of change may support 
improvements and transformation of the local 
economy:

 ▪ Affordable housing strategy

 ▪ Remote working hub pilot

 ▪ Targeted circular economy fund for local 
producers and land managers

 ▪ Halls Together Project

 ▪ Improving digital connectivity

4.6  Support the local economy 

KEY RECOMMENDATIONS

Affordable housing strategy

Remote working hub pilot

Targeted circular economy fund

5 Halls Together Project

Improving digital connectivity

Page 48



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 31

TARGETED CIRCULAR ECONOMY FUND

Exploring current circular economy funds 
can identify localised opportunities for local 
producers and land managers. There is an 
opportunity for increasing entrepreneurship 
(such as the Wye Valley Producers collective), 
capacity of businesses, earnings and retaining 
of economically active people within the 
production sector around the principle of a local 
circular economy.

HALLS TOGETHER PROJECT

This is a community project being guided by a 
steering group of representatives from village 
halls and community councils. The aim is to 
encourage and facilitate Community Facilities 
to work together to share best practice and 
benefit from joint ventures such as training, 
bulk purchasing, compliance and funding. 
Areas of focus have been identified through a 
questionnaire to hall community facilities.

IMPROVING DIGITAL CONNECTIVITY

Good quality digital infrastructure and 
connectivity is central in facilitating digital 
businesses, education, social inclusion, and 
inward investment in the region. The hills 
and valleys of the Wye Valley make it difficult 
to deploy traditional approaches to digital 
infrastructure such as laying cables. Specific 
actions could be:

 ▪ Provide better broadband infrastructure 
such as Next Generation Access or 
wireless broadband coverage to reduce out 
commuting.

 ▪ An application by MCC/RDP to the Welsh 
Government Local Broadband Fund 2022/23 
following the completion of the Welsh 
Government Open Market Review. This will 
focus on technologies that take into account 
the topography of the valley. 

 ▪ Continue to work with Monmouthshire 
Broadband/Broadband partners to deliver 
their current plan for ‘Fibre to the Premises’ 
internet in Tintern and Trellech 6 .  G L O V E  F A C T O R Y  S T U D I O S , 

B R A D F O R D - O N - A V O N

Page 49



32    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

4.7  Provide joined-up governance 

CROSS BORDER WORKING

Many of the challenges and opportunities in the 
Wye Valley are not bound by geographical or 
administrative boundaries and the “increasingly 
complex and widespread environmental, social 
and political challenges transcend traditional 
management boundaries” as the AONB 
management plan states. The opportunity is to 
create cross border partnerships with national 
entities, whose strategies and plans aim to 
achieve similar objectives and jointly coordinate, 
plan, deliver and fund future projects.
Clear and strong governance and removing 
traditional boundaries between the public 
and private sector could further enhance 
collaboration and integration between the 
existing plans and projects and offer support to 
new or grassroots initiatives.

ESTABLISH A DELIVERY GROUP

Leadership, ownership and identity will be 
decisive when it comes to delivering the vision 
for the “Wye Valley Villages AONB Plan for the 
Future”. The action and delivery plan that will 
support the Plan for the Future will need strong, 
constant and proactive management and 
guidance. That will ensure successful and viable 
funding and delivery of a programme of projects 
that will be defined for each of the six points of 
the plan.

An integrated approach is essential to resolve 
issues and realise opportunities. The Wye 
Valley AONB Joint Advisory Committee (JAC) 
is currently the main cross-border body, 
consisting of local authorities, government 
agencies and interested public, private and 
voluntary sector organisations, that oversees 
the AONB Management Plan and the AONB 
Unit, and advises partners on issues, initiatives 
and strategies relating to the AONB.

KEY RECOMMENDATIONS

Establish a delivery group

Cross border working

6

Page 50



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 33
Page 51



34    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

Page 52



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 35

5 .   W Y E  V A L L E Y  V I L L A G E S

5.1 Village Plans

5

These plans illustrate the ideas developed 
during the course of the project. In some 
instances they fall within privately owned land 
or will require more design, feasibility and 
investigation. In such instances this will require 
a longer time frame to assess viability and will 
require more in depth conversations to build 
consensus.

Suggestions are offered for particular uses 
within certain village halls. These should not 
be considered as the only potential uses and 
alternative ideas are recommended as the plans 
develop.

The following pages contain diagrammatic 
plans explaining how these proposed 
interventions could be implemented in each 
village and includes an individual action plan 
for each village setting out the projects and 
key information around timescale, the partners 
needed to delivery and the level of priority. 

Page 53



36    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

1

2

Memorial 
Hall

Distillery

Existing paths

Existing paths

The village is a community rather than a focal 
point for tourism. As with the Narth the quiet, 
secluded character of the village is a defining 
feature. Accordingly, proposed change is 
limited. Subtle interventions could help garner 
greater community cohesion, increase the 
sense of place and cater for low impact tourism 
in the form of walkers/hikers. 

Village gateway with 20mph speed 
limit and unique gateway sign

1

Traffic calming street design such as 
raised crossings, material changes, 
pedestrian priority spaces and 
landscape planting as part of nature 
based solutions to managing rain 
water

2

5.2 Catbrook

Page 54



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 37

Memorial 
Hall

Distillery

Existing paths

Existing paths

1

2

1

1

2

Page 55



38    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

5.2 Catbrook Action Plan
NO. INITIATIVE DETAIL TYPE PRIORITY DELIVERY 

MECHANISM

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING 

SOURCE

BUDGET 

AVAILABILITY 

 POSSIBLE 

BUDGET

CONTRIBUTOR / 

COLLABORATOR

Opportunity -Encourage lower vehicle speeds. Overall recommendations here are limited to road safety in response
 to feedback from the public consultation

5.2.1 Road 
Safety and 
placemaking

Creation of village gateway signage Development project/pilot High - Quick Win MCC MCC/Community 
council

MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation.  
Potential 
project 
funding via 
WG Active 
Travel Funding 
& Local 
Transport 
Fund, 
Sustainable 
Landscapes 
Sustainable 
Places 
funding.

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

£10-15k subject 
to detail design 
(please note 
this could vary 
significantly 
depending 
on the type of 
signage).

MCC, AONB, 
Community Councils, 

5.2.2 Road Safety 20mph speed limit through village (2023 
based on current proposals from WG).

Development project/pilot High - Quick Win MCC MCC/WG MCC 
Operational 
Budget - via 
WG 20mph 
plans

Exists within 
current budget

tbc MCC, Community 
Councils, AONB, WG

Page 56



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 39

5.2 Catbrook Action Plan
NO. INITIATIVE DETAIL TYPE PRIORITY DELIVERY 

MECHANISM

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING 

SOURCE

BUDGET 

AVAILABILITY 

 POSSIBLE 

BUDGET

CONTRIBUTOR / 

COLLABORATOR

Opportunity -Encourage lower vehicle speeds. Overall recommendations here are limited to road safety in response
 to feedback from the public consultation

5.2.1 Road 
Safety and 
placemaking

Creation of village gateway signage Development project/pilot High - Quick Win MCC MCC/Community 
council

MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation.  
Potential 
project 
funding via 
WG Active 
Travel Funding 
& Local 
Transport 
Fund, 
Sustainable 
Landscapes 
Sustainable 
Places 
funding.

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

£10-15k subject 
to detail design 
(please note 
this could vary 
significantly 
depending 
on the type of 
signage).

MCC, AONB, 
Community Councils, 

5.2.2 Road Safety 20mph speed limit through village (2023 
based on current proposals from WG).

Development project/pilot High - Quick Win MCC MCC/WG MCC 
Operational 
Budget - via 
WG 20mph 
plans

Exists within 
current budget

tbc MCC, Community 
Councils, AONB, WG

Page 57



40    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

Similar road safety measures  
proposed at Itton Village. 
Proposals to be captured and 
identified at a later stage.

Veddw House Garden

St James Devauden

By contrast to the destination villages such as 
Tintern, the character of Devauden reflects its 
function as a community and less as a tourism 
destination. During the engagement process 
concern was raised over the volume and speed 
of vehicle movement. The active community 
hall and community council can play a key role 
in delivering change on the ground. The initial 
proposals are: 

Village gateway with 20mph speed 
limit and unique gateway sign

Community agriculture scheme such 
as Incredible Edible (Usk). Location to 
be determined.

Traffic calming street design such as 
raised crossings, material changes, 
pedestrian priority spaces and 
landscape planting as part of nature 
based solutions to managing rain 
water.

Village green enhancements - 
The main feature of note is the village 
green which contains the interpretative 
feature for John Wesley . Given 
the importance of the Wesleyan 
movement and its global reach, there 
is an opportunity to enhance this 
space to support multiple purposes 
for the community and visitors. Small 
habitat creation such as species rich 
grassland or wildflower planting will 
bring ecological benefits and enhance 
the environment. Another opportunity 
is to relocate some bus stops to the 
village green area.

Memorial Hall - a gathering place 
for the community with added 
facilities such as cycle parking, EV 
charging, wayfinding and wifi. It is 
also worth exploring other ideas such 
as temporary village pub and small 
habitat creation around the hall.

Safe cycle paths for people of all 
abilities with bike facilities at Memorial 
Hall.

1

2

3

4

5

6

5.3 Devauden

Page 58



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 41

Similar road safety measures  
proposed at Itton Village. 
Proposals to be captured and 
identified at a later stage.

Veddw House Garden

St James Devauden

1

1

2

1

4

5

3

6

Page 59



42    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

5.3 Devauden Action Plan
NO. INITIATIVE DETAIL TYPE PRIORITY DELIVERY 

MECHANISM

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING 

SOURCE

BUDGET 

AVAILABILITY 

 POSSIBLE 

BUDGET

CONTRIBUTOR / 

COLLABORATOR

Opportunity -Encourage lower vehicle speeds. 
Opportunity -Community agriculture

5.3.1 Road Safety and 
placemaking

Creation of village gateway signage Development 
project/pilot

High - Quick Win MCC MCC/Community 
council

MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation.  
Potential 
project funding 
via WG Active 
Travel Funding 
& Local 
Transport 
Fund, 
Sustainable 
Landscapes 
Sustainable 
Places 
funding.

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

£10-15k subject 
to detail design 
(please note 
this could vary 
significantly 
depending 
on the type of 
signage).

MCC, AONB, 
Community 
Councils, 

5.3.2 Road Safety 20mph speed limit through village Development 
project/pilot

High - Quick Win MCC MCC/WG Welsh 
Government 
Local 
Transport 
Fund

Identified within 
forthcoming 
budget

tbc MCC,WG, 
Community Councils

5.3.3 Street Design Detail design changes to the street to 
encourage lower speeds such as raised 
crossings, material changes, pedestrian 
priority spaces and landscape planting 
as part of nature based solutions to 
managing rain water. To be defined via 
the recommended coordinated village 
street design.

Development 
project/pilot

High MCC MCC/Community 
Council

MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation.  
Potential 
project funding 
via WG Active 
Travel Funding 
& Local 
Transport 
Fund (2021-22 
Round)

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc - dependent 
on scale and 
specification of 
improvement.

MCC, WG, 
Community Councils

Page 60



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 43

5.3 Devauden Action Plan
NO. INITIATIVE DETAIL TYPE PRIORITY DELIVERY 

MECHANISM

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING 

SOURCE

BUDGET 

AVAILABILITY 

 POSSIBLE 

BUDGET

CONTRIBUTOR / 

COLLABORATOR

Opportunity -Encourage lower vehicle speeds. 
Opportunity -Community agriculture

5.3.1 Road Safety and 
placemaking

Creation of village gateway signage Development 
project/pilot

High - Quick Win MCC MCC/Community 
council

MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation.  
Potential 
project funding 
via WG Active 
Travel Funding 
& Local 
Transport 
Fund, 
Sustainable 
Landscapes 
Sustainable 
Places 
funding.

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

£10-15k subject 
to detail design 
(please note 
this could vary 
significantly 
depending 
on the type of 
signage).

MCC, AONB, 
Community 
Councils, 

5.3.2 Road Safety 20mph speed limit through village Development 
project/pilot

High - Quick Win MCC MCC/WG Welsh 
Government 
Local 
Transport 
Fund

Identified within 
forthcoming 
budget

tbc MCC,WG, 
Community Councils

5.3.3 Street Design Detail design changes to the street to 
encourage lower speeds such as raised 
crossings, material changes, pedestrian 
priority spaces and landscape planting 
as part of nature based solutions to 
managing rain water. To be defined via 
the recommended coordinated village 
street design.

Development 
project/pilot

High MCC MCC/Community 
Council

MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation.  
Potential 
project funding 
via WG Active 
Travel Funding 
& Local 
Transport 
Fund (2021-22 
Round)

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc - dependent 
on scale and 
specification of 
improvement.

MCC, WG, 
Community Councils

Page 61



44    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

5.3.4 Community Agriculture/
Growing

Deliver a community agriculture scheme 
as an early win for the Green Village 
Strategy. Consider aligning to existing 
initiatives such as Incredible Edible 
(Usk). Communicate ideas with Coleg 
Gwent and Wye Valley AONB to explore 
opportunities for collaboration and 
knowledge share.

Community based 
project

High - Quick Win Third Sector Community Council Community 
Funding tbc

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc - such 
schemes can 
be realised 
with minimal 
to no capital 
expenditure 
assuming land is 
already acquired.

Community 
Councils, AONB, 
Coleg Gwent, 
Existing initiatives 
such as Incredible 
Edible

5.3.5 Village Green 
Enhancements

Localised improvements to the green 
including small habitat creation (such as 
species rich grassland or appropriate 
wild flower planting to be agreed with 
MCC). 

Development 
project/pilot

High - Quick Win Partnership MCC/Community 
Council

Community 
Funding, 
Sustainable 
Development 
Fund tbc

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc Community 
Councils, MCC, 
Bus Operators, 
Monmouthshire 
Meadows

5.3.6 Relocation of bus stops Consider relocating bus stops to the 
village green area.

Development 
project/pilot

High Partnership MCC/Community 
Council, Bus operator

Multiple 
Funding 
Sources to be 
defined

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc MCC/Community 
Council, Bus 
operator

5.3.7 The Hood Memorial Hall Consider extending small habitat 
creation to areas around the hall aligned 
to the Green Village Strategy.

Community based 
proejct

High - Quick Win Third Sector Community Council Community 
Funding, 
Collaboration 
with NRW/
Woodland 
Trust tbc

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc Community Council, 
Monmouthshire 
Meadows Groups 
AONB, MCC, Wildlife 
partner (e.g. Gwent 
Wildlife Trust).

5.3.8 The Hood Memorial Hall Explore additional ideas raised during 
the consultation such as a temporary 
village pub (assumed as a 1 day a week 
event). 

Community based 
proejct

High - Quick Win Third Sector MCC/Community 
Council

Community 
Funding, 

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

Assumed as 
no additional 
cost or minimal 
community 
funding.

Community 
Councils, MCC, Bus 
Operators

5.3 Devauden Action Plan
NO. INITIATIVE DETAIL TYPE PRIORITY DELIVERY 

MECHANISM

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING 

SOURCE

BUDGET 

AVAILABILITY 

 POSSIBLE 

BUDGET

CONTRIBUTOR / 

COLLABORATOR

Page 62



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 45

5.3.4 Community Agriculture/
Growing

Deliver a community agriculture scheme 
as an early win for the Green Village 
Strategy. Consider aligning to existing 
initiatives such as Incredible Edible 
(Usk). Communicate ideas with Coleg 
Gwent and Wye Valley AONB to explore 
opportunities for collaboration and 
knowledge share.

Community based 
project

High - Quick Win Third Sector Community Council Community 
Funding tbc

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc - such 
schemes can 
be realised 
with minimal 
to no capital 
expenditure 
assuming land is 
already acquired.

Community 
Councils, AONB, 
Coleg Gwent, 
Existing initiatives 
such as Incredible 
Edible

5.3.5 Village Green 
Enhancements

Localised improvements to the green 
including small habitat creation (such as 
species rich grassland or appropriate 
wild flower planting to be agreed with 
MCC). 

Development 
project/pilot

High - Quick Win Partnership MCC/Community 
Council

Community 
Funding, 
Sustainable 
Development 
Fund tbc

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc Community 
Councils, MCC, 
Bus Operators, 
Monmouthshire 
Meadows

5.3.6 Relocation of bus stops Consider relocating bus stops to the 
village green area.

Development 
project/pilot

High Partnership MCC/Community 
Council, Bus operator

Multiple 
Funding 
Sources to be 
defined

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc MCC/Community 
Council, Bus 
operator

5.3.7 The Hood Memorial Hall Consider extending small habitat 
creation to areas around the hall aligned 
to the Green Village Strategy.

Community based 
proejct

High - Quick Win Third Sector Community Council Community 
Funding, 
Collaboration 
with NRW/
Woodland 
Trust tbc

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc Community Council, 
Monmouthshire 
Meadows Groups 
AONB, MCC, Wildlife 
partner (e.g. Gwent 
Wildlife Trust).

5.3.8 The Hood Memorial Hall Explore additional ideas raised during 
the consultation such as a temporary 
village pub (assumed as a 1 day a week 
event). 

Community based 
proejct

High - Quick Win Third Sector MCC/Community 
Council

Community 
Funding, 

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

Assumed as 
no additional 
cost or minimal 
community 
funding.

Community 
Councils, MCC, Bus 
Operators

5.3 Devauden Action Plan
NO. INITIATIVE DETAIL TYPE PRIORITY DELIVERY 

MECHANISM

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING 

SOURCE

BUDGET 

AVAILABILITY 

 POSSIBLE 

BUDGET

CONTRIBUTOR / 

COLLABORATOR

Page 63



46    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

Offa’s Dyke Path

Wye Valley Walk

Wordsworth Walk

Millennium Hall

Llandogo Village

1

2

One of the riverside villages, Llandogo lacks the 
tourism profile and status of nearby Tintern. The 
village has no single defining feature or space 
and although it enjoys a riverside access, it 
feels disconnected from the river which once 
supported the local trow industry. Despite this, 
the village has significant potential as both a 
pivot point for multiple walking points and as a 
place. The initial proposals seek to reshape the 
village to harness the natural advantages and 
rediscover its history.

Village gateway with 20mph speed 
limit and unique gateway sign

Llandogo Meadows - Enhancing 
the biodiversity of the lowland river 
meadows and reconnecting the village 
to the river through improved access 
for walkers and cyclists. Please note 
this would require private landowner 
agreement.

Traffic calming street design such as 
raised crossings, material changes, 
pedestrian priority spaces and 
landscape planting as part of nature 
based solutions to managing rain 
water.

3

5.4 Llandogo

Page 64



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 47

Offa’s Dyke Path

Wye Valley Walk

Wordsworth Walk

Millennium Hall

Llandogo Village

1

2

1

4

3

Village green - Forming a heart to the 
village by creating a multi-functional 
space for community activities. This 
includes improvements to the existing 
play area and potential to create 
community garden space

2

4

Page 65



48    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

5.4 Llandogo Action Plan
NO. INITIATIVE DETAIL TYPE PRIORITY DELIVERY 

MECHANISM

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING 

SOURCE

BUDGET 

AVAILABILITY 

 POSSIBLE 

BUDGET

CONTRIBUTOR / 

COLLABORATOR

Opportunity -Encourage lower vehicle speeds. 
Opportunity - Improved access to the river
Opportunity - lowland meadow enhancement
Opportunity - Improved park/green space adjacent to Millennium Hall

5.4.1 Road 
Safety and 
placemaking

Creation of village gateway signage. Align this with 
the approach to the network of villages by assigning a 
particular theme/name for each village. 

Development 
project/pilot

High - Quick Win MCC MCC/Community 
council

MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation.  
Potential 
project 
funding via 
WG Active 
Travel Funding 
& Local 
Transport 
Fund, 
Sustainable 
Landscapes 
Sustainable 
Places 
funding.

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

£10-15k subject 
to detail design

MCC, AONB, 
Community 
Councils, 

5.4.2 Road Safety 20mph speed limit through village Development 
project/pilot

High - Quick Win MCC MCC/WG Welsh 
Government 
Local 
Transport 
Fund

Identified within 
forthcoming 
budget

tbc MCC,WG, 
Community Councils

5.4.3 Street Design Detail design changes to the street to encourage 
lower speeds such as raised crossings, material 
changes, pedestrian priority spaces and landscape 
planting as part of nature based solutions to managing 
rain water. To be defined via the recommended 
coordinated village street design

Development 
project/pilot

High MCC MCC/Community 
Council

MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc MCC, WG, 
Community Councils

5.4.4 Community-
led lowland 
meadow 
enhancement

Engage with local landowners, Gwent Wild life Trust 
and the local community to determine  interest, 
viability and potential delivery of lowland meadow 
enhancement

Development 
project/pilot

High - Quick Win Partnership Monmouthshire 
Meadow Group

Multiple 
Funding 
Sources to be 
defined

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc - dependent 
on scale of 
improvement. 
Consider the use 
of crowd funding

Community Council, 
Monmouthshire 
Meadows Groups 
AONB, MCC, Wildlife 
partner (e.g. Gwent 
Wildlife Trust).

Page 66



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 49

5.4 Llandogo Action Plan
NO. INITIATIVE DETAIL TYPE PRIORITY DELIVERY 

MECHANISM

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING 

SOURCE

BUDGET 

AVAILABILITY 

 POSSIBLE 

BUDGET

CONTRIBUTOR / 

COLLABORATOR

Opportunity -Encourage lower vehicle speeds. 
Opportunity - Improved access to the river
Opportunity - lowland meadow enhancement
Opportunity - Improved park/green space adjacent to Millennium Hall

5.4.1 Road 
Safety and 
placemaking

Creation of village gateway signage. Align this with 
the approach to the network of villages by assigning a 
particular theme/name for each village. 

Development 
project/pilot

High - Quick Win MCC MCC/Community 
council

MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation.  
Potential 
project 
funding via 
WG Active 
Travel Funding 
& Local 
Transport 
Fund, 
Sustainable 
Landscapes 
Sustainable 
Places 
funding.

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

£10-15k subject 
to detail design

MCC, AONB, 
Community 
Councils, 

5.4.2 Road Safety 20mph speed limit through village Development 
project/pilot

High - Quick Win MCC MCC/WG Welsh 
Government 
Local 
Transport 
Fund

Identified within 
forthcoming 
budget

tbc MCC,WG, 
Community Councils

5.4.3 Street Design Detail design changes to the street to encourage 
lower speeds such as raised crossings, material 
changes, pedestrian priority spaces and landscape 
planting as part of nature based solutions to managing 
rain water. To be defined via the recommended 
coordinated village street design

Development 
project/pilot

High MCC MCC/Community 
Council

MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc MCC, WG, 
Community Councils

5.4.4 Community-
led lowland 
meadow 
enhancement

Engage with local landowners, Gwent Wild life Trust 
and the local community to determine  interest, 
viability and potential delivery of lowland meadow 
enhancement

Development 
project/pilot

High - Quick Win Partnership Monmouthshire 
Meadow Group

Multiple 
Funding 
Sources to be 
defined

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc - dependent 
on scale of 
improvement. 
Consider the use 
of crowd funding

Community Council, 
Monmouthshire 
Meadows Groups 
AONB, MCC, Wildlife 
partner (e.g. Gwent 
Wildlife Trust).

Page 67



50    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

5.4.5 Millennium 
Hall green

Improve the existing green space, small scale habitat 
creation in line with the Green Village Strategy and 
consider the potential to create community garden 
space (such as Incredible Edible)

Development 
project/pilot

High - Quick Win Partnership Community Council UK Shared 
Prosperity 
Fund. 
Funding 
grant e.g. 
Ashley Family 
Foundation. 
Collaboration 
with NRW/
Woodland 
Trust

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc - dependent 
on scale of 
improvement. 
Consider the 
use of crowd 
funding. 

Community 
Council, third sector 
organisations such 
as Incredible Edible

5.4.6 Millennium 
Hall green

Provide improved play equipment and ensure this 
caters for all abilities

Development 
project/pilot

High Partnership Community Council Multiple 
Funding 
Sources to be 
defined

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc - dependent 
on scale of 
improvement

Community Council, 
MCC, third sector 
groups and local 
school

5.4.7 River access Engage with local landowners to explore the potential 
for new access routes from the village to the river. 
Align with potential meadow enhancement noted 
above

Community based 
proejct

High - Quick Win Partnership Community Council Multiple 
Funding 
Sources to be 
defined

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc - dependent 
on scale of 
improvement 
and routes. 
Potential to 
collabprate with 
third sector 
organisations 
such as Gwent 
Wildlife Trust

Community 
Council, third sector 
organisations such 
as Gwent Wildlife 
Trust, land owner(s)

5.4 Llandogo Action Plan
NO. INITIATIVE DETAIL TYPE PRIORITY DELIVERY 

MECHANISM

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING 

SOURCE

BUDGET 

AVAILABILITY 

 POSSIBLE 

BUDGET

CONTRIBUTOR / 

COLLABORATOR

Page 68



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 51

5.4.5 Millennium 
Hall green

Improve the existing green space, small scale habitat 
creation in line with the Green Village Strategy and 
consider the potential to create community garden 
space (such as Incredible Edible)

Development 
project/pilot

High - Quick Win Partnership Community Council UK Shared 
Prosperity 
Fund. 
Funding 
grant e.g. 
Ashley Family 
Foundation. 
Collaboration 
with NRW/
Woodland 
Trust

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc - dependent 
on scale of 
improvement. 
Consider the 
use of crowd 
funding. 

Community 
Council, third sector 
organisations such 
as Incredible Edible

5.4.6 Millennium 
Hall green

Provide improved play equipment and ensure this 
caters for all abilities

Development 
project/pilot

High Partnership Community Council Multiple 
Funding 
Sources to be 
defined

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc - dependent 
on scale of 
improvement

Community Council, 
MCC, third sector 
groups and local 
school

5.4.7 River access Engage with local landowners to explore the potential 
for new access routes from the village to the river. 
Align with potential meadow enhancement noted 
above

Community based 
proejct

High - Quick Win Partnership Community Council Multiple 
Funding 
Sources to be 
defined

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc - dependent 
on scale of 
improvement 
and routes. 
Potential to 
collabprate with 
third sector 
organisations 
such as Gwent 
Wildlife Trust

Community 
Council, third sector 
organisations such 
as Gwent Wildlife 
Trust, land owner(s)

5.4 Llandogo Action Plan
NO. INITIATIVE DETAIL TYPE PRIORITY DELIVERY 

MECHANISM

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING 

SOURCE

BUDGET 

AVAILABILITY 

 POSSIBLE 

BUDGET

CONTRIBUTOR / 

COLLABORATOR

Page 69



52    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

1

2

St Dennis’ Church

Llanishen Village Hall

Like Devauden and the Narth, Llanishen 
is largely community focused. The village 
backs on to the B4293 partially screening it 
from passing traffic. It is fragmented in form, 
extending west away from the main road. 
Whilst the screening helps mitigate the impact 
of passing traffic for residents the lack of an 
evident ‘place’ for those passing through does 
little to discourage speeding vehicles.

Village gateway with 20mph speed 
limit and unique gateway sign

Traffic calming street design such as 
raised crossings, material changes, 
pedestrian priority spaces and 
landscape planting as part of nature 
based solutions to managing rain 
water

5.5 Llanishen

Page 70



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 53

St Dennis’ Church

Llanishen Village Hall

1

1

2

Page 71



54    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

5.5 Llanishen Action Plan
NO. INITIATIVE DETAIL TYPE PRIORITY DELIVERY 

MECHANISM

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING 

SOURCE

BUDGET 

AVAILABILITY 

 POSSIBLE 

BUDGET

CONTRIBUTOR / 

COLLABORATOR

Opportunity -Encourage lower vehicle speeds. Overall recommendations here are limited to road safety in response to feedback from the public consultation

5.5.1 Road 
Safety and 
placemaking

Creation of village gateway signage. Align 
this with the approach to the network of 
villages by assigning a particular theme/
name for each village. 

Development project/pilot High - Quick Win MCC MCC/Community 
council

MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation.  
Potential 
project 
funding via 
WG Active 
Travel Funding 
& Local 
Transport 
Fund, 
Sustainable 
Landscapes 
Sustainable 
Places 
funding.

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

£10-15k subject 
to detail design

MCC, AONB, 
Community Councils, 

5.5.2 Road Safety 20mph speed limit through village Development project/pilot High - Quick Win MCC MCC/WG Welsh 
Government 
Local 
Transport 
Fund

Identified within 
forthcoming 
budget

tbc MCC,WG, 
Community Councils

5.5.3 Street Design Detail design changes to the street to 
encourage lower speeds such as raised 
crossings, material changes, pedestrian 
priority spaces and landscape planting 
as part of nature based solutions to 
managing rain water. To be defined via the 
recommended coordinated village street 
design

Development project/pilot High MCC MCC/Community 
Council

MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation.  
Potential 
project 
funding via 
WG Active 
Travel Funding 
& Local 
Transport 
Fund (2021-22 
Round)

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc - dependent 
on scale and 
specification of 
improvement.

MCC, WG, 
Community Councils

Page 72



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 55

5.5 Llanishen Action Plan
NO. INITIATIVE DETAIL TYPE PRIORITY DELIVERY 

MECHANISM

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING 

SOURCE

BUDGET 

AVAILABILITY 

 POSSIBLE 

BUDGET

CONTRIBUTOR / 

COLLABORATOR

Opportunity -Encourage lower vehicle speeds. Overall recommendations here are limited to road safety in response to feedback from the public consultation

5.5.1 Road 
Safety and 
placemaking

Creation of village gateway signage. Align 
this with the approach to the network of 
villages by assigning a particular theme/
name for each village. 

Development project/pilot High - Quick Win MCC MCC/Community 
council

MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation.  
Potential 
project 
funding via 
WG Active 
Travel Funding 
& Local 
Transport 
Fund, 
Sustainable 
Landscapes 
Sustainable 
Places 
funding.

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

£10-15k subject 
to detail design

MCC, AONB, 
Community Councils, 

5.5.2 Road Safety 20mph speed limit through village Development project/pilot High - Quick Win MCC MCC/WG Welsh 
Government 
Local 
Transport 
Fund

Identified within 
forthcoming 
budget

tbc MCC,WG, 
Community Councils

5.5.3 Street Design Detail design changes to the street to 
encourage lower speeds such as raised 
crossings, material changes, pedestrian 
priority spaces and landscape planting 
as part of nature based solutions to 
managing rain water. To be defined via the 
recommended coordinated village street 
design

Development project/pilot High MCC MCC/Community 
Council

MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation.  
Potential 
project 
funding via 
WG Active 
Travel Funding 
& Local 
Transport 
Fund (2021-22 
Round)

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc - dependent 
on scale and 
specification of 
improvement.

MCC, WG, 
Community Councils

Page 73



56    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

1

2

Wye Valley Walk

Puddingstone 
& Pub Trail

Redbrook Bridge

Pelham Hall

The village enjoys a prominent location elevated 
at the head of the valley. The area is largely 
community focused with visitor destinations 
focused around Humble by Nature and Pelham 
Hall. Initial proposals are cognisant of these 
enterprises and build on these assets and 
the natural environment to shape a broader 
proposition around regenerative agriculture. 

Village gateway with 20mph speed 
limit and unique gateway sign

The deployment of regenerative 
agricultural pilots by engaging with 
willing collaborators 

The use of Pelham Hall as a remote 
working hub enhanced to cater for the 
community with gardens, allotments 
and coffee shops

1

1

4

3

3

P

Redbrook Bridge is a vital part of 
the commmunity life and its repair 
and maintenance will strengthen their 
connection with the neighbouring 
Redbrook.

Traffic calming street design such as 
raised crossings, material changes, 
pedestrian priority spaces and 
landscape planting as part of nature 
based solutions to managing rain 
water

3

4

5

2

5.6 Penallt

Page 74



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 57

Wye Valley Walk

Puddingstone 
& Pub Trail

Redbrook Bridge

Pelham Hall

1

2

5

Page 75



58    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

5.6 Penallt Action Plan
NO. INITIATIVE DETAIL TYPE PRIORITY DELIVERY 

MECHANISM

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING 

SOURCE

BUDGET 

AVAILABILITY 

 POSSIBLE 

BUDGET

CONTRIBUTOR / 

COLLABORATOR

Opportunity -Encourage lower vehicle speeds. 
Opportunity - Sustainable farming plot
Opportunity - Remote working hub

5.6.1 Road 
Safety and 
placemaking

Creation of village gateway signage. Align 
this with the approach to the network of 
villages by assigning a particular theme/
name for each village. 

Development project/pilot High - Quick Win MCC MCC/Community 
council

MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation.  
Potential 
project 
funding via 
WG Active 
Travel Funding 
& Local 
Transport 
Fund, 
Sustainable 
Landscapes 
Sustainable 
Places 
funding.

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

£10-15k subject 
to detail design

MCC, AONB, 
Community 
Councils, 

5.6.2 Road Safety 20mph speed limit through village Development project/pilot High - Quick Win MCC MCC/WG Welsh 
Government 
Local 
Transport 
Fund

Identified within 
forthcoming 
budget

tbc MCC,WG, 
Community Councils

5.6.3 Street Design Detail design changes to the street to 
encourage lower speeds such as raised 
crossings, material changes, pedestrian 
priority spaces and landscape planting 
as part of nature based solutions to 
managing rain water. To be defined via the 
recommended coordinated village street 
design

Development project/pilot High MCC MCC/Community 
Council

MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc - dependent 
on scale and 
specification of 
improvement.

MCC, WG, 
Community Councils

Page 76



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 59

5.6 Penallt Action Plan
NO. INITIATIVE DETAIL TYPE PRIORITY DELIVERY 

MECHANISM

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING 

SOURCE

BUDGET 

AVAILABILITY 

 POSSIBLE 

BUDGET

CONTRIBUTOR / 

COLLABORATOR

Opportunity -Encourage lower vehicle speeds. 
Opportunity - Sustainable farming plot
Opportunity - Remote working hub

5.6.1 Road 
Safety and 
placemaking

Creation of village gateway signage. Align 
this with the approach to the network of 
villages by assigning a particular theme/
name for each village. 

Development project/pilot High - Quick Win MCC MCC/Community 
council

MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation.  
Potential 
project 
funding via 
WG Active 
Travel Funding 
& Local 
Transport 
Fund, 
Sustainable 
Landscapes 
Sustainable 
Places 
funding.

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

£10-15k subject 
to detail design

MCC, AONB, 
Community 
Councils, 

5.6.2 Road Safety 20mph speed limit through village Development project/pilot High - Quick Win MCC MCC/WG Welsh 
Government 
Local 
Transport 
Fund

Identified within 
forthcoming 
budget

tbc MCC,WG, 
Community Councils

5.6.3 Street Design Detail design changes to the street to 
encourage lower speeds such as raised 
crossings, material changes, pedestrian 
priority spaces and landscape planting 
as part of nature based solutions to 
managing rain water. To be defined via the 
recommended coordinated village street 
design

Development project/pilot High MCC MCC/Community 
Council

MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc - dependent 
on scale and 
specification of 
improvement.

MCC, WG, 
Community Councils

Page 77



60    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

5.6.4 Sustainable 
farming pilot

Public sector led demonstrator for 
sustainable land management.   Engage 
with the NFU, NRW, Coleg Gwent, Humble 
By Nature and local farmers to identify 
willing collaborators for land management 
pilots. Support with the strategic aims 
of the project and help initiate. Measure 
outcomes and lessons learned. Align this 
with MCC

Development project/pilot Medium JV AONB/MCC Coleg Gwent 
contribution. 
Sustainable 
production 
grant (Wales). 
Farm 
Business 
Grant (Wales). 
Glastir Small 
Grants 
scheme 
(Wales). 
UK Shared 
Prosperity 
scheme.

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

If of sufficient 
scale consider 
UK Shared 
Prosperity Fund 
(For example as 
part of a county 
wide strategy).  
Alternatively 
small scale 
delivered in 
collaboration 
with Coleg 
Gwent - circa 
£25,000. 
Additional 
funding sources 
are available to 
supplement a 
smaller scale 
project. 

NFU, NRW, MCC, 
Coleg Gwent, local 
land owners, Wye 
and Usk Foundation. 

5.6.5 Remote 
working hub - 
Pelham Hall

Liaise with the operator to explore the 
potential to create a remote working hub. 
Please note this was raised as a possibility 
doing engagement

Development project/pilot Medium MCC MCC Private Sector 
investment

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc - subject to 
private sector 
proposals and 
available funds

MCC, AONB, 
Community 
Councils, TfW, Bus 
operators

5.6.6 Redbrook 
Bridge 
improvement

Gloucestershire Couty Council to 
undertake maintenance works on the 
existing bridge. Consider a new lighting 
strategy to denote the importance of the 
bridge but ensure this is designed to 
mitigate any potential impact on wildlife/
light pollution. Potential to incorporate as 
part of the sustainable transport study 
and/or Wye Valley Greenway proposals.

Development project/pilot High - Quick Win Partnership AONB/GCC Multiple 
Funding 
Sources to be 
defined

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc - subject 
to level of 
intervention 
which could 
range from 
limited 
maintenance to 
more significant 
infrastructure 
and intrusive 
works to the 
bridge as part of 
a broader active 
travel system 
such as the Wye 
Valley Greenway.

MCC, WG, 
Community 
Councils, GCC, 
Sustrans, Railway 
Heritage Trust

5.6 Penallt Action Plan
NO. INITIATIVE DETAIL TYPE PRIORITY DELIVERY 

MECHANISM

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING 

SOURCE

BUDGET 

AVAILABILITY 

 POSSIBLE 

BUDGET

CONTRIBUTOR / 

COLLABORATOR

Page 78



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 61

5.6.4 Sustainable 
farming pilot

Public sector led demonstrator for 
sustainable land management.   Engage 
with the NFU, NRW, Coleg Gwent, Humble 
By Nature and local farmers to identify 
willing collaborators for land management 
pilots. Support with the strategic aims 
of the project and help initiate. Measure 
outcomes and lessons learned. Align this 
with MCC

Development project/pilot Medium JV AONB/MCC Coleg Gwent 
contribution. 
Sustainable 
production 
grant (Wales). 
Farm 
Business 
Grant (Wales). 
Glastir Small 
Grants 
scheme 
(Wales). 
UK Shared 
Prosperity 
scheme.

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

If of sufficient 
scale consider 
UK Shared 
Prosperity Fund 
(For example as 
part of a county 
wide strategy).  
Alternatively 
small scale 
delivered in 
collaboration 
with Coleg 
Gwent - circa 
£25,000. 
Additional 
funding sources 
are available to 
supplement a 
smaller scale 
project. 

NFU, NRW, MCC, 
Coleg Gwent, local 
land owners, Wye 
and Usk Foundation. 

5.6.5 Remote 
working hub - 
Pelham Hall

Liaise with the operator to explore the 
potential to create a remote working hub. 
Please note this was raised as a possibility 
doing engagement

Development project/pilot Medium MCC MCC Private Sector 
investment

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc - subject to 
private sector 
proposals and 
available funds

MCC, AONB, 
Community 
Councils, TfW, Bus 
operators

5.6.6 Redbrook 
Bridge 
improvement

Gloucestershire Couty Council to 
undertake maintenance works on the 
existing bridge. Consider a new lighting 
strategy to denote the importance of the 
bridge but ensure this is designed to 
mitigate any potential impact on wildlife/
light pollution. Potential to incorporate as 
part of the sustainable transport study 
and/or Wye Valley Greenway proposals.

Development project/pilot High - Quick Win Partnership AONB/GCC Multiple 
Funding 
Sources to be 
defined

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc - subject 
to level of 
intervention 
which could 
range from 
limited 
maintenance to 
more significant 
infrastructure 
and intrusive 
works to the 
bridge as part of 
a broader active 
travel system 
such as the Wye 
Valley Greenway.

MCC, WG, 
Community 
Councils, GCC, 
Sustrans, Railway 
Heritage Trust

5.6 Penallt Action Plan
NO. INITIATIVE DETAIL TYPE PRIORITY DELIVERY 

MECHANISM

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING 

SOURCE

BUDGET 

AVAILABILITY 

 POSSIBLE 

BUDGET

CONTRIBUTOR / 

COLLABORATOR

Page 79



62    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

1

2

Chepstow Race 
Course

Pierce�eld Park 

Giant’s 
Cave

Lower Wyndcliffe 
viewpoint

Lover’s 
Leap

St Arvans 
Church

365 
Steps

Eagle’s 
Nest

Cold 
Bath

Existing cycle path

St Arvans Roundabout

Playing 
fields

St Arvans 
Community 

Council

 Memorial 
Hall

Wye Valley Walk

The village marks the southern gateway to 
the Wye Valley and is immediately north of 
Chepstow racecourse. It marks the connection 
between the B4293 and A466  linking the 
lower reaches of the valley with the upper 
area. Despite this strategic importance there 
is little to mark this important location whilst 
local residents experience the dual negative 
of passing traffic with little direct benefit from 
visitors. 

Village gateway with 20mph speed 
limit and unique gateway sign

The use of Chepstow racecourse as a 
transport hub to encourage greater 
use of sustainable transport and as 
an entry point to the strategic walking 
routes.

1

2

Traffic calming street design such as 
raised crossings, material changes, 
pedestrian priority spaces and 
landscape planting as part of nature 
based solutions to managing rain 
water

P

3

5.7 St Arvans

Page 80



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 63

Chepstow Race 
Course

Pierce�eld Park 

Giant’s 
Cave

Lower Wyndcliffe 
viewpoint

Lover’s 
Leap

St Arvans 
Church

365 
Steps

Eagle’s 
Nest

Cold 
Bath

Existing cycle path

St Arvans Roundabout

Playing 
fields

St Arvans 
Community 

Council

 Memorial 
Hall

Wye Valley Walk

1

3

1

2

Page 81



64    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

5.7 St Arvans Action Plan
NO. INITIATIVE DETAIL TYPE PRIORITY DELIVERY 

MECHANISM

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING 

SOURCE

BUDGET 

AVAILABILITY 

 POSSIBLE 

BUDGET

CONTRIBUTOR / 

COLLABORATOR

Opportunity -Encourage lower vehicle speeds. Overall recommendations here are limited to road safety in response to feedback from the public consultation

5.7.1 Road 
Safety and 
placemaking

Creation of village gateway signage. Align 
this with the approach to the network 
of villages by assigning a particular 
theme/name for each village. Particular 
opportunity to mark the entrance of the 
Wye Valley.

Development project/pilot High - Quick Win MCC MCC/Community 
council

MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation.  
Potential 
project 
funding via 
WG Active 
Travel Funding 
& Local 
Transport 
Fund, 
Sustainable 
Landscapes 
Sustainable 
Places 
funding.

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

£10-15k subject 
to detail design

MCC, AONB, 
Community 
Councils, 

5.7.2 Road Safety 20mph speed limit through village Development project/pilot High - Quick Win MCC MCC/WG Welsh 
Government 
Local 
Transport 
Fund

Identified within 
forthcoming 
budget

tbc MCC,WG, 
Community Councils

5.7.3 Street Design Detail design changes to the street to 
encourage lower speeds such as raised 
crossings, material changes, pedestrian 
priority spaces and landscape planting 
as part of nature based solutions to 
managing rain water. To be defined via the 
recommended coordinated village street 
design

Development project/pilot High MCC MCC/Community 
Council

MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc - dependent 
on scale and 
specification of 
improvement.

MCC, WG, 
Community Councils

5.7.4 Chepstow 
racecourse 
transport hub 

As part of the recommended sustainable 
transport strategy undertake a feasibility 
study which includes design, funding and 
delivery for a potential new sustainable 
transport hub. Undertake this as part of 
the recommended Sustainable Transport 
Strategy

Further study High Joint Venture MCC MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation.  
Potential 
project 
funding via 
WG Active 
Travel Funding 
& Local 
Transport 
Fund (2021-22 
Round)

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

refer to 
sustainable 
transport 
strategy action

MCC, AONB, 
Community 
council, Chepstow 
racecourse, private 
operators, bus 
operator

Page 82



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 65

5.7 St Arvans Action Plan
NO. INITIATIVE DETAIL TYPE PRIORITY DELIVERY 

MECHANISM

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING 

SOURCE

BUDGET 

AVAILABILITY 

 POSSIBLE 

BUDGET

CONTRIBUTOR / 

COLLABORATOR

Opportunity -Encourage lower vehicle speeds. Overall recommendations here are limited to road safety in response to feedback from the public consultation

5.7.1 Road 
Safety and 
placemaking

Creation of village gateway signage. Align 
this with the approach to the network 
of villages by assigning a particular 
theme/name for each village. Particular 
opportunity to mark the entrance of the 
Wye Valley.

Development project/pilot High - Quick Win MCC MCC/Community 
council

MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation.  
Potential 
project 
funding via 
WG Active 
Travel Funding 
& Local 
Transport 
Fund, 
Sustainable 
Landscapes 
Sustainable 
Places 
funding.

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

£10-15k subject 
to detail design

MCC, AONB, 
Community 
Councils, 

5.7.2 Road Safety 20mph speed limit through village Development project/pilot High - Quick Win MCC MCC/WG Welsh 
Government 
Local 
Transport 
Fund

Identified within 
forthcoming 
budget

tbc MCC,WG, 
Community Councils

5.7.3 Street Design Detail design changes to the street to 
encourage lower speeds such as raised 
crossings, material changes, pedestrian 
priority spaces and landscape planting 
as part of nature based solutions to 
managing rain water. To be defined via the 
recommended coordinated village street 
design

Development project/pilot High MCC MCC/Community 
Council

MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc - dependent 
on scale and 
specification of 
improvement.

MCC, WG, 
Community Councils

5.7.4 Chepstow 
racecourse 
transport hub 

As part of the recommended sustainable 
transport strategy undertake a feasibility 
study which includes design, funding and 
delivery for a potential new sustainable 
transport hub. Undertake this as part of 
the recommended Sustainable Transport 
Strategy

Further study High Joint Venture MCC MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation.  
Potential 
project 
funding via 
WG Active 
Travel Funding 
& Local 
Transport 
Fund (2021-22 
Round)

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

refer to 
sustainable 
transport 
strategy action

MCC, AONB, 
Community 
council, Chepstow 
racecourse, private 
operators, bus 
operator

Page 83



66    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

The Narth 
Village Hall

Manor Wood

Manor Brook

1

2

Like Devauden, The Narth is a community 
rather than a focal point for tourism. The quiet, 
secluded nature of the village and wooded 
setting are defining characteristics. Proposed 
change in the Narth is limited considering 
the residential nature of the village. However, 
subtle interventions could help garner greater 
community cohesion, increase the sense of 
place and cater for low impact tourism in the 
form of walkers/hikers. 

Village gateway with 20mph speed 
limit and unique gateway sign

Traffic calming street design such as 
raised crossings, material changes, 
pedestrian priority spaces and 
landscape planting as part of nature 
based solutions to managing rain 
water.

5.8 The Narth

Page 84



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 67

The Narth 
Village Hall

Manor Wood

Manor Brook

1

1

2

Page 85



68    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

5.8 The Narth Action Plan
NO. INITIATIVE DETAIL TYPE PRIORITY DELIVERY 

MECHANISM

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING 

SOURCE

BUDGET 

AVAILABILITY 

 POSSIBLE 

BUDGET

CONTRIBUTOR / 

COLLABORATOR

Opportunity -Encourage lower vehicle speeds. Overall recommendations here are limited to road safety in 
response to feedback from the public consultation

5.8.1 Road 
Safety and 
placemaking

Creation of village gateway signage. Align 
this with the approach to the network of 
villages by assigning a particular theme/
name for each village. 

Development project/pilot High - Quick Win MCC MCC/Community 
council

MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation.  
Potential 
project 
funding via 
WG Active 
Travel Funding 
& Local 
Transport 
Fund, 
Sustainable 
Landscapes 
Sustainable 
Places 
funding.

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

£10-15k subject 
to detail design

MCC, AONB, 
Community 
Councils, 

5.8.2 Road Safety 20mph speed limit through village Development project/pilot High - Quick Win MCC MCC/WG Welsh 
Government 
Local 
Transport 
Fund

Identified within 
forthcoming 
budget

tbc MCC,WG, 
Community Councils

5.8.3 Street Design Detail design changes to the street to 
encourage lower speeds such as raised 
crossings, material changes, pedestrian 
priority spaces and landscape planting 
as part of nature based solutions to 
managing rain water. To be defined via the 
recommended coordinated village steret 
design

Development project/pilot High MCC MCC/Community 
Council

MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc - dependent 
on scale and 
specification of 
improvement.

MCC, WG, 
Community Councils

Page 86



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 69

5.8 The Narth Action Plan
NO. INITIATIVE DETAIL TYPE PRIORITY DELIVERY 

MECHANISM

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING 

SOURCE

BUDGET 

AVAILABILITY 

 POSSIBLE 

BUDGET

CONTRIBUTOR / 

COLLABORATOR

Opportunity -Encourage lower vehicle speeds. Overall recommendations here are limited to road safety in 
response to feedback from the public consultation

5.8.1 Road 
Safety and 
placemaking

Creation of village gateway signage. Align 
this with the approach to the network of 
villages by assigning a particular theme/
name for each village. 

Development project/pilot High - Quick Win MCC MCC/Community 
council

MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation.  
Potential 
project 
funding via 
WG Active 
Travel Funding 
& Local 
Transport 
Fund, 
Sustainable 
Landscapes 
Sustainable 
Places 
funding.

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

£10-15k subject 
to detail design

MCC, AONB, 
Community 
Councils, 

5.8.2 Road Safety 20mph speed limit through village Development project/pilot High - Quick Win MCC MCC/WG Welsh 
Government 
Local 
Transport 
Fund

Identified within 
forthcoming 
budget

tbc MCC,WG, 
Community Councils

5.8.3 Street Design Detail design changes to the street to 
encourage lower speeds such as raised 
crossings, material changes, pedestrian 
priority spaces and landscape planting 
as part of nature based solutions to 
managing rain water. To be defined via the 
recommended coordinated village steret 
design

Development project/pilot High MCC MCC/Community 
Council

MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc - dependent 
on scale and 
specification of 
improvement.

MCC, WG, 
Community Councils

Page 87



70    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

Wye Valley Walk

Offa’s Dyke Path

Angidy Trail

Wye Valley Greenway

Livox Quarry proposed 
tourism development 
(outside map extents)

Possible river 
connection

Possible river 
connection

The remains of Tintern Abbey are one of the 
defining features of the Wye Valley. This is where 
visible history, past industry, the picturesque 
landscape and village life reflect the Wye Valley 
in one place. This places pressure on what 
is a small settlement to successfully manage 
the complex balance between visitors and 
residents. The initial proposal seeks to address 
this and enhance the village.

Village gateway with 20mph speed 
limit and unique gateway sign

1

2

3

Tintern hub (subject to land owner 
approvals) - An agglomeration of 
services and uses around the Abbey 
such as tourist information, local 
businesses and a new transport 
hub to encourage greater use of 
sustainable transport and reduce 
the volume of traffic further along the 
valley. This includes bike hire stations, 
parking and links to Park & Ride. Other 
opportunities include adapting existing 
buildings to create space for new 
entrepreneurs and inclusive facilities 
such as adult changing facilities. 

P

A car free environment, with 
enhanced amenity and habitat. 
Please note this would require private 
landowner agreement.

5.9 Tintern

Traffic calming street design 
such as raised crossings, material 
changes, pedestrian priority spaces 
and landscape planting as part of 
nature based solutions to managing 
rain water. Design interventions to 
create clear, attractive and safe routes 
between Tintern and Tintern Parva 
and the wider network of recreational 
routes. The design and maintenance 
proposals are extended to include 
verges and other areas of public realm 
including the car parking areas. Wireworks Bridge improvements 

and public realm, access and signage 
improvements on approach to the 
bridge

Temporary or seasonal art/signage/
installations aligned with trials for park 
& ride to help mitigate potential parking 
issues.

Low cost seasonal river crossings 
such as ferry/chain crossings

4

5

6

7

Page 88



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 71

Wye Valley Walk

Offa’s Dyke Path

Angidy Trail

Wye Valley Greenway

Livox Quarry proposed 
tourism development 
(outside map extents)

Possible river 
connection

Possible river 
connection

3

5

1

2

1

4

7

2

2

6

Page 89



72    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

5.9 Tintern Action Plan
NO. INITIATIVE DETAIL TYPE PRIORITY DELIVERY 

MECHANISM

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING 

SOURCE

BUDGET 

AVAILABILITY 

 POSSIBLE 

BUDGET

CONTRIBUTOR / 

COLLABORATOR

Opportunity -Encourage lower vehicle speeds. 
Opportunity -Create a new transport hub for cycling (hire and safe storage), EV charging, buses, seating landscape
Opportunity -Enhance the sense of place through new signage and gateway markers
Opportunity -New river crossing

5.9.1 Road 
Safety and 
placemaking

Creation of village gateway signage Development project/pilot High - Quick Win MCC MCC/Community 
council

MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation.  
Potential 
project 
funding via 
WG Active 
Travel Funding 
& Local 
Transport 
Fund, 
Sustainable 
Landscapes 
Sustainable 
Places 
funding.

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

£10-15k subject 
to detail design 
(please note 
this could vary 
significantly 
depending 
on the type of 
signage).

MCC, AONB, 
Community 
Councils, 

5.9.2 Road Safety 20mph speed limit through village Development project/pilot High - Quick Win MCC MCC/WG Welsh 
Government 
Local 
Transport 
Fund

Identified within 
forthcoming 
budget

tbc MCC,WG, 
Community Councils

5.9.3 Street Design Detail design changes to the street to 
encourage lower speeds such as raised 
crossings, material changes, pedestrian 
priority spaces and landscape planting 
as part of nature based solutions to 
managing rain water. To be defined via 
the recommended coordinated village 
street design. Ensure the design solutions 
create clear, attractive and safe routes 
between Tintern and Tintern Parva and 
the wider network of recreational routes. 
Given the importance of Tintern within the 
area to tourism, ensure the design and 
maintenance proposals are extended to 
include verges and other areas of public 
realm including the car parking areas. 

Development project/pilot High MCC MCC/Community 
Council

MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation.  
Potential 
project 
funding via 
WG Active 
Travel Funding 
& Local 
Transport 
Fund (2021-22 
Round)

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc - dependent 
on scale and 
specification of 
improvement.

MCC, WG, 
Community Councils

Page 90



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 73

5.9 Tintern Action Plan
NO. INITIATIVE DETAIL TYPE PRIORITY DELIVERY 

MECHANISM

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING 

SOURCE

BUDGET 

AVAILABILITY 

 POSSIBLE 

BUDGET

CONTRIBUTOR / 

COLLABORATOR

Opportunity -Encourage lower vehicle speeds. 
Opportunity -Create a new transport hub for cycling (hire and safe storage), EV charging, buses, seating landscape
Opportunity -Enhance the sense of place through new signage and gateway markers
Opportunity -New river crossing

5.9.1 Road 
Safety and 
placemaking

Creation of village gateway signage Development project/pilot High - Quick Win MCC MCC/Community 
council

MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation.  
Potential 
project 
funding via 
WG Active 
Travel Funding 
& Local 
Transport 
Fund, 
Sustainable 
Landscapes 
Sustainable 
Places 
funding.

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

£10-15k subject 
to detail design 
(please note 
this could vary 
significantly 
depending 
on the type of 
signage).

MCC, AONB, 
Community 
Councils, 

5.9.2 Road Safety 20mph speed limit through village Development project/pilot High - Quick Win MCC MCC/WG Welsh 
Government 
Local 
Transport 
Fund

Identified within 
forthcoming 
budget

tbc MCC,WG, 
Community Councils

5.9.3 Street Design Detail design changes to the street to 
encourage lower speeds such as raised 
crossings, material changes, pedestrian 
priority spaces and landscape planting 
as part of nature based solutions to 
managing rain water. To be defined via 
the recommended coordinated village 
street design. Ensure the design solutions 
create clear, attractive and safe routes 
between Tintern and Tintern Parva and 
the wider network of recreational routes. 
Given the importance of Tintern within the 
area to tourism, ensure the design and 
maintenance proposals are extended to 
include verges and other areas of public 
realm including the car parking areas. 

Development project/pilot High MCC MCC/Community 
Council

MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation.  
Potential 
project 
funding via 
WG Active 
Travel Funding 
& Local 
Transport 
Fund (2021-22 
Round)

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc - dependent 
on scale and 
specification of 
improvement.

MCC, WG, 
Community Councils

Page 91



74    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

5.9.4 Bike hire trial Work with private sector operators to trial 
bike hire stations to provide access to the 
area’s trails and roads for local people 
and visitors. Ensure provision is made 
for inclusive bikes and Electric bikes for 
the less-abled. Consider the trial over the 
summer season and in tandem with the 
park and ride trial which is noted below.

Development project/pilot High - Quick Win Private Sector MCC/Cadw/Private 
operators

Private Sector 
investment

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

£15-20k MCC, Community 
Council, Cadw, 
AONB, Private 
Operator

5.9.5 Park and ride 
trial

Work with bus operators and MCC to 
create a trial park and ride during high 
season. Explore opportunities with 
local landowners such as Chepstow 
racecourse or Chepstow station operators 
to provide the park and ride facility. Link 
to bike hire trial (noted above) to provide 
continuous car-free movement. 

Development project/pilot High - Quick Win Joint Venture MCC/community 
councils, local 
stakeholders (to be 
identified)

Private Sector 
investment

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc MCC, Community 
Council, Cadw, 
AONB, Private 
Operator

5.9.6 Transport hub Undertake a feasibility study which 
includes design, funding and delivery for a 
new sustainable transport hub. Undertake 
this as part of the recommended 
Sustainable Transport Strategy

Further study High MCC MCC/Community 
Council, Bus operator, 
Cadw, AONB, Private 
operators

Welsh 
Government 
Local 
Transport 
Fund

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

£25-50k for 
feasibility 
study. Please 
note that this 
should be either 
coordinated 
with  the wider 
sustainable 
transport 
strategy or 
undertaken 
as part of that 
scope

MCC, Community 
Council, Cadw, 
AONB, Private 
Operator

5.9.7 The Island As part of Green Villages Initiative, work 
with the private land owner to explore the 
potential for habitat enhancement on the 
prominent area of land on the eastern 
bank of the River Wye. 

Development project/pilot Medium Partnership FoD/GCC/Community 
Council

Farming and 
protected 
landscapes 
Fund - 
England tbc

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc FoD/GCC/
Community Council, 
MCC, AONB

5.9.8 Wireworks 
Bridge 
Improvements

GCC proposed refurbishment works to be 
undertaken end of 2022 based on current 
known plans.

Development project/pilot High - Quick Win Partnership GCC tbc Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc MCC, Community 
Councils, AONB, 
Gloucestershire 
County Council, 
Sustrans

5.9 Tintern Action Plan
NO. INITIATIVE DETAIL TYPE PRIORITY DELIVERY 

MECHANISM

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING 

SOURCE

BUDGET 

AVAILABILITY 

 POSSIBLE 

BUDGET

CONTRIBUTOR / 

COLLABORATOR

Page 92



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 75

5.9.4 Bike hire trial Work with private sector operators to trial 
bike hire stations to provide access to the 
area’s trails and roads for local people 
and visitors. Ensure provision is made 
for inclusive bikes and Electric bikes for 
the less-abled. Consider the trial over the 
summer season and in tandem with the 
park and ride trial which is noted below.

Development project/pilot High - Quick Win Private Sector MCC/Cadw/Private 
operators

Private Sector 
investment

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

£15-20k MCC, Community 
Council, Cadw, 
AONB, Private 
Operator

5.9.5 Park and ride 
trial

Work with bus operators and MCC to 
create a trial park and ride during high 
season. Explore opportunities with 
local landowners such as Chepstow 
racecourse or Chepstow station operators 
to provide the park and ride facility. Link 
to bike hire trial (noted above) to provide 
continuous car-free movement. 

Development project/pilot High - Quick Win Joint Venture MCC/community 
councils, local 
stakeholders (to be 
identified)

Private Sector 
investment

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc MCC, Community 
Council, Cadw, 
AONB, Private 
Operator

5.9.6 Transport hub Undertake a feasibility study which 
includes design, funding and delivery for a 
new sustainable transport hub. Undertake 
this as part of the recommended 
Sustainable Transport Strategy

Further study High MCC MCC/Community 
Council, Bus operator, 
Cadw, AONB, Private 
operators

Welsh 
Government 
Local 
Transport 
Fund

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

£25-50k for 
feasibility 
study. Please 
note that this 
should be either 
coordinated 
with  the wider 
sustainable 
transport 
strategy or 
undertaken 
as part of that 
scope

MCC, Community 
Council, Cadw, 
AONB, Private 
Operator

5.9.7 The Island As part of Green Villages Initiative, work 
with the private land owner to explore the 
potential for habitat enhancement on the 
prominent area of land on the eastern 
bank of the River Wye. 

Development project/pilot Medium Partnership FoD/GCC/Community 
Council

Farming and 
protected 
landscapes 
Fund - 
England tbc

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc FoD/GCC/
Community Council, 
MCC, AONB

5.9.8 Wireworks 
Bridge 
Improvements

GCC proposed refurbishment works to be 
undertaken end of 2022 based on current 
known plans.

Development project/pilot High - Quick Win Partnership GCC tbc Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc MCC, Community 
Councils, AONB, 
Gloucestershire 
County Council, 
Sustrans

5.9 Tintern Action Plan
NO. INITIATIVE DETAIL TYPE PRIORITY DELIVERY 

MECHANISM

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING 

SOURCE

BUDGET 

AVAILABILITY 

 POSSIBLE 

BUDGET

CONTRIBUTOR / 

COLLABORATOR

Page 93



76    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

5.9.9 Wireworks 
Bridge 
Approaches

Partnership working required with 
Sustrans to improve the approaches to 
Wireworks Bridge - public realm, access 
and signage improvements

Development project/pilot Partnership Sustrans tbc Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc MCC, Community 
Councils, AONB, 
Gloucestershire 
County Council, 
Sustrans

5.9.10 Temporary 
public realm 

Explore new opportunities temporary 
or seasonal signage/decoration/art 
works (for example the Luke Jerram 
art installation at Tintern Abbey, and 
Christmas markets). Align these with 
suggested trials for park and ride to help 
mitigate potential parking issues. 

Development project/pilot High - Quick Win Partnership AONB, MCC, 
Community Councils, 
Cadw

Community 
Funding tbc

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc. 
Opportunities 
to secure 
funds from Arts 
Council Wales

MCC, Community 
Council, Cadw, 
AONB, Arts Council 
Wales, Wye Valley 
River Festival CIC

5.9.11 Tintern Hub To address immediate parking concerns 
- progress the concept to a detailed 
proposal with key stakeholders. Align 
this with the sustainable transport 
strategy. Engage with Cadw to explore 
opportunities for the adaptation of 
existing buildings or the delivery of 
temporary buildings to  create space for 
new entrepreneurs, inclusive facilities 
(such as adult changing facilities) and the 
suggested bike hire and Park & Ride as 
early wins.

Development project/pilot High - Quick Win Partnership AONB, MCC, 
Community Councils, 
Cadw

MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation.  
Potential 
project 
funding via 
WG Active 
Travel Funding 
& Local 
Transport 
Fund (2021-
22 Round). 
Potential 
Cadw funding 
and WG 
Remote 
Working Hub.

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc. Opportunity 
to draw on 
multiple funding 
sources

MCC, Community 
Council, Cadw, 
AONB,

5.9.12 River crossing Consider low cost, light weight temporary 
or seasonal ferry/chain crossings subject 
to tidal. Consider high level feasibility for 
permanent crossing as part of the wye 
valley greenway

Development project/pilot Medium Partnership AONB, MCC, 
Community Councils, 
NRW, private operator 
(tbc)

MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation. 
Potential 
Levelling 
Up Funding 
as part of 
a potential 
bid for the 
Wye Valley 
Greenway.

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc. Opportunity 
to draw on 
multiple funding 
sources. 
Feasibility of 
permanent 
structure

5.9 Tintern Action Plan
NO. INITIATIVE DETAIL TYPE PRIORITY DELIVERY 

MECHANISM

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING 

SOURCE

BUDGET 

AVAILABILITY 

 POSSIBLE 

BUDGET

CONTRIBUTOR / 

COLLABORATOR

Page 94



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 77

5.9.9 Wireworks 
Bridge 
Approaches

Partnership working required with 
Sustrans to improve the approaches to 
Wireworks Bridge - public realm, access 
and signage improvements

Development project/pilot Partnership Sustrans tbc Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc MCC, Community 
Councils, AONB, 
Gloucestershire 
County Council, 
Sustrans

5.9.10 Temporary 
public realm 

Explore new opportunities temporary 
or seasonal signage/decoration/art 
works (for example the Luke Jerram 
art installation at Tintern Abbey, and 
Christmas markets). Align these with 
suggested trials for park and ride to help 
mitigate potential parking issues. 

Development project/pilot High - Quick Win Partnership AONB, MCC, 
Community Councils, 
Cadw

Community 
Funding tbc

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc. 
Opportunities 
to secure 
funds from Arts 
Council Wales

MCC, Community 
Council, Cadw, 
AONB, Arts Council 
Wales, Wye Valley 
River Festival CIC

5.9.11 Tintern Hub To address immediate parking concerns 
- progress the concept to a detailed 
proposal with key stakeholders. Align 
this with the sustainable transport 
strategy. Engage with Cadw to explore 
opportunities for the adaptation of 
existing buildings or the delivery of 
temporary buildings to  create space for 
new entrepreneurs, inclusive facilities 
(such as adult changing facilities) and the 
suggested bike hire and Park & Ride as 
early wins.

Development project/pilot High - Quick Win Partnership AONB, MCC, 
Community Councils, 
Cadw

MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation.  
Potential 
project 
funding via 
WG Active 
Travel Funding 
& Local 
Transport 
Fund (2021-
22 Round). 
Potential 
Cadw funding 
and WG 
Remote 
Working Hub.

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc. Opportunity 
to draw on 
multiple funding 
sources

MCC, Community 
Council, Cadw, 
AONB,

5.9.12 River crossing Consider low cost, light weight temporary 
or seasonal ferry/chain crossings subject 
to tidal. Consider high level feasibility for 
permanent crossing as part of the wye 
valley greenway

Development project/pilot Medium Partnership AONB, MCC, 
Community Councils, 
NRW, private operator 
(tbc)

MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation. 
Potential 
Levelling 
Up Funding 
as part of 
a potential 
bid for the 
Wye Valley 
Greenway.

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc. Opportunity 
to draw on 
multiple funding 
sources. 
Feasibility of 
permanent 
structure

5.9 Tintern Action Plan
NO. INITIATIVE DETAIL TYPE PRIORITY DELIVERY 

MECHANISM

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING 

SOURCE

BUDGET 

AVAILABILITY 

 POSSIBLE 

BUDGET

CONTRIBUTOR / 

COLLABORATOR

Page 95



78    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

Trellech Trail

The Church of St 
Nicholas in the Parish 
of Trellech

Babington Centre

Tump Terret

Harold’s Stones
The Virtuous Well

Trellech Primary School

Trellech Wet Meadow 
(existing)

1

2

The historic pattern of buildings, archaeology 
and surrounding open pasture of Trellech create 
one of the most distinct villages. Although these 
features have the potential to attract larger 
visitor numbers, Trellech retains the feel of a 
rural village in contrast to the destination of 
Tintern. Addressing the future role of Trellech 
within the Wye Valley needs consideration. A 
carefully orchestrated offer which maintains 
tranquillity for residents while attracting a new 
audience of visitors could positively support the 
wider offer of the Wye Valley. 

Village gateway with 20mph speed 
limit and unique gateway sign

Trellech Welcome Point - A focal 
point for tourists or hub formed around 
the existing pub

Traffic calming street design 
such as raised crossings, material 
changes, pedestrian priority spaces 
and landscape planting as part of 
nature based solutions to managing 
rain water. Design interventions will 
focus on village entry points and key 
locations including the space between 
Babington Centre and the Church of St 
Nicholas

Community-led lowland meadow 
enhancement - engaging with local 
landowners, Gwent Wildlife Trust and 
the local community to determine 
interest, viability and potential delivery 
of lowland meadow enhancement.

A low impact tourist site related to 
the local historic assets and medieval 
village. Please note the location has 
not been confirmed and would require 
private land owner agreement.

3

4

5

5.10 Trellech

Page 96



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 79

Trellech Trail

The Church of St 
Nicholas in the Parish 
of Trellech

Babington Centre

Tump Terret

Harold’s Stones
The Virtuous Well

Trellech Primary School

Trellech Wet Meadow 
(existing)

1

3

1

1

2

4

4

5

4

1

1

4

2 2

Page 97



80    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

5.10 Trellech Action Plan
NO. INITIATIVE DETAIL TYPE PRIORITY DELIVERY 

MECHANISM

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING 

SOURCE

BUDGET 

AVAILABILITY 

 POSSIBLE 

BUDGET

CONTRIBUTOR / 

COLLABORATOR

Opportunity -Encourage lower vehicle speeds. 
Opportunity - Explore further the potential to create low-impact tourist accommodation
Opportunity - Extend the existing community meadows project
Opportunity - Lowland meadow enhancement
Opportunity - Low impact tourism
Opportunity - Enhance the sense of place through new signage and gateway markers

5.10.1 Road 
Safety and 
placemaking

Creation of village gateway signage. Align 
this with the approach to the network of 
villages by assigning a particular theme/
name for each village. Highlight the 
presence of the Trellech Trail.

Development project/pilot High - Quick Win MCC MCC/Community 
council

MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation.  
Potential 
project 
funding via 
WG Active 
Travel Funding 
& Local 
Transport 
Fund, 
Sustainable 
Landscapes 
Sustainable 
Places 
funding.

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

£10-15k subject 
to detail design

MCC, AONB, 
Community 
Councils, 

5.10.2 Road Safety 20mph speed limit through village Development project/pilot High - Quick Win MCC MCC/WG Welsh 
Government 
Local 
Transport 
Fund

Identified within 
forthcoming 
budget

tbc MCC,WG, 
Community Councils

5.10.3 Street Design Detail design changes to the street to 
encourage lower speeds such as raised 
crossings, material changes, pedestrian 
priority spaces and landscape planting 
as part of nature based solutions to 
managing rain water. To be defined via 
the recommended coordinated village 
street design. Focus design interventions 
on village entry points and key locations 
including the space between the 
Babington Centre and the Church of St 
Nicholas.

Development project/pilot High MCC MCC/Community 
Council

MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation.  
Potential 
project 
funding via 
WG Active 
Travel Funding 
& Local 
Transport 
Fund (2021-22 
Round)

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc - dependent 
on scale and 
specification of 
improvement.

MCC, WG, 
Community Councils

Page 98



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 81

5.10 Trellech Action Plan
NO. INITIATIVE DETAIL TYPE PRIORITY DELIVERY 

MECHANISM

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING 

SOURCE

BUDGET 

AVAILABILITY 

 POSSIBLE 

BUDGET

CONTRIBUTOR / 

COLLABORATOR

Opportunity -Encourage lower vehicle speeds. 
Opportunity - Explore further the potential to create low-impact tourist accommodation
Opportunity - Extend the existing community meadows project
Opportunity - Lowland meadow enhancement
Opportunity - Low impact tourism
Opportunity - Enhance the sense of place through new signage and gateway markers

5.10.1 Road 
Safety and 
placemaking

Creation of village gateway signage. Align 
this with the approach to the network of 
villages by assigning a particular theme/
name for each village. Highlight the 
presence of the Trellech Trail.

Development project/pilot High - Quick Win MCC MCC/Community 
council

MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation.  
Potential 
project 
funding via 
WG Active 
Travel Funding 
& Local 
Transport 
Fund, 
Sustainable 
Landscapes 
Sustainable 
Places 
funding.

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

£10-15k subject 
to detail design

MCC, AONB, 
Community 
Councils, 

5.10.2 Road Safety 20mph speed limit through village Development project/pilot High - Quick Win MCC MCC/WG Welsh 
Government 
Local 
Transport 
Fund

Identified within 
forthcoming 
budget

tbc MCC,WG, 
Community Councils

5.10.3 Street Design Detail design changes to the street to 
encourage lower speeds such as raised 
crossings, material changes, pedestrian 
priority spaces and landscape planting 
as part of nature based solutions to 
managing rain water. To be defined via 
the recommended coordinated village 
street design. Focus design interventions 
on village entry points and key locations 
including the space between the 
Babington Centre and the Church of St 
Nicholas.

Development project/pilot High MCC MCC/Community 
Council

MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation.  
Potential 
project 
funding via 
WG Active 
Travel Funding 
& Local 
Transport 
Fund (2021-22 
Round)

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc - dependent 
on scale and 
specification of 
improvement.

MCC, WG, 
Community Councils

Page 99



82    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

5.10.4 Trellech 
Welcome Point

Work with Babington Hall/operators of the 
Lion Inn to explore opportunities to align 
street improvements with broader touristic 
opportunities such as signage and 
wayfinding to nearby historic attractions 
and footpaths and tourist information.

Community based project High Partnership Community Council/
private operator

Multiple 
Funding 
Sources to be 
defined

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc - subject 
to level of 
intervention 
agreed.

MCC, Community 
Councils, private 
businesses

5.10.5 Low impact 
tourist site

Undertake early engagement with 
local landowners, MCC planning and 
community councils to test interest in 
developing a low impact tourist site 
related to the local historic assets and 
medieval village. Ensure synergy with 
any emerging update to the sustainable 
tourism strategy

Further study Medium Partnership MCC/Community 
Council

No initial 
capital 
required

Exists within 
current budget

n/a MCC/Community 
Council

5.10.6 Community-
led lowland 
meadow 
enhancement

Engage with local landowners, Gwent 
Wild life Trust and the local community to 
determine  interest, viability and potential 
delivery of lowland meadow enhancement

Development project/pilot High Joint Venture Monmouthshire 
Meadow Group

Multiple 
Funding 
Sources to be 
defined

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc - dependent 
on scale of 
improvement. 
Consider the use 
of crowd funding

Community Council, 
Monmouthshire 
Meadows Groups 
AONB, MCC, Wildlife 
partner (e.g. Gwent 
Wildlife Trust).

5.10 Trellech Action Plan
NO. INITIATIVE DETAIL TYPE PRIORITY DELIVERY 

MECHANISM

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING 

SOURCE

BUDGET 

AVAILABILITY 

 POSSIBLE 

BUDGET

CONTRIBUTOR / 

COLLABORATOR

Page 100



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 83

5.10.4 Trellech 
Welcome Point

Work with Babington Hall/operators of the 
Lion Inn to explore opportunities to align 
street improvements with broader touristic 
opportunities such as signage and 
wayfinding to nearby historic attractions 
and footpaths and tourist information.

Community based project High Partnership Community Council/
private operator

Multiple 
Funding 
Sources to be 
defined

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc - subject 
to level of 
intervention 
agreed.

MCC, Community 
Councils, private 
businesses

5.10.5 Low impact 
tourist site

Undertake early engagement with 
local landowners, MCC planning and 
community councils to test interest in 
developing a low impact tourist site 
related to the local historic assets and 
medieval village. Ensure synergy with 
any emerging update to the sustainable 
tourism strategy

Further study Medium Partnership MCC/Community 
Council

No initial 
capital 
required

Exists within 
current budget

n/a MCC/Community 
Council

5.10.6 Community-
led lowland 
meadow 
enhancement

Engage with local landowners, Gwent 
Wild life Trust and the local community to 
determine  interest, viability and potential 
delivery of lowland meadow enhancement

Development project/pilot High Joint Venture Monmouthshire 
Meadow Group

Multiple 
Funding 
Sources to be 
defined

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc - dependent 
on scale of 
improvement. 
Consider the use 
of crowd funding

Community Council, 
Monmouthshire 
Meadows Groups 
AONB, MCC, Wildlife 
partner (e.g. Gwent 
Wildlife Trust).

5.10 Trellech Action Plan
NO. INITIATIVE DETAIL TYPE PRIORITY DELIVERY 

MECHANISM

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING 

SOURCE

BUDGET 

AVAILABILITY 

 POSSIBLE 

BUDGET

CONTRIBUTOR / 

COLLABORATOR

Page 101



84    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

The following pages contain the overarching 
actions that will deliver the six point plan.

5.11 The Action Plan

1 Ensure safe and sustainable transport

NO. INITIATIVE DETAIL TYPE PRIORITY DELIVERY 
MECHANISM

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING 
SOURCE

BUDGET 
AVAILABILITY 

 POSSIBLE 
BUDGET

CONTRIBUTOR / 
COLLABORATOR

1.1 Road Safety and sustainable transport strategy

Opportunity - Encourage lower vehicle speeds
Opportunity - Improve the appearance of the Wye Valley Villages through revised street design
Opportunity - Improve the pedestrian and cyclist experience and safety to encourage more active travel
Opportunity - Improve biodiversity flood resilience

1.1.1 Coordinated 
Village Street 
Design 

Undertake detailed design and delivery 
for each of the villages using a common 
approach to provide a ‘kit of parts’ 
applicable to any village. Implement this 
consistent design approach, based on 
shared objectives amongst stakeholders.  
Identify pilot projects to provide early trials/
demonstrations of the ideas. Equivalent 
RIBA Stage 5.

Development project/pilot High MCC MCC MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation.  
Potential 
project 
funding via 
WG Active 
Travel Funding 
& Local 
Transport 
Fund

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

% of 
construction 
budget

MCC, AONB, 
Community Councils, 
Bus Operators

1.1.2 Sustainable 
transport 
strategy

Instruct a study to detail a sustainable 
transport strategy. The study should 
provide details for delivering improved 
bus services, mobility hubs and active 
travel infrastructure to support sustainable 
tourism and community travel needs. 
The study should include the recreational 
routes within the Wye Valley to respond 
to concerns over maintenance and 
access for people of all ages and abilities. 
Particular focus should be afforded to 
the potential extension of the Wye Valley 
Greenway as touristic, active travel and 
habitat opportunity. This could form the 
basis of a future Levelling Up Fund bid.

Further study High MCC MCC MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation.  
Potential 
project 
funding via 
WG Active 
Travel Funding 
& Local 
Transport 
Fund, 
Sustainable 
Landscapes 
Sustainable 
Places fund

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

£50k - £100k MCC, AONB, 
Community Councils, 
TfW, Bus operators

Page 102



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 85

1 Ensure safe and sustainable transport

NO. INITIATIVE DETAIL TYPE PRIORITY DELIVERY 
MECHANISM

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING 
SOURCE

BUDGET 
AVAILABILITY 

 POSSIBLE 
BUDGET

CONTRIBUTOR / 
COLLABORATOR

1.1 Road Safety and sustainable transport strategy

Opportunity - Encourage lower vehicle speeds
Opportunity - Improve the appearance of the Wye Valley Villages through revised street design
Opportunity - Improve the pedestrian and cyclist experience and safety to encourage more active travel
Opportunity - Improve biodiversity flood resilience

1.1.1 Coordinated 
Village Street 
Design 

Undertake detailed design and delivery 
for each of the villages using a common 
approach to provide a ‘kit of parts’ 
applicable to any village. Implement this 
consistent design approach, based on 
shared objectives amongst stakeholders.  
Identify pilot projects to provide early trials/
demonstrations of the ideas. Equivalent 
RIBA Stage 5.

Development project/pilot High MCC MCC MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation.  
Potential 
project 
funding via 
WG Active 
Travel Funding 
& Local 
Transport 
Fund

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

% of 
construction 
budget

MCC, AONB, 
Community Councils, 
Bus Operators

1.1.2 Sustainable 
transport 
strategy

Instruct a study to detail a sustainable 
transport strategy. The study should 
provide details for delivering improved 
bus services, mobility hubs and active 
travel infrastructure to support sustainable 
tourism and community travel needs. 
The study should include the recreational 
routes within the Wye Valley to respond 
to concerns over maintenance and 
access for people of all ages and abilities. 
Particular focus should be afforded to 
the potential extension of the Wye Valley 
Greenway as touristic, active travel and 
habitat opportunity. This could form the 
basis of a future Levelling Up Fund bid.

Further study High MCC MCC MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation.  
Potential 
project 
funding via 
WG Active 
Travel Funding 
& Local 
Transport 
Fund, 
Sustainable 
Landscapes 
Sustainable 
Places fund

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

£50k - £100k MCC, AONB, 
Community Councils, 
TfW, Bus operators

Page 103



86    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

2 Conserve and enhance the landscape
NO. INITIATIVE DETAIL TYPE PRIORITY DELIVERY 

MECHANISM

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING 

SOURCE 

BUDGET 

AVAILABILITY 

POSSIBLE 

BUDGET

CONTRIBUTOR / 

COLLABORATOR

2.1 Health Plan for the River Wye

Opportunity -Improve the health and ecology of the River Wye

2.1.1 Whole Catchment 
Strategy 

Maintain input into the Wye Nutrient Board, 
the Wye Catchment Partnership and 
related activity to support and promote 
actions to improve river water quality.

Partnership activity Medium MCC/AONB/
NRW

MCC/AONB/NRW/
Welsh Water

Alignment 
of multiple 
operating 
budgets. 
Welsh Water, 
NRW,MCC, 
AONB.

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc - subject 
to level of 
intervention 
agreed

AONB, MCC, Welsh 
Water, EA, NRW, 
Local Authorities 
(Wales and England)

2.1.2 Nature based 
solutions

Support nature based solutions and 
climate change mitigation approaches 
for the Wye Valley to aid delivery of the 
AONB Management Plan, MCC Green 
Infrastructure Strategy and Nature 
Recovery Plans.

Partnership activity High MCC/AONB/
NRW

MCC/AONB Alignment 
of multiple 
operating 
budgets/
new budgets, 
SLSP etc.

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc - subject 
to level of 
intervention 
agreed

MCC/AONB/NRW

2.1.3 Community 
Projects

Encourage local action, community 
awareness initiatives and demonstration 
projects. Encourage participation in citizen 
science, including the Wye Catchment 
Monitoring Project.  

Community based 
project

Medium Third Sector/
MCC/AONB/
Community 
Councils

MCC/AONB/Welsh 
Water

Multiple 
operating 
budget 
alignment. 
Welsh Water, 
NRW,MCC, 
AONB 
operating 
budget, SDF 
grant

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc - subject 
to level of 
intervention 
agreed

Welsh 

2.2 Green Villages Initiative

Opportunity - Create community projects aligned to the strategic aims of the AONB

2.2.1 Green Villages 
Initiative

Work with community councils and other 
community groups (e.g. school) to initiate 
a series of localised projects which align 
with the AONB Management Plan, MCC 
policy (eg 2014 Pollinator Policy) and 
WG policy.  For example, localised food 
production, micro habitat creation and 
community agriculture and planting at 
village entry points or approaches. Explore 
opportunities to integrate citizen science to 
help monitor and evaluate interventions 

Community based 
project

High - Quick Win Third Sector AONB/Community 
groups and 
community councils

UK Shared 
Prosperity 
Fund. 
Funding 
grant e.g. 
Ashley Family 
Foundation. 
Collaboration 
with NRW/
Woodland 
Trust

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

£1m + to be 
eligible at scale 
for future fund 
criteria.   
Or Small 
Community 
Grants/
Philanthropic 
donations.

Community Councils, 
local school, MCC, 
NRW, AONB, 
Woodland trust 
Wales

Page 104



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 87

2 Conserve and enhance the landscape
NO. INITIATIVE DETAIL TYPE PRIORITY DELIVERY 

MECHANISM

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING 

SOURCE 

BUDGET 

AVAILABILITY 

POSSIBLE 

BUDGET

CONTRIBUTOR / 

COLLABORATOR

2.1 Health Plan for the River Wye

Opportunity -Improve the health and ecology of the River Wye

2.1.1 Whole Catchment 
Strategy 

Maintain input into the Wye Nutrient Board, 
the Wye Catchment Partnership and 
related activity to support and promote 
actions to improve river water quality.

Partnership activity Medium MCC/AONB/
NRW

MCC/AONB/NRW/
Welsh Water

Alignment 
of multiple 
operating 
budgets. 
Welsh Water, 
NRW,MCC, 
AONB.

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc - subject 
to level of 
intervention 
agreed

AONB, MCC, Welsh 
Water, EA, NRW, 
Local Authorities 
(Wales and England)

2.1.2 Nature based 
solutions

Support nature based solutions and 
climate change mitigation approaches 
for the Wye Valley to aid delivery of the 
AONB Management Plan, MCC Green 
Infrastructure Strategy and Nature 
Recovery Plans.

Partnership activity High MCC/AONB/
NRW

MCC/AONB Alignment 
of multiple 
operating 
budgets/
new budgets, 
SLSP etc.

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc - subject 
to level of 
intervention 
agreed

MCC/AONB/NRW

2.1.3 Community 
Projects

Encourage local action, community 
awareness initiatives and demonstration 
projects. Encourage participation in citizen 
science, including the Wye Catchment 
Monitoring Project.  

Community based 
project

Medium Third Sector/
MCC/AONB/
Community 
Councils

MCC/AONB/Welsh 
Water

Multiple 
operating 
budget 
alignment. 
Welsh Water, 
NRW,MCC, 
AONB 
operating 
budget, SDF 
grant

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbc - subject 
to level of 
intervention 
agreed

Welsh 

2.2 Green Villages Initiative

Opportunity - Create community projects aligned to the strategic aims of the AONB

2.2.1 Green Villages 
Initiative

Work with community councils and other 
community groups (e.g. school) to initiate 
a series of localised projects which align 
with the AONB Management Plan, MCC 
policy (eg 2014 Pollinator Policy) and 
WG policy.  For example, localised food 
production, micro habitat creation and 
community agriculture and planting at 
village entry points or approaches. Explore 
opportunities to integrate citizen science to 
help monitor and evaluate interventions 

Community based 
project

High - Quick Win Third Sector AONB/Community 
groups and 
community councils

UK Shared 
Prosperity 
Fund. 
Funding 
grant e.g. 
Ashley Family 
Foundation. 
Collaboration 
with NRW/
Woodland 
Trust

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

£1m + to be 
eligible at scale 
for future fund 
criteria.   
Or Small 
Community 
Grants/
Philanthropic 
donations.

Community Councils, 
local school, MCC, 
NRW, AONB, 
Woodland trust 
Wales

Page 105



88    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

2.3 Pilots for sustainable farming

Opportunity - Deliver a pilot project to demonstrate practices and techniques for sustainable agriculture and build new partnerships.

2.3.1 Sustainable 
Farming Pilot

Public sector led demonstrator for 
sustainable land management.   Engage 
with the NFU, NRW, Coleg Gwent and local 
farmers to identify willing collaborators 
for land management pilots. Support with 
the strategic aims of the project and help 
initiate. Measure outcomes and lessons 
learned. Align this with MCC

Development project/
pilot

Medium JV AONB/MCC Coleg Gwent 
contribution. 
Sustainable 
production 
grant (Wales). 
Farm 
Business 
Grant (Wales). 
Glastir Small 
Grants 
scheme 
(Wales). 
UK Shared 
Prosperity 
scheme.

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

If of sufficient 
scale consider 
UK Shared 
Prosperity Fund 
(For example as 
part of a county 
wide strategy).  
Alternatively 
small scale 
delivered in 
collaboration 
with Coleg 
Gwent - circa 
£25,000. 
Additional 
funding sources 
are available to 
supplement a 
smaller scale 
project. 

NFU, NRW, MCC, 
Coleg Gwent, local 
land owners, Wye 
and Usk Foundation. 

2.4 Carbon Footprint Analysis

Opportunity - Understand existing carbon footprint of the AONB and share knowledge with partners

2.4.1 Implement actions/
recommendations 
from the AONB 
Carbon Footprint 
Analysis

Starting in January a carbon footprint 
analysis for the whole Wye Valley AONB 
will be undertaken. The methodology is 
a carbon footprint model developed for 
the  National Parks in England, based 
predominantly on bottom-up consumption-
based estimates of postcode-level activities 
both for domestic and non-domestic 
actors, namely Residents, Visitors and 
Industries. 

Further study High AONB AONB MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

n/a MCC, AONB

2 Conserve and enhance the landscape
NO. INITIATIVE DETAIL TYPE PRIORITY DELIVERY 

MECHANISM

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING 

SOURCE 

BUDGET 

AVAILABILITY 

POSSIBLE 

BUDGET

CONTRIBUTOR / 

COLLABORATOR

Page 106



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 89

2.3 Pilots for sustainable farming

Opportunity - Deliver a pilot project to demonstrate practices and techniques for sustainable agriculture and build new partnerships.

2.3.1 Sustainable 
Farming Pilot

Public sector led demonstrator for 
sustainable land management.   Engage 
with the NFU, NRW, Coleg Gwent and local 
farmers to identify willing collaborators 
for land management pilots. Support with 
the strategic aims of the project and help 
initiate. Measure outcomes and lessons 
learned. Align this with MCC

Development project/
pilot

Medium JV AONB/MCC Coleg Gwent 
contribution. 
Sustainable 
production 
grant (Wales). 
Farm 
Business 
Grant (Wales). 
Glastir Small 
Grants 
scheme 
(Wales). 
UK Shared 
Prosperity 
scheme.

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

If of sufficient 
scale consider 
UK Shared 
Prosperity Fund 
(For example as 
part of a county 
wide strategy).  
Alternatively 
small scale 
delivered in 
collaboration 
with Coleg 
Gwent - circa 
£25,000. 
Additional 
funding sources 
are available to 
supplement a 
smaller scale 
project. 

NFU, NRW, MCC, 
Coleg Gwent, local 
land owners, Wye 
and Usk Foundation. 

2.4 Carbon Footprint Analysis

Opportunity - Understand existing carbon footprint of the AONB and share knowledge with partners

2.4.1 Implement actions/
recommendations 
from the AONB 
Carbon Footprint 
Analysis

Starting in January a carbon footprint 
analysis for the whole Wye Valley AONB 
will be undertaken. The methodology is 
a carbon footprint model developed for 
the  National Parks in England, based 
predominantly on bottom-up consumption-
based estimates of postcode-level activities 
both for domestic and non-domestic 
actors, namely Residents, Visitors and 
Industries. 

Further study High AONB AONB MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

n/a MCC, AONB

2 Conserve and enhance the landscape
NO. INITIATIVE DETAIL TYPE PRIORITY DELIVERY 

MECHANISM

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING 

SOURCE 

BUDGET 

AVAILABILITY 

POSSIBLE 

BUDGET

CONTRIBUTOR / 

COLLABORATOR

Page 107



90    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

4 Enable sustainable tourism
NO. INITIATIVE DETAIL TYPE PRIORITY DELIVERY 

MECHANISM

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING 

SOURCE

BUDGET 

AVAILABILITY 

POSSIBLE 

BUDGET

CONTRIBUTOR / 

COLLABORATOR 

4.1 New Tourism Strategy

Opportunity - Define geographic boundaries/governance of a tourism strategy
Opportunity - Create an improved balance between tourism benefits and tourism impacts on local communities
Opportunity - Improved productivity of the local economy 
Opportunity - Clear alignment with other policies and initiatives such as AONB Management plan and MCC policies

4.1.1 Sustainable 
tourism 
strategy and 
action plan 
update

Rapidly deliver an updated tourism strategy 
and action plan. This should be framed 
around a defined business case. The 
strategy should build upon the Wye Valley 
AONB Sustainable Tourism Strategy (2011-
2016) and Monmouthshire Destination 
Management Plan.

Further study High MCC MCC MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation.  
Business 
Wales Tourism 
Funding.

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbd MCC, AONB, 
Community Councils, 
VisitDeanWye, 
Adjoining LA’s

4.1.2 Hospitality 
& Tourism 
Sector 
Circular 
Economy 
Strategy 

Undertake a study which identifies 
opportunities for collaborative reuse and 
recycling of surplus food, drink and other 
materials. Opportunities for sustainable 
distribution (e.g. electric vehicle fleet). 
Improving efficiency and waste reduction 
in the local area. Translate the findings into 
action on the ground by undertaking an 
action plan.

Further study High MCC MCC WG Circular 
Economy 
Fund 
(Administered 
by WRAP).   
Welsh Tourism 
Investment 
Fund .   
Green Growth 
Fund (Wales). 
Circular 
economy for 
SMEs - NICER 
programme 
(part of 
Innovate UK).

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

£100k + MCC, AONB, 
Community Councils, 
VisitDeanWye, 
Adjoining LA’s

3 Retain and improve the network of unique villages
NO. INITIATIVE DETAIL TYPE PRIORITY DELIVERY 

MECHANISM

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING 

SOURCE

BUDGET 

AVAILABILITY 

POTENTIAL 

BUDGET

CONTRIBUTOR/ 

COLLABORATOR 

3.1 Placemaking

Opportunity - Coordinated approach to improvement of the Wye Valley and its villages

3.1.1 Village 
Improvement 
Plans

Please refer to the action plans for each 
village

Page 108



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 91

4 Enable sustainable tourism
NO. INITIATIVE DETAIL TYPE PRIORITY DELIVERY 

MECHANISM

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING 

SOURCE

BUDGET 

AVAILABILITY 

POSSIBLE 

BUDGET

CONTRIBUTOR / 

COLLABORATOR 

4.1 New Tourism Strategy

Opportunity - Define geographic boundaries/governance of a tourism strategy
Opportunity - Create an improved balance between tourism benefits and tourism impacts on local communities
Opportunity - Improved productivity of the local economy 
Opportunity - Clear alignment with other policies and initiatives such as AONB Management plan and MCC policies

4.1.1 Sustainable 
tourism 
strategy and 
action plan 
update

Rapidly deliver an updated tourism strategy 
and action plan. This should be framed 
around a defined business case. The 
strategy should build upon the Wye Valley 
AONB Sustainable Tourism Strategy (2011-
2016) and Monmouthshire Destination 
Management Plan.

Further study High MCC MCC MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation.  
Business 
Wales Tourism 
Funding.

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

tbd MCC, AONB, 
Community Councils, 
VisitDeanWye, 
Adjoining LA’s

4.1.2 Hospitality 
& Tourism 
Sector 
Circular 
Economy 
Strategy 

Undertake a study which identifies 
opportunities for collaborative reuse and 
recycling of surplus food, drink and other 
materials. Opportunities for sustainable 
distribution (e.g. electric vehicle fleet). 
Improving efficiency and waste reduction 
in the local area. Translate the findings into 
action on the ground by undertaking an 
action plan.

Further study High MCC MCC WG Circular 
Economy 
Fund 
(Administered 
by WRAP).   
Welsh Tourism 
Investment 
Fund .   
Green Growth 
Fund (Wales). 
Circular 
economy for 
SMEs - NICER 
programme 
(part of 
Innovate UK).

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

£100k + MCC, AONB, 
Community Councils, 
VisitDeanWye, 
Adjoining LA’s

3 Retain and improve the network of unique villages
NO. INITIATIVE DETAIL TYPE PRIORITY DELIVERY 

MECHANISM

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING 

SOURCE

BUDGET 

AVAILABILITY 

POTENTIAL 

BUDGET

CONTRIBUTOR/ 

COLLABORATOR 

3.1 Placemaking

Opportunity - Coordinated approach to improvement of the Wye Valley and its villages

3.1.1 Village 
Improvement 
Plans

Please refer to the action plans for each 
village

Page 109



92    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

5 Support the local economy
NO. INITIATIVE DETAIL TYPE PRIORITY DELIVERY 

MECHANISM

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING 

SOURCE

BUDGET 

AVAILABILITY 

POSSIBLE 

BUDGET

CONTRIBUTOR / 

COLLABORATOR

5.1 Local Economy

Opportunity - Improve entrepreneurship 
Opportunity - Provide more affordable housing
Opportunity - Raise the profile of the area as a place for business

5.1.1 Affordable housing strategy Linked to Local Plan update 
-revise Wye Valley Local 
Housing Needs Requirements 
specifically for the villages. 
Identify rural exception sites 
and potential public sector 
land to provide a diverse 
affordable housing offer to 
retain younger people and 
support local employment. 
Work with local communities 
to develop affordable housing 
that meets local need and 
benefits the local community 
through implementing the 
Rural Allocations Policy. 

Ongoing MCC initiative High MCC MCC Affordable 
Housing Team

MCC Housing 
Revenue 
Account  - 
subject to 
confirmation

Exists within 
current budget

n/a Arup, AONB, 
Community Councils

5.1.2 Remote Working Hub Pilot Work with WG and private 
operators such as IndyCube/
Pelham Hall to deliver a pilot 
remote working hub in one of 
the villages. Further feasibility 
on location, format and need 
for the hub to be progressed.

Development project/pilot High MCC/
Community 
Interest 
Company/
Private Operator

MCC WG Remote 
Working Hub 
initiative.

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

Potential 
£10k-25k for 
feasibility work 
(WG funding 
available). 

Arup, AONB, 
Community Councils

Page 110



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 93

5 Support the local economy
NO. INITIATIVE DETAIL TYPE PRIORITY DELIVERY 

MECHANISM

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING 

SOURCE

BUDGET 

AVAILABILITY 

POSSIBLE 

BUDGET

CONTRIBUTOR / 

COLLABORATOR

5.1 Local Economy

Opportunity - Improve entrepreneurship 
Opportunity - Provide more affordable housing
Opportunity - Raise the profile of the area as a place for business

5.1.1 Affordable housing strategy Linked to Local Plan update 
-revise Wye Valley Local 
Housing Needs Requirements 
specifically for the villages. 
Identify rural exception sites 
and potential public sector 
land to provide a diverse 
affordable housing offer to 
retain younger people and 
support local employment. 
Work with local communities 
to develop affordable housing 
that meets local need and 
benefits the local community 
through implementing the 
Rural Allocations Policy. 

Ongoing MCC initiative High MCC MCC Affordable 
Housing Team

MCC Housing 
Revenue 
Account  - 
subject to 
confirmation

Exists within 
current budget

n/a Arup, AONB, 
Community Councils

5.1.2 Remote Working Hub Pilot Work with WG and private 
operators such as IndyCube/
Pelham Hall to deliver a pilot 
remote working hub in one of 
the villages. Further feasibility 
on location, format and need 
for the hub to be progressed.

Development project/pilot High MCC/
Community 
Interest 
Company/
Private Operator

MCC WG Remote 
Working Hub 
initiative.

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

Potential 
£10k-25k for 
feasibility work 
(WG funding 
available). 

Arup, AONB, 
Community Councils

Page 111



94    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

5.1.3 Targeted circular economy 
fund/bid support for 
local producers and land 
managers.

Explore current circular 
economy funds to identify 
localised opportunities. 
Increase entrepreneurship, 
capacity, earnings, retention 
of economically active people 
within the production sector 
(e.g. food and drink) around 
the principle of a local circular 
economy.

Further study High MCC MCC WG Circular 
economy fund. 
Sustainable 
development 
fund (AONB). 
Sustainable 
production 
grant. 
Accelerated 
Growth 
Programme 
(business 
wales). 
Green Growth 
Fund (WG). 
Project Helix 
fund Wales. 
Cywain 
programme 

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

Total value of 
funding could 
exceed £500k+

Arup, AONB, 
Community Councils

5.1.4 Halls Together Project MCC/RDP project to 
encourage and facilitate 
Community Facilities to 
work together to share best 
practice and benefit from joint 
ventures such as training, 
bulk purchasing, compliance 
and funding. Areas of focus 
have been identified through 
a questionniare to hall 
community facilities. Project 
is being guided by a steerign 
group of represenatives from 
village halls and community 
councils. 

Community Project High MCC/ Project 
Steering Group

MCC RDP LEADER MCC/ Community 
Facilities & 
Community Councils

5 Support the local economy
NO. INITIATIVE DETAIL TYPE PRIORITY DELIVERY 

MECHANISM

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING 

SOURCE

BUDGET 

AVAILABILITY 

POSSIBLE 

BUDGET

CONTRIBUTOR / 

COLLABORATOR

Page 112



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 95

5.1.3 Targeted circular economy 
fund/bid support for 
local producers and land 
managers.

Explore current circular 
economy funds to identify 
localised opportunities. 
Increase entrepreneurship, 
capacity, earnings, retention 
of economically active people 
within the production sector 
(e.g. food and drink) around 
the principle of a local circular 
economy.

Further study High MCC MCC WG Circular 
economy fund. 
Sustainable 
development 
fund (AONB). 
Sustainable 
production 
grant. 
Accelerated 
Growth 
Programme 
(business 
wales). 
Green Growth 
Fund (WG). 
Project Helix 
fund Wales. 
Cywain 
programme 

Budget would 
need to be 
secured

Total value of 
funding could 
exceed £500k+

Arup, AONB, 
Community Councils

5.1.4 Halls Together Project MCC/RDP project to 
encourage and facilitate 
Community Facilities to 
work together to share best 
practice and benefit from joint 
ventures such as training, 
bulk purchasing, compliance 
and funding. Areas of focus 
have been identified through 
a questionniare to hall 
community facilities. Project 
is being guided by a steerign 
group of represenatives from 
village halls and community 
councils. 

Community Project High MCC/ Project 
Steering Group

MCC RDP LEADER MCC/ Community 
Facilities & 
Community Councils

5 Support the local economy
NO. INITIATIVE DETAIL TYPE PRIORITY DELIVERY 

MECHANISM

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING 

SOURCE

BUDGET 

AVAILABILITY 

POSSIBLE 

BUDGET

CONTRIBUTOR / 

COLLABORATOR

Page 113



96    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

6 Provide joined-up governance
NO. INITIATIVE DETAIL TYPE PRIORITY DELIVERY 

MECHANISM

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING 

SOURCE

BUDGET 

AVAILABILITY 

POTENTIAL 

BUDGET

CONTRIBUTOR 

6.1 Governance

Opportunity - Continued partnership working
Opportunity - Renewed cross border collaboration

6.1.1 Establish a 
delivery group

Maintain the formal partnership between 
MCC, Wye Valley AONB and the 
community councils for project planning, 
feasibility, business development, 
implementation and engagement.

New/extended partnership High Partnership All parties. MCC lead MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation

Exists within 
current budget

n/a MCC, AONB, 
Community Councils

6.1.2 Cross Border 
Working

The project presents an opportunity to 
reinvigorate partnerships with adjacent 
LA’s e.g. FoD, Herefordshire around key 
subjects such as sustainable tourism, 
sustainable transport and the River Wye 
water quality. Undertake knowledge share 
workshops and seek a common approach 
and identify opportunities for further 
collaboration.

New/extended partnership High Partnership All parties. MCC lead Operational 
budget

Exists within 
current budget

n/a MCC, AONB, 
Community Councils, 
Parish Councils, 
FoD District Council, 
Gloucestershire 
County Council, 
Herefordshire Council

5.1.5 Improving Digital 
Connectivity

On completion of the WG 
Open Market Review which 
will identify future plans for 
digital infrastructure rollout, 
MCC/RDP to consider an 
application to the WG Local 
Broadband Fund in 2022/23.  
Application will focus on 
improvements to digital 
connectivity through the use 
of a range of appropriate 
technologies which take into 
account the topography of 
the Valley.

High - Quick Win MCC Budget would 
need to be 
secured

MCC/ Community 
Facilities & 
Community Councils

5 Support the local economy
NO. INITIATIVE DETAIL TYPE PRIORITY DELIVERY 

MECHANISM

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING 

SOURCE

BUDGET 

AVAILABILITY 

POSSIBLE 

BUDGET

CONTRIBUTOR / 

COLLABORATOR

Page 114



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 97

6 Provide joined-up governance
NO. INITIATIVE DETAIL TYPE PRIORITY DELIVERY 

MECHANISM

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING 

SOURCE

BUDGET 

AVAILABILITY 

POTENTIAL 

BUDGET

CONTRIBUTOR 

6.1 Governance

Opportunity - Continued partnership working
Opportunity - Renewed cross border collaboration

6.1.1 Establish a 
delivery group

Maintain the formal partnership between 
MCC, Wye Valley AONB and the 
community councils for project planning, 
feasibility, business development, 
implementation and engagement.

New/extended partnership High Partnership All parties. MCC lead MCC 
Operational 
Budget - 
subject to 
confirmation

Exists within 
current budget

n/a MCC, AONB, 
Community Councils

6.1.2 Cross Border 
Working

The project presents an opportunity to 
reinvigorate partnerships with adjacent 
LA’s e.g. FoD, Herefordshire around key 
subjects such as sustainable tourism, 
sustainable transport and the River Wye 
water quality. Undertake knowledge share 
workshops and seek a common approach 
and identify opportunities for further 
collaboration.

New/extended partnership High Partnership All parties. MCC lead Operational 
budget

Exists within 
current budget

n/a MCC, AONB, 
Community Councils, 
Parish Councils, 
FoD District Council, 
Gloucestershire 
County Council, 
Herefordshire Council

5.1.5 Improving Digital 
Connectivity

On completion of the WG 
Open Market Review which 
will identify future plans for 
digital infrastructure rollout, 
MCC/RDP to consider an 
application to the WG Local 
Broadband Fund in 2022/23.  
Application will focus on 
improvements to digital 
connectivity through the use 
of a range of appropriate 
technologies which take into 
account the topography of 
the Valley.

High - Quick Win MCC Budget would 
need to be 
secured

MCC/ Community 
Facilities & 
Community Councils

5 Support the local economy
NO. INITIATIVE DETAIL TYPE PRIORITY DELIVERY 

MECHANISM

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING 

SOURCE

BUDGET 

AVAILABILITY 

POSSIBLE 

BUDGET

CONTRIBUTOR / 

COLLABORATOR

Page 115



98    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

6 .   N E X T  S T E P S

Monmouthshire County Council, the 
Wye Valley AONB Partnership, Devauden 
Community Council, TIntern Community 
Council, Trellech United Community 
Council and St Arvan’s Community 
Council agree a plan is needed to 
address road safety.

 ▪ In partnership with Arup, the Wye Valley 
Villages plan is created. 

 ▪ The plan identifies a number of priority 
projects and outlines how these can be 
delivered.

 ▪ The plan responds to the need for a more 
joined approach which includes for example 
tourism, landscape and the local economy.

This current project ends here

The Start
2020

The six point plan
2022

The Wye 
Valley 
Villages 
plan

6.1 How will the plan evolve and be 
delivered?

This is one of the most frequently asked 
questions and it is important to understand 
what this plan will do and where it will lead. 
Expectations will have been raised through the 
process and naturally people will be impatient 
to see change on the ground.  The process is 
illustrated below. Immediate actions should be:

Establish the delivery group and define 
who is involved, who is leading and where 
responsibility lies.

Identifying and agree on priority projects 
to be taken forward. In doing so establish 
where funding is likely to come from with 
particularly attention to the Welsh Government 
Infrastructure Finance Plan (2022-23 to 2024-
25).

Test the appetite for ‘quick win’ community led 
initiatives such as the ‘Green Villages Initiatives’ 
with local people and existing groups with 
similar aims and objectives.

Page 116



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 99

 ▪ The priority projects will be identified and 
developed further subject to funding. 

 ▪ A decision will be made on who is best 
placed to take these forward and who they 
should partner with

 ▪ Early ‘quick-win’ projects will be delivered if 
possible such as gateway signage.

 ▪ Action Plan to be a living document, revised 
and added to overtime.

 ▪ Potential pilot projects may take place. 
Further public engagement will be conducted 
on the detailed proposals. 

 ▪ Larger projects such as the coordinated 
street design will evolve and begin to be 
implemented subject to funding.

 ▪ Continued engagement between the key 
stakeholders including the community 
councils, Monmouthshire County Council 
and Wye Valley AONB Partnership

Detailing the projects
2022

Change on the ground 2022 - 
onward

Page 117



100    DRAFT  Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

Appendix 1 
Llandogo Illustrative plan

Page 118



DRAFT  Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 101
Page 119



102    DRAFT  Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

Following public consultation feedback and 
the formation of the Action Plan, an additional 
concept plan was developed to demonstrate 
the potential interventions in more detail. 
Llandogo was the suitable candidate for 
representing a typical village among the Wye 
Valley Villages. Also within this package is a 
mood board which uses sample imagery to 
describe the look and feel of the proposed 
interventions. Lastly, indicative costs are offered 
for potential budget estimation.

The enclosed drawings are a draft at this 
stage and are offered for discussion with 
Monmouthshire County Council.

Page 120



DRAFT  Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 103

TIMBER 

STONE

METAL

Timber is used to represent the natural 
landcape of the Wye Valley

Stone is inspired by the landscape and 
local geology. It is also one of the materials 
used in historic buildings of the area

Metal is a tribute to the early 
industrialisation of the area

Page 121



104    DRAFT  Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

A1 A B C D E F G H I J K L M N

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

Do not scale

Role

Arup Job No

Suitability

Name

Rev

Project Title

Client

© Arup

Rev Date By Chkd Appd

Scale at A1

Drawing Title

Llandogo Illustrative Plan

1:1500

DRAFT

Placemaking

279417-00

Monmouthshire County Council

Wye Valley Villages- 
Plan for the future

4 Pierhead Street
Cardiff CF10 4QP
Tel +44 (0)29 2047 3727
www.arup.com

DRAFT

Existing footpath/PROW

Potential new paths (subject to 
land ownership agreements)

Disused railway tranformed into 
cycle path

Potential extension of cycle path 
to connect to The Greenway

Existing trees

Improved/ new bus shelter

Village gateway sign

Seating

Bollard with lights

Sustainable Urban Drainage 
(SuDS)

Sustainable Urban Drainage 
(SuDS)

Retained hedgerow

Raised road surface

Low tra�c zone 

Improved/ new footpaths

Lowland meadow creation

KEY

Raised road surface with a 
change in material. 
Ground lights and 
markings to slow tra�c

Bioswale and SuDS with a 
new path and seating. New 
path leads to Millennium 
Hall and school

Village gateway sign

Improved bus shelter

Retained hedgrow and 
additional wild�ower planting. 
Road kerb removed for 
improved water �ltration

Raised road surface 
with a change in 
material. Ground 
lights and markings 
to slow tra�c Village gateway sign

SuDS- 
drains

SuDS

Bus shelter

Seating

SuDS

New path

Raised road surface with a 
change in material. Bollards  
with lighting around Memorial 
Green to slow tra�c

Community garden/ 
community gathering space

Tables and 
benches

Raised beds - 
food growing

Improved play area with 
natural play elements

Seating around 
play area

Raised beds for school - 
food growing

Outdoor classroom 
space with canopy

SuDS

Seating along river path

Potential new river 
access paths (subject to 
land owner approvals)

Potential new river 
access paths (subject to 
land owner approvals)

Potential new river 
access paths (subject to 
land owner approvals)

Disused railway converted to 
cycle path. Potentially linking 
with The Greenway cycle path

Lowland meadows 

Lowland meadows 
interpretation boards

Lowland meadows 
interpretation boards

Lowland meadows 
interpretation boards

Lowland meadows 
interpretation boards

Decking platform or 
kayak launch point

Seating along cycle path

Improved footpath with 
seating along river

Seating along cycle path

Bioswale and SuDS with a 
new path and seating. 

Community garden/ 
community gathering space

Raised road surface with a change in materi-
al. Ground lights and markings to slow tra�c 

1

1

2

2

3

3

4

4

Page 122



DRAFT  Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 105

A1 A B C D E F G H I J K L M N

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

Do not scale

Role

Arup Job No

Suitability

Name

Rev

Project Title

Client

© Arup

Rev Date By Chkd Appd

Scale at A1

Drawing Title

Llandogo Illustrative Plan

1:1500

DRAFT

Placemaking

279417-00

Monmouthshire County Council

Wye Valley Villages- 
Plan for the future

4 Pierhead Street
Cardiff CF10 4QP
Tel +44 (0)29 2047 3727
www.arup.com

DRAFT

Existing footpath/PROW

Potential new paths (subject to 
land ownership agreements)

Disused railway tranformed into 
cycle path

Potential extension of cycle path 
to connect to The Greenway

Existing trees

Improved/ new bus shelter

Village gateway sign

Seating

Bollard with lights

Sustainable Urban Drainage 
(SuDS)

Sustainable Urban Drainage 
(SuDS)

Retained hedgerow

Raised road surface

Low tra�c zone 

Improved/ new footpaths

Lowland meadow creation

KEY

Raised road surface with a 
change in material. 
Ground lights and 
markings to slow tra�c

Bioswale and SuDS with a 
new path and seating. New 
path leads to Millennium 
Hall and school

Village gateway sign

Improved bus shelter

Retained hedgrow and 
additional wild�ower planting. 
Road kerb removed for 
improved water �ltration

Raised road surface 
with a change in 
material. Ground 
lights and markings 
to slow tra�c Village gateway sign

SuDS- 
drains

SuDS

Bus shelter

Seating

SuDS

New path

Raised road surface with a 
change in material. Bollards  
with lighting around Memorial 
Green to slow tra�c

Community garden/ 
community gathering space

Tables and 
benches

Raised beds - 
food growing

Improved play area with 
natural play elements

Seating around 
play area

Raised beds for school - 
food growing

Outdoor classroom 
space with canopy

SuDS

Seating along river path

Potential new river 
access paths (subject to 
land owner approvals)

Potential new river 
access paths (subject to 
land owner approvals)

Potential new river 
access paths (subject to 
land owner approvals)

Disused railway converted to 
cycle path. Potentially linking 
with The Greenway cycle path

Lowland meadows 

Lowland meadows 
interpretation boards

Lowland meadows 
interpretation boards

Lowland meadows 
interpretation boards

Lowland meadows 
interpretation boards

Decking platform or 
kayak launch point

Seating along cycle path

Improved footpath with 
seating along river

Seating along cycle path

Bioswale and SuDS with a 
new path and seating. 

Community garden/ 
community gathering space

Raised road surface with a change in materi-
al. Ground lights and markings to slow tra�c 

1

1

2

2

3

3

4

4

Page 123



106    DRAFT  Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

Bee-friendly bus stops - green roofs and 
live bus schedules Wayfinding & interpretation

Seating made of natural material such 
as stone or woodPermeable surfaces & SuDS

Natural play area

Page 124



DRAFT  Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 107

Wayfinding & interpretation

Lighting and street furniture River access

River views - seating and footpath along river front

Village gateway signs

Natural play

Page 125



108    DRAFT  Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

INDICATIVE COSTING Indicative Cost Gateways Streets around key 
spaces

Play area Village greens Village hall 
improvements

Lowland meadows Riverfront

Green and blue enhancements 
(SuDS) - inlcudes drainage, soil, 
edging, silt traps

£1,250/ m2

Green enhancements (Planting) 
- Ornamental grasses; including 
imported subsoil and topsoil

£105/ m2

Amenity grass; include imported 
subsoil and topsoil

£11.18/ m2

Wildflower planting £1.30/ m2

Tree (PC £400); including excavating 
tree pits by hand (assumed 
1500x1500x1000mm deep) and 
backfilling with excavating material

£580/ unit

Build outs £5,000

Patching up road/fixing broken 
elements

£180/ m2

Alterations to general layout, use of 
basic materials, limited interventions - 
i.e road is retained

£400/ m2

Alterations to general layout, creation 
of extent of public realm, seating, 
lighting, tree planting, SuDS - i.e road 
is reduced

£560/ m2

Alterations to general layout, creation 
of extent of public realm, seating, 
lighting, tree planting, SuDS - i.e road 
is removed

£720/ m2

Bespoke sign (basic material) £1,000/ unit

Seating (average range) £1,290/ unit

Page 126



DRAFT  Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 109

INDICATIVE COSTING Indicative Cost Gateways Streets around key 
spaces

Play area Village greens Village hall 
improvements

Lowland meadows Riverfront

Green and blue enhancements 
(SuDS) - inlcudes drainage, soil, 
edging, silt traps

£1,250/ m2

Green enhancements (Planting) 
- Ornamental grasses; including 
imported subsoil and topsoil

£105/ m2

Amenity grass; include imported 
subsoil and topsoil

£11.18/ m2

Wildflower planting £1.30/ m2

Tree (PC £400); including excavating 
tree pits by hand (assumed 
1500x1500x1000mm deep) and 
backfilling with excavating material

£580/ unit

Build outs £5,000

Patching up road/fixing broken 
elements

£180/ m2

Alterations to general layout, use of 
basic materials, limited interventions - 
i.e road is retained

£400/ m2

Alterations to general layout, creation 
of extent of public realm, seating, 
lighting, tree planting, SuDS - i.e road 
is reduced

£560/ m2

Alterations to general layout, creation 
of extent of public realm, seating, 
lighting, tree planting, SuDS - i.e road 
is removed

£720/ m2

Bespoke sign (basic material) £1,000/ unit

Seating (average range) £1,290/ unit

Indicative cost only. Costs and timescales can vary significantly from site to site

Page 127



110    DRAFT  Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

INDICATIVE COSTING Indicative Cost Gateways Streets around key 
spaces

Play area Village greens Village hall 
improvements

Lowland meadows Riverfront

Play equipment - small £5,000

Play equipment - medium £12,000

Play equipment - high £30,000

Lighting (6-8m column, average cost) £1,630/ unit

Cycle racks £350/ unit

Picnic table £1,380/ unit

Fingerpost £750

Crossing - High friction surface £22/ m2

Natural stone paving £170/ m2

Footpath £28/ m2

PROW access; 50mm self-binding 
gravel, 100mm sub-base

£17/ m2

Change of single speed limit where 
minimal infrastructure is required

£15,000

Page 128



DRAFT  Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 111

INDICATIVE COSTING Indicative Cost Gateways Streets around key 
spaces

Play area Village greens Village hall 
improvements

Lowland meadows Riverfront

Play equipment - small £5,000

Play equipment - medium £12,000

Play equipment - high £30,000

Lighting (6-8m column, average cost) £1,630/ unit

Cycle racks £350/ unit

Picnic table £1,380/ unit

Fingerpost £750

Crossing - High friction surface £22/ m2

Natural stone paving £170/ m2

Footpath £28/ m2

PROW access; 50mm self-binding 
gravel, 100mm sub-base

£17/ m2

Change of single speed limit where 
minimal infrastructure is required

£15,000

Indicative cost only. Costs and timescales can vary significantly from site to site

Page 129



112    DRAFT  Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

INDICATIVE COSTING Indicative Cost Gateways Streets around key 
spaces

Play area Village greens Village hall 
improvements

Lowland meadows Riverfront

Change in speed limit where four new 
street lighting columns are required to 
illuminate a new 20mph speed limit

£15,000

Vehicle Activated Sign. Solar 
powered, design and installation

£8,500

Pair of dropped crossings with tactile 
paving

£4,000

Zebra crossing, no additional lighting 
or road surfacing required

£35,000

Zebra crossing, including street 
lighting upgrade and resurfacing

£65,000

Cycle lane within existing carriageway £90/ lm

Shared, segregated or unsegregated 
footway/ cycleway within existing 
footway, including drainage but not 
including lighting 

£1,125/ lm

2-bay metal framed passenger 
shelter- including solar lighting

£8,500

2-bay metal framed passenger 
shelter- including mains lighting

£10,000

Raised access kerbs - per stop £5,000

Page 130



DRAFT  Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 113

INDICATIVE COSTING Indicative Cost Gateways Streets around key 
spaces

Play area Village greens Village hall 
improvements

Lowland meadows Riverfront

Change in speed limit where four new 
street lighting columns are required to 
illuminate a new 20mph speed limit

£15,000

Vehicle Activated Sign. Solar 
powered, design and installation

£8,500

Pair of dropped crossings with tactile 
paving

£4,000

Zebra crossing, no additional lighting 
or road surfacing required

£35,000

Zebra crossing, including street 
lighting upgrade and resurfacing

£65,000

Cycle lane within existing carriageway £90/ lm

Shared, segregated or unsegregated 
footway/ cycleway within existing 
footway, including drainage but not 
including lighting 

£1,125/ lm

2-bay metal framed passenger 
shelter- including solar lighting

£8,500

2-bay metal framed passenger 
shelter- including mains lighting

£10,000

Raised access kerbs - per stop £5,000

Indicative cost only. Costs and timescales can vary significantly from site to site

Page 131



114    DRAFT  Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

Appendix 2
Stage 1 report

Page 132



DRAFT  Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 115
Page 133



Wye Valley Villages Plan
Stage 1 Presentation Feb 9th 2021

| Wye Valley AONB | Community councils

P
age 134



1.The wider picture 
2.Transport and mobility
3.Placemaking
4.Socio-economic
5.Reflections and moving forward

Wye Valley Villages – Where are we now?

P
age 135



The Wider PictureP
age 136



Drivers of change post Covid

Demographics

1.5 million 
people in CCR

20% 
growth forecast 
2017-2037

(www.cardiffpartnership.co.uk)

Climate change

Net Zero 
Carbon
by 2050 in Wales

Health & Well-being

60% 
Welsh population that are 
overweight or obese

2019
Welsh Government & 
MCC declare climate 
emergency

Announced today
Public Health Act (Wales) 2017

P
age 137



Drivers of change post Covid

Movement

Legal requirement for 
Welsh LA’s to map and 
plan for active travel 
infrastructure

Tourism

10% 
Increase in tourist visits 
(2007-2018) in 
Monmouthshire

2021 Staycation bounce

The heritage county of 
Wales

STEAM trend report 2007-2018
MCC LDP

Active Travel (Wales) Act 2013

Digital

17%1
Growth in internet sales as 
percentage of total retail 
sales

-10%2
Decline of high street retail 
business in Wales

1 ONS data Nov 2006 - May 2019
2 ONS data 2012-2017

P
age 138



‘Cathedral thinking’

• It is a time of great change – we 
need to be thinking very differently 
about what we do and why

• Wellbeing Duty – The 7 Goals
• 5 Ways of working –

Collaboration/partnership, 
community involvement

• Post-Covid – Build back better

P
age 139



Planning Policy Context

Planning Policy Wales 10 (2018) 
Promotes well-being through placemaking

Key principles for guiding development: 
• Growing our economy in a sustainable manner
• Making best use of resources 
• Facilitating accessible and healthy 

environments
• Creating & sustaining communities 
• Maximising environmental protection 

Monmouthshire County Council LDP 
(2011 – 2021) 

Key issues addressed through the plan are: 
• Building sustainable communities 
• Promoting sustainable economy 
• Valuing the environment – designated 

environmental sites across the LDP area 
• Achieve sustainable accessibility 
• Respecting distinctiveness

Work is underway on the Replacement LDP (2018 – 2033) which is 
anticipated for adoption in Autumn 2023.   

P
age 140



Planning Policy Context – Local  

P
age 141



Summary of SWOT session
Conducted with Arup and 
the client team 
17.12.2020

• Transport weaknesses
• Threats to local economy
• But most opportunities in 

tourism and local economy

P
age 142



Six Pillars

P
age 143



Transport and 
movement

P
age 144



Key issues

Despite enthusiasm for active travel in AONB, most trips made by car (commuters and 
tourists- > 80%) Mixed reasons: lack of alternatives, no seamless door-to-door links

Limited bespoke guidance for street design – status in design process

Traffic levels are generally stable, with lower than average levels of HGVs. Incompatibility 
between large agricultural vehicles, villages and road network

Car parking demand varies significantly by place and by season. There is very limited 
provision for EV charging.

Public transport requires subsidy and is not currently seamlessly integrated with other 
transport modes. Does perform a vital service to many residents, including school pupils.

P
age 145



Mode of Travel

Commuting Tourism

Source: Census Journey to Work data, Monmouthshire , 2011 Source: Visit Wales Visitor Survey 2016

82%
4% 3%

3%
2%

2%
1% 1%

0%
1%

Private car or van Hired car or van

On foot Public bus or coach

Train Bike

Private bus or coach Motorbike

Campervan or tourer Don't know \ can't remember

0%
2%

2%
0%
1%

70%

7%
2%

16%

1%

Urban

Underground, metro, light rail, tram Train

Bus, minibus or coach Taxi

Motorcycle, scooter or moped Driving a car or van

Passenger in a car or van Bicycle

On foot Other method of travel to work

0%
3% 1%

0%
1%

82%

5%
1%

7%

1%

Rural

P
age 146



Active Travel – Key Themes

Severance caused 
by busy roads

• Busy road such as the 
A466 can divide places 
and people

• The A466 routes through 
Llandogo, Tintern and 
Redbrook

• Redbrook have 
introduced a zebra 
crossing on the A466 
which can reduce 
severance

Car has priority 
over other modes

• Road space prioritises 
cars over other modes

• Some footways reduce in 
width to accommodate 
on-street parking

• No road space 
designated to cycles

• Limited examples of 
controlled crossings

Controlled crossing on the A466, Redbrook

Narrow footway associated with on-street parking, Tintern

P
age 147



Active Travel – Key Themes

Limited footway 
provision

• Some villages such as 
Trelleck, The Narth, 
Brockwier and Devauden
have limited footway 
provision in places

• Many side roads/lanes 
have no footway 
provision

• Speed limit reduced to 
20mph in Trelleck, 
improve pedestrian 
environment and safety

Formal crossings 
along desire lines

• Desire lines associated 
with local facilities and 
leisure routes

• Limited examples of 
formal crossing to 
facilitate movements over 
busier roads such as the 
A466 in St Arvens and 
Tintern

• On-street parking as 
potential to limit visibility 
for pedestrians

Limited footway provision, Brockweir

PROW without on crossing A466, north of Tintern

P
age 148



Public Transport

No. 69 Bus Route (source traveline.cymru)No. 65 Bus Route (source traveline.cymru)

• No. 65 bus service routes 
between Chepstow and 
Monmouth via the B4293

• No. 69 routes via A466
• Both bus routes operate five 

services a day (Monday to 
Saturday)

• Two-three hours between each 
bus route

• Enables but does not 
encourage journeys to be 
made by bus

P
age 149



Road Traffic Collisions

• No accident clusters identified over the 
past five years

• 1 collision involving a pedestrian within 
the study area

• Eight collisions recorded on the A466, 
including three serious

• Ten collisions involving cyclists, of which 
seven were serious

Collisions between 2015-2019 (crashmap.com)

P
age 150



Agricultural Traffic

National Average

Cars and Vans
Lorries

Study Area

Cars and Vans
Lorries

• Opportunities to consolidate 
agricultural movements

• Average proportion of large 
vehicles on road network is 6.3%

• Large vehicles account for 1.4% of 
traffic on roads in the study area

• Reducing agricultural movements 
may not have tangible benefits

P
age 151



Traffic Flows and Speeds

(A) B4293

(B) B4293

(C) A466

(D) A466

Link 2013 2016 2019 Growth

A) B4293 2756 3788 2818 0.37%

B) B4293 2567 2674 3570 6.51%

C) A466 3855 3278 3306 -2.37%

D) A466 4143 3919 3961 -0.73%

Daily Traffic Flow (roadtrafficdata.dft.gov.uk)

P
age 152



Utilisation of Car Parks

• Visitor parking across Lower Wye Valley are of 
varying standards

• Parking at Abbey Mill and Old Station can 
suffer from congestion owing to lower 
capacitates

• Larger car park at Tiintern (over 150 spaces) 
also reaches capacity at peak

• Surveys required to improve understanding of 
utilization

P
age 153



Design Guides
Traffic in Villages

• Prepared for Dorset AONB

• Emphasis on contextual design, as 
opposed to standardised approach across 
multiple localities

• Gateway treatments provide transition of 
environment for drivers

• Narrowing of carriageway and removing 
road marking to reduce speeds

• Defining the centre of the village and 
meeting places through highway layout, 
materials, parking availability and wider 
streetscape to ensure sense of place is 
maintained

P
age 154



St Armal, 
Brittany

P
age 155



Design Guides

Wye Valley Highway Design Guide
• Prepared by Monmouthshire, Gloucestershire and 

Herefordshire highways offices in 2011, but not adopted. 
• Based on 4 guiding principles:

1. Unless there is an overriding safety issue, do as little as possible.
2. Take account of the specific traffic flow and character of the road 

to ensure the proposals are not over specified.
3. Unless there is an overriding reason, copy the style and materials 

that have been used over time. 
4. Consult with the staff in the AONB Partnership Office.

Streets for All – Historic England
5 goals for public realm enhancement:
1. An inclusive environment
2. Public safety and ease of movement
3. A healthy environment that supports out wellbeing and cohesion
4. A high quality environment
5. Economic benefit

P
age 156



Case Studies

Lake District National ParkThe National Forest, 
East & West Midlands

• New ‘bike bus’, new routes and increased frequency
• Cycle hire improvements, including e-bikes
• Marketing campaign for coach and rail options
• Result: 14% mode shift away from car in Lake District

• Visitor gateways – to engage visitors in and raise awareness 
of its attractions and travel options

• Integrated public transport links to popular walking routes
• E-bike cycling holidays

P
age 157



Case Studies

P
age 158



Future of Mobility

‘Facilitating transition to 
net zero’

• Wales Transport Strategy - Improve 
sustainable access to key visitor 
attractions

• Wales EV Charging Strategy –
Public/private partnerships to 
deliver charging hubs in rural areas, 
integrated with renewable energy

‘By 2025, all users of 
electric cars and vans 
in Wales are 
confident that they 
can access electric 
vehicle charging 
infrastructure when 
and where they need 
it.’

Vision for the Electric Vehicle Charging Strategy for Wales (2020)

P
age 159



Key opportunities

Explore opportunities for inclusive active travel. Update Travel Plan. Increase funding for active travel 
schemes for both visitors and residents. Creation of new cycle loops with classified climbs. Reduced 
price ticketing for sustainable access.

Street design guidance could be introduced / enhanced to improve active travel facilities and sense 
of place in villages, reducing severance. Opportunity to implement through both development 
control and LHA action.

Support remote working and circular economy to reduce the need to travel. Review of HGV routing 
and preparation of mapping for hauliers. Freight consolidation; agricultural consolidation.

Parking - Integrated approach needed. Needs to be considered along with tourism. Agile/flexible 
strategy needed – seasonal variations (multi-purpose spaces). Mobility hub approach. Very limited 
provision for EV charging.

Public transport needs to be seamlessly integrated with other transport modes. Benefits need to be 
multi-faceted eg air pollution, modal shift, equality and reduced impact. Opportunities to brand and 
enhance Chepstow Station. DrT Grass Routes service to work with app booking

P
age 160



PlacemakingP
age 161



AONB MGMT PLAN DEDUCTIONS

CONSERVE & ENHANCE

PEOPLE & PLACE 
"To describe landscape to others without invoking an experience is 
to fundamentally ignore our relationship with place and miss what 
it is to be human" National Association for AONB's

NATURAL BEAUTY: flora, fauna and geological and physiographical features

What does this
landscape
need to thrive?

RISKS:
• water
• soil
• tree fall
• flooding & transport
• species distribution

• pests & disease
• fire
• new crop introductions
• increase visitors
• historic environment

P
age 162



MAPPING DEDUCTIONS

Heritage

Biodiversity

RecreationP
age 163



P
age 164



Deforestation
Pre-industrial revolution settlement

Who is the landscape for?

‘Invisible’ Agriculture

Non-motorised 
transport

Resource extraction

P
age 165



Infrastructure

Post-industrial Settlement

Places for people?Agrobusiness
Motorised 
transport

Disrupted habitat connectivity

P
age 166



• inspiration
• distinctive landscape mix
• heritage assets conserved 

& enhanced
• local work
• minimal visitor/resident 

conflict
• benefit to villages and 

businesses
• internationally important 

landscape

People

Wye Valley AONB Strategic Vision

Wildlife Systems

• natural & heritage assets 
conserved & enhanced

• robust, interconnected 
mosaic of habitats

• ecosystem services & 
resources

• internationally important 
landscape

• positive adaptation
• ecosystem services & resources
• local work
• partnership with broader 

communities

P
age 167



4.4.2 “The landscape approach as it relates to conservation, agriculture and other land uses seeks to 
address the increasingly complex and widespread environmental, social and political challenges that 
transcend traditional management boundaries. The landscape approach helps to bring together the 
disciplines associated with the humanities, and social and natural science in a way that creates policy 
useful to not only help deliver environmental outcomes but for the delivery of important social and 
economic objectives. To do this we have to really understand that meeting ground between people 
and place; the intended and unintended ways we interact with the environment up which we depend 
as a species. this means not just viewing traditional policy areas at a landscape scale but seeing
landscape as a framework where the skills and assets of people and the social and economic 
processes that drive them are fundamentally and intrinsically interconnected with nature and the 
physical environment.”

P
age 168



Swimmable Rivers

Resilient VillagesInclusive LandscapeEcoagriculture

Safe, expanded 
active travel 
radius for childrenAbundant mosaic

Living wage
For all

Clean atmosphere 
& soil

Nature as 
medicine

P
age 169



LESSONS FROM ELSEWHERE
Governance: People & Place

Whanganui: Legal Personhood Tenure & Stewardship

The river is a living being. Parliament passed legislation declaring that Te Awa 
Tupua—the river and all its physical and metaphysical elements—is an 
indivisible, living whole, and henceforth possesses 'all the rights, powers, duties, 
and liabilities” of a legal person.'

Ko au te awa, ko te awa ko au. I am the river, the river is me.

P
age 170



Central Otago Rail Trail, New Zealand

LESSONS FROM ELSEWHERE
Design: People & Place

Golden Circle, Iceland

P
age 171



Wye Valley villages

• Places to live
• Places to work
• Places to visit
• Places to stay

• Places to 
discover; 
identity, 
history, 
nature, 
traditions, 
culture

P
age 172



Tintern

P
age 173



Tintern
The iconic village

• Layers of history – agricultural, 
religious, industrial, picturesque –
The Wye Valley in one place?

• One of if not the Honeypot location
• Visible history and riverside- iconic 

landmarks
• Clustering of local businesses but 

fragmented offer and seasonal

P
age 174



Llandogo

P
age 175



Llandogo
The riverside pastures

• Riverside conservation area-
natural port and amphitheatre

• Boat making heritage (trow)-few 
obvious traces remain

• A pivot for many hiking routes 
(Wye Valley walk)

• Linear – a sequence of interest 
points but discernible heart

• All landscapes within the line of 
sight

P
age 176



P
age 177



Redbrook
The gateway village

• A bridging point (Pennalt viaduct) 
between east-west and Wales and 
England

• Traces of industry
• Nestled in the valley(s)
• Gateway markers – hills and pubs
• Space for activation along the river 

edge

P
age 178



The Narth

P
age 179



The Narth
A hilltop retreat 

• Hilltop location, framed and 
defined by woodland

• Disperse, informal settlement
• Buildings set within landscape
• Quiet, secluded, soft
• A web of rural, village lanes
• Start of trails

P
age 180



Trellech

P
age 181



Trellech
Traces of history 

• Common language of buildings and 
materials in conservation area

• Historic pattern of buildings
• Serial views, spaces and landmark 

buildings
• Framed by open pasture
• Discover layers of history, myths and 

legends (Bronze age, medieval)

P
age 182



Devauden

P
age 183



Devauden
The village green

• The Ridgeway -
spectacular views

• A true village green
• Pressure for new growth
• Gateway village
• Agricultural community
• Hidden treasures (Veddw

garden)

P
age 184



Tapestry of villages

• Define, extract and celebrate the 
diversity and uniqueness of each 
village -legibility

• Explore and unlock unique 
character and opportunities for 
each

• Consider common strategies eg
street design, storytelling signage, 
digital

• Consider as a network
• the sense of community

P
age 185



Co-operative 
working, innovation, 
media and profile
Playing to strengths  
- independents

“We are 
competitors 
but we work 

together,”

P
age 186



P
age 187



Village square 
image
Landscaped
Active

Portmeirion –
multi functional 
places

P
age 188



Altrincham – adapting spaces

P
age 189



Socio-economicsP
age 190



Population & Demographics
Overview & Challenges

• Disperse population 
yet distinctive identify across 
AONB.

• Younger Out Migration. Well 
educated but face underemployment 
befitting qualifications. Lack of 
local University presence leading to 
out migration.

• Ageing Population. Median Age 48 –
Oldest in CCR. Monmouthshire could 
have less than 2 people of working 
age for every over 65 by 2036.

• Labour supply shortfall relative 
to long term care provision 
will become increasingly acute

Opportunities

• Talent Attraction & Retention: Targeting the
right opportunities will attract and retain a 
younger economically active demographic and 
reduce County's Median age. Plan for the 
golden thread of place specific education, 
employment and housing choice.

• Embrace the Silver Economy. Ensure 
consumers as well as active economic 
contributors are adequately provided for 
locally? Support those keen to use retirement 
as an opportunity to explore new lifestyle 
opportunities linked to Wye Valley.

• Demonstration for innovative public 
services such as rural 
healthcare provision. Transferable skills 
from 
Covid affected sectors (retail, hospitality)

P
age 191



Enterprise & Employment
Overview & Challenges

• Monmouthshire has highest rate of active 
businesses and business births as well as the 
third highest GVA in Wales.

• Local enterprises in the AONB are often 
characterised by low pay and seasonal 
employment.

• The majority of County employment comes 
from distribution, education, manufacturing, 
public administration and tourism.

• Pre Covid 40% of County residents out 
commuted to work. Out commuters on 
average earn approximately 28% more than 
those who work in County.

• Growth in sectors such as restorative land 
management and education, local food & 
drink production, food tourism and digital 
health care.

• Provide support structures for 
entrepreneurship within Wye Valley..

Opportunities

• Grow on space requirements to support healthy 
business growth and development within the Wye 
Valley.

• Feasibility for provision of additional storage and 
distribution space for local food and drink 
producers. Wye Valley Producers Hub 

• Co working and rural innovation space for remote 
working residents to meet regularly as well as 
encouraging visitors to extend stays.

• Ensure higher education pathways reflect the future 
skills needed in rural and land-based economies -

digital health, agronomy, arboriculture, recreation.

• Develop business support packages specifically 
targeted at rural sectors including food and drink, 
tourism, hospitality & care.

• Design bespoke pathways for young people through 
the Kickstart Scheme and FE/HE Placements.

• Social Value in Procurement - Increase number of 
local SME's securing public service contracts.

P
age 192



Digital Infrastructure

Overview & Challenges

Digital deprivation levels are high in 
rural Monmouthshire, at 12.5% 
compared to 3-4% of the rest of 
CCR which restricts micro 
enterprise activity and home 
working and impacts access, 
poverty and skills.

Opportunities

• Work with network providers to roll 
out better Next Generation Access 
Broadband coverage

• Improve mobile phone coverage

• Public sector led drive for digital upskilling 
and service provision through AI and 
Internet Of Things. Rural care and 
healthcare test bed.

P
age 193



Housing Need & Affordability 

Overview & Challenges

Wye Valley is a desirable place to 
live. Average house prices are the 
highest in Wales (£307,000) 

Opportunities for affordable 
housing provision 
are limited. Average ratio of 
earning to house prices is 12:1 for 
those living and working in the 
area.

Evidence that the high cost of 
housing drives out migration to 
cheaper adjacent areas such as 
Newport or Torfean and is also 
constraining local businesses 
growth & resilience.

Opportunities

• Ensure housing is inclusive 
supporting the needs of long-term 
balanced communities.

• Encourage landowners to bring 
forward rural exception sites for 
affordable housing schemes adjacent 
to settlement boundaries. 

• Affordable rental housing in demand

• Operationally essential rural 
enterprise dwellings for land-based 
workers or for farm succession 
planning (TAN 6 :Planning for 
Sustainable Communities)

P
age 194



1. There is a clear legal and policy framework for change.
2. Cross-roads post-Covid and climate change - new models are 

emerging, are we proactive or reactive?
3. An integrated approach is essential to resolve issues and realise 

opportunities.
4. Transport issues needs a nuanced, agile solution.
5. We need a place-based approach to retain and celebrate the 

uniqueness of the villages and places.
6. Our thinking needs to be action-based.
7. Moving forward – think big, little, bold. Grassroots will be key.
8. Need to think about immediate needs and the long term - What if 

we developed a 100 year plan? What will success look like?

Wye Valley Villages Stage 1 Reflections

P
age 195



116    DRAFT  Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

Appendix 3
Stage 2 report

Page 196



DRAFT  Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 117
Page 197



1

Wye Valley Villages Stage 2 Report
August 2021
Issue 1.3

| Community councils | 

An amendment has been made on September 15,2021P
age 198



2

Stage 2 Report

1. Page 3 Introduction Wye Villages Plan for the Future
1.1 Purpose & objectives 
1.2 Drivers of change

2. Page 6 Draft vision
3. Page 7 Stakeholder engagement
4. Page 10 National and regional context
5. Page 13 Wye Valley context
6. Page 15 Six Pillars

6.1 Sustainable Transport & Road Safety 
6.2 Landscape Green & Blue Infrastructure
6.3 Tourism 
6.4 Local economy
6.5 The Villages - Placemaking
6.6  Governance

7. Page 51 Next steps

P
age 199



3

1. Introduction Wye Villages Plan for the Future
1.1 Purpose & objectives

The “Wye Valley AONB Villages Plan for the Future” will be a strategic 
framework plan that sets a holistic vision for transformation through a 
programme of short, mid and long-term interventions.

The need for the Plan was triggered by issues around road safety and village 
infrastructure, which form part of a much more complex set of issues and 
challenges. This means that potential solutions can only be effective if 
addressed and set in a broader context and with an integrated approach. In 
this case such a holistic approach and understanding offers a once in a 
lifetime opportunity to drive generational change on all fronts. The AONB 
Management Plan (2021-2026) describes this context driven approach by 
the need to ensure transport is sustainable, integrated, and compatible with 
the purpose of its destination.

The objective of this Plan is to define the key elements and structure of a 
holistic vision and to offer a perspective on how this vision can deliver a 
transformational change in an era that is already demanding we address 
socio-economic, political and environmental challenges. For visitors and 
residents, there is a bigger opportunity to promote and enhance the AONB 
with a long term perspective, while addressing immediate issues and 
challenges.

We will identify and define these key elements through three stages of work 
with the client team, specialist consultants and key stakeholders, and by 
doing so, jointly shape the vision. The results of the second stage and draft 
vision are presented here.

The aim of the first stage of work was to identify key issues, challenges and 
opportunities to set a solid evidence base. Our Stage 1 Report offers a cross 
cutting summary and distils the essence of a broad, sometimes divergent 
evidence base, consisting of studies, reports, plans and strategies around 
green infrastructure (landscapes including habitats, woodlands, fields, parks 
etc), tourism, travel and transport, AONB management and regional 
development planning. 

The purpose of the second stage of work has been to define a draft vision 
for the Wye Valley AONB Villages Plan for the Future and six key themes 
as pillars of that vision. The objective of this stage 2 report is to submit the 
vision, the programme of key themes and potential projects to wider public 
consultation, in order to gain valuable feed-back and inform the final vision.

This Plan is funded by Monmouthshire County Council, the Wye Valley 
AONB Sustainable Development Fund (SDF) and the Welsh Government 
Sustainable Landscapes Sustainable Places programme.

P
age 200



4

1.2 Drivers of change

We have identified three key “drivers of change” that condition future 
transformation and are key to unlocking future potential and opportunities 
of the vision:

Sustainability

In response to the Paris Accord on Climate Change, The United Nations 
Sustainable Development Goals provide a blueprint at the highest level to 
direct decision-making towards environmental, political, social and 
economic sustainability for future growth and change.

At a national level The Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 
offers a radically different way of approaching development and change. 
The Act enshrines in law the need to consider the impact of our decisions on 
future generations. This can be thought of as ‘Cathedral thinking’ a 
reference to the altruism shown by the medieval craftsmen who dedicated 
their lives working on buildings they knew would not be completed within 
their lifetime.

In 2019 both the Welsh Government and Monmouthshire County Council 
declared a climate emergency recognising the need for urgent action to 
combat the effects of global climate change. 

This will impact upon and permeate all decision making. It will mean 
prioritising sustainable travel (public transport and active travel), climate 
change mitigation, renewable energy, local circular economies and ensuring 
local people can sustain themselves through access to employment and 
housing.

Governance: 

Engagement to date has laid bare the complex geopolitical context of the 
Wye Valley and the Wales-England border.  The wide range of stakeholders 
and delicate balance required between tourism and residents adds further 
weight to the need for carefully considered governance. To avoid a 
disparate response without clear ownership there will need to be an 
integrated approach where efforts are joined-up around a shared objective. 
This will be essential in ensuring; 

• That finite public funding is maximised and added value created

• There is one (external) voice which speaks for the (lower) Wye Valley

• The brand and reputation of the (lower) Wye Valley is consistent 
irrespective of political boundaries 

• Leadership and ownership are clearly defined and agreed by stakeholders 
with greater cross border collaboration.

The 7 well-being goals of the WGFBA

P
age 201



5

Digital: 

Technology continues to rapidly change the way we live. The Covid-19 
pandemic has accelerated many latent trends enabled by the devices and 
software that are now part of daily life. Increased online services and remote 
working are: 

• Allowing us to blend work and lifestyles with more working from home

• Increasing market reach for smaller enterprises who are no longer 
confined to a narrow geography 

• Increasing the way we use, interact and access transport from app based 
bike hire, ticketless transport to live feed travel information

• Changing the way we explore an area through geolocation mapping or 
web sites which showcase a place or area.

• The rise of co-working spaces in place of traditional, ‘fixed’ office 
space.

• Increasing dependency on approval based platforms such as Tripadvisor
for decision making

The current lack of widespread, fast internet largely due to the topography 
of the Wye Valley will continue to limit the potential of enterprise until a 
solution is found. The ability of the Wye Valley villages, its enterprises and 
people to capitalise on the societal changes that are taking place around us 
will be directly linked to the sophistication of the digital infrastructure. 

Sustainability

Governance

Digital

The drivers of change for the Wye Valley

P
age 202



6

2. Draft vision

The vision builds on the existing AONB character and the distinctive 
identity of the different villages, as well as the two gateway towns of 
Monmouth and Chepstow.

Updated vision statement:

The Wye Valley is a story of people and nature that has been shaped by 
many hands over centuries. The immediate challenges of climate change, 
post-Covid recovery, mobility and sustainable development require a new 
perspective on the future of this outstanding landscape and its settlements. 

Our vision is to ensure that short term solutions are set within the context of 
long term needs and challenges. It is considered over a 100 year timescale 
to ensure it will endure for generations to come and work with a timescale 
for nature. It is founded upon three simple principles:

• Conserving and enhancing the natural and man-made assets that define 
this unique place for existing and future generations. 

• A holistic approach to governance, territory and integral drivers of 
change 

• Evolving to respond to changes caused by climate change and to 
capitalise on opportunities created by the target of net zero carbon.

We have defined six key themes that form the pillars of our vision, which 
are: 

• placemaking, 

• governance, 

• tourism, 

• landscape, 

• transport and movement 

• local economy. 

The first two pillars, placemaking and governance, are also overarching 
themes to the other four. For each of these pillars we have set out a 
programme for future transformation, the guiding principles that define that 
transformation and the potential projects that can emanate from the 
programme.

The Six Pillars

P
age 203



7

3. Stakeholder engagement

Liaison with key stakeholders and the wider public which recognises the 
importance of consultation to understand issues and challenges and for a 
collaborative approach to project definition and opportunities is a 
fundamental part of our process.

Representatives of the client group that commissioned the work, 
Monmouthshire County Council, The Wye Valley AONB Partnership and 
Community Council representatives from Devauden, St Arvans, Tintern and 
Trellech United, have been an invaluable soundboard for our work 
throughout the process.

Targeted stakeholder conversations have been held with Andrew Blake, 
Manager of the Wye Valley AONB, Nicola Edwards, Destination Manager 
of MCC and Helen O’Kane (Puzzle Wood) and Rachael Geddes (Humble 
by Nature), members of the board of “Forest of Dean & Wye Valley 
Tourism” the official Destination Management Organisation. Their ideas 
and feedback have helped shape the vision and key pillars.

A wider public consultation period will be held in summer 2021, during 
which the vision and six pillars will be made available in digital format 
through a “Virtual Engage” format. Feedback and suggestions will be 
captured and summarised to inform the next and final stage of work.

SWOT

A SWOT (Strength, Weaknesses, Opportunities and Threats) assessment 
was undertaken on December 17th 2020, as part of the inception meeting 
for the Wye Valley Villages project. The results of the assessment, that was 
based on the six pillars of the vision, are summarised here.

Strengths

• Recognised tourist location with 2 internationally recognised walking 
routes

• Wide range of experiences – eg micro breweries, vineyards and trails.

• Unique border location between Wales and England

• The people and communities of the valley

• History – birthplace of British tourism, Tintern Abbey and early 
industrialisation

• Internationally recognised landscape and habitats

• Good connectivity with the rest of the UK

• Existing businesses and entrepreneurs such as Wye Valley Producers

Weaknesses

• Lack of fast internet

• Uneven tourist pressures for example Tintern struggles to cope during 
high demand.

• Too many people simply drive through and don’t dwell

• Road safety within the villages

P
age 204



8

3. Stakeholder engagement

Weaknesses (continued from previous page)

• Lack of a clear separate identity for each of the villages

• Lack of public transport

• Lack of sustainable local employment opportunities for young people

Opportunities

• Growing interest in local food and goods

• Reduced commuting because of home working and a subsequent 
reduction in traffic

• Increase in home-grown tourism

• Delivering truly sustainable tourism that assists the local economy 
without harming community life or the natural environment

• Attracting new visitors from outlying settlements (eg Cardiff, Bristol, 
Birmingham)

• Supporting and delivering sustainable transport

Threats

• Lack of affordable housing

• Environmental damage from climate change

• The complexity of geo-political relations (England and Wales and 
multiple local authorities may complicate delivery of proposed 
interventions

• Competing views between residents and businesses

• Covid impacts on existing businesses

• Failing to adapt to future changes

P
age 205



9

Stakeholder mapping.

A stakeholder map has been produced with the client team. The purpose of 
this map is to identify all stakeholders relating to the project, create a clear 
summary overview of their relation to the project and the potential interest 
and influence on the project, future plans, delivery and governance.

Road Safety.

A specific thematic stakeholder session around road safety in the villages 
was held on 15th of April with St Arvans Community Council, Devauden
Community Council and Tintern Community Council and on 16th of April 
with Trellech United Community Council. During these sessions a deeper 
understanding was created of the current issues and challenges and potential 
solutions were discussed. The input and results have been fundamental for 
the development of our vision and plans, which can be found in the 
respective sections in this report.

1. Removing road 
markings 
in Buriton, 
Hampshire to 
highlight key 
spaces and reduce 
traffic speeds

2. Junction design 
creates an entrance 
place to Dunston 
village, Somerset

3. Simple paving 
solution in West 
Meon, Hampshire 
to create a low-
speed environment

Extract from the Stakeholder mapping and SWOT exercise January 2021

P
age 206



10

4. National and regional context 

AONB National context

When considering the Wye Valley at a national scale it is useful to consider 
the extent and location of other AONB designations. Whilst each are unique 
in their own right it is noticeable that of the UK’s 46 AONB’s only the Wye 
Valley straddles national boundaries. The Wye Valley is a true ‘border 
territory’ where the interface of political boundaries, settlements, cultures, 
nationalities and the natural environment has shaped the ‘uniqueness’ of the 
area. This should be embraced and celebrated through the approach to 
tourism, branding and marketing but also points to the complexity of 
governance that exists.

AONB’s of England and Wales

P
age 207



11

Regional context

For the purpose of this report, the regional context is 
illustrated in the accompanying diagram. This 
reveals a number of considerations:

The urban context

The proximity of Cardiff (40 mins travel time), 
Newport (30 mins), Bristol (40 mins) and 
Birmingham (1hr 40 mins) provides a significant 
pool of latent visitors and markets for local 
businesses. As technology continues to add greater 
flexibility to people’s living and working lifestyles, 
these same areas are also likely to generate ‘would-
be’ new residents, further increasing pressure on 
finite local housing and community infrastructure. 
This should also be seen as an opportunity to attract 
a younger generation of entrepreneurs to help drive 
the local economy.

An illustration of the regional context

DRAFT

P
age 208



12

The Wye Valley is part of a collection of landscapes 
including the Cotswolds, Shropshire Hills and 
Brecon Beacons. Despite separate governing bodies 
these are a network of nationally Protected 
Landscapes, not independent landscapes which have 
the potential for mutual gain through greater 
collaboration and cross-selling. Through the 
engagement process it had become evident that these 
invisible boundaries are ignored by entrepreneurs 
such as Visit DeanWye who see the value in sharing 
digital tourism platforms with partners in the 
Cotswolds. This perspective is essential in 
understanding how the Wye Valley interacts with 
surrounding areas. It will frame the outcomes of this 
study – the proposed transformations for the Wye 
Valley and its communities.

A conduit north-south

The natural east-west barrier formed by the River 
Wye is manifest in geopolitical boundaries that have 
existed in some form for centuries. The north-south 
alignment of Offa’s Dyke remains an important 
historical monument, broad territorial boundary and 
walking route of national significance. The Wye 
Valley marks the southern gateway to this route and 
the landscapes to the north. For many it will be the 
start and end of journeys, experiences and visits and 
as such it is important to remember that the Wye 
Valley in itself is part of a broader offer.

An illustration of the regional context

DRAFT

P
age 209



13

5. Wye Valley context

Study area

The scope of this study is limited to the Welsh part of the Wye Valley 
AONB and the 9 main settlements that have been identified with MCC:

• Trellech

• Penallt

• The Narth

• Devauden

• Tintern

• St Arvans

• Llandogo

• Llanishen

• Catbrook

The geographic boundary of the study reflects the administrative boundary 
of Monmouthshire County Council and Welsh Government. In reality the 
villages of the Wye Valley AONB extend east and north into the Forest of 
Dean and Herefordshire. This is important because the social and economic 
function of the area is not restricted by the administrative boundaries. Any 
proposed changes discussed in this study will potentially impact other 
settlements. For example, a consistent approach to road safety would be 
more effective if managed at a broader geographical area (to include places 
such as Redbrook) that is consistent with the cross border AONB 
boundaries. Network of villages as presented in Stage 1

Please note Redbrook is outside of the study area

P
age 210



14

A network of Villages

During the initial stages of engagement with the community councils the 
villages were presented as a network or system not as separate and 
independent settlements. This reflects the community and social 
connections between villages, the movement of people and trade within the 
area and the need for a collaborative and joined-up approach to key issues 
such as road safety.

This network is bound by the river to the east, the higher land and 
escarpment to the west and bookended by Monmouth and Chepstow north 
and south. 

Activity

Touristic activity is traditionally closely aligned to the river corridor. This is 
due in large part to the ease of access offered by the A466 and the presence 
of Tintern Abbey and historically by the river and then the railways as 
transport routes. The villages on the higher ground in contrast are generally 
more residential and community in nature, however have a different offer 
towards tourism that could be further explored.

Roads

Road safety and traffic concerns have been identified as a priority concern 
for the community councils. Understanding the exact causation of traffic 
and speeding is complex but an appreciation of the local road network 
reveals part of the problem.

The villages have developed around two key routes, The A466 and B4293 
which effectively form a circuit. Both routes connect Chepstow and the M4 
corridor with Monmouth and the A40 to the north serving as strategic 
transport routes. The linear nature of the valley and general lack of faster 
(and therefore convenient) east-west routes both within the study area and 
beyond help to amplify movement along these routes. The scenic value of 
the A466 in particularly will entice movement based on recreational value.

Chepstow and Monmouth

Although both towns are situated outside of the study area they play an 
important role in the function of the valley. Both offer employment, 
education, retail and service provision for the villages. They are also 
existing and potential markets for enterprises within the study area.

Chepstow provides the nearest point of access to the rail network while 
Chepstow racecourse is an important generator of income to the local 
economy. 

P
age 211



15

6. Six Pillars
6.1 Sustainable Transport & Road Safety 

Introduction

The two key priorities for the Transport element of the strategy are as 
follows:

• Improving actual and perceived road safety within the villages; and

• Enhancing sustainable transport provision for both residents and tourists.

The priorities identified above align with the views expressed by 
stakeholders alongside the key themes that underpin local and national 
planning policy. Both priorities complement each other well as improving 
road safety is likely to encourage more journeys to be made by sustainable 
modes of transport, particularly active travel. Similarly, encouraging more 
trips to be made by sustainable modes of travel will reduce vehicle 
movements on the transport network, thus improving road safety.

Road Safety

The most significant observation is the lack of distinction that is made to the 
road (and not street) design when entering or leaving each village. This lack 
of transition reinforces the sense of continuity for drivers and therefore any 
sense that you are entering a ‘place’ where people live or visit is lost. The 
result is an inevitable conflict between road users and people where drivers 
are given priority.

There are a number of measures to be explored further to reduce both 
perceived and actual road safety concerns. Some of these measures have 
been reflected in the diagrammatic plans for each village in section 6.5 “The 
Villages-Placemaking” and further recommendations are included below:

• Street Design Manual: it is recommended that a design manual is 
prepared that details how streets within the Wye Valley should be 
designed to enhance both character and function. These design standards 
can be used to encourage consistent good quality street design within 
each of the villages. Design solutions will be tailored to the specific 
needs of each village.  

• Road Speed Strategy: alongside the Street Design Manual, it is 
recommended that a road speed strategy is developed for the study area. 
We recommend this includes a 20mph speed limit for all streets within 
the villages.

• Village Transport Schemes: speed reduction features will be required 
to enforce the proposed reductions in speed limit. Bespoke transport 
schemes are recommended for each village, responding to the individual 
opportunities and constraints of the existing transport network. These 
should be delivered in alignment with the standards set out in the Street 
Design Manual.

The above recommendations will positively contribute to the wider strategy 
of each village acting as a disruptor to the wider road network, changing the 
overall character of the route.

P
age 212



16

Sustainable Transport

There are opportunities to enable both residents and tourists to make more 
journeys to, from and within the Wye Valley by sustainable modes of 
transport. These include:

• Improvements to the existing bus service provision, including increased 
service frequencies and better connectivity with more strategic bus and 
rail services;

• Enhancing the pedestrian and cycle network (active travel), including 
the provision of a north/south cycle route extending the existing Wye 
Valley Green Way, and also could be delivered through the potential 
introduction of Quiet Lanes; and

• Intermodal interchanges at tourism hubs that become a ‘new place’ 
with a clear and distinct sense of arrival and departure for multiple 
modes of transport with services and facilities to support visitors and 
tourists alike. Potentially located both in the north and south of the Wye 
Valley, these hubs would enable tourists travelling by car to transfer to 
another mode. The mobility hubs would include access to hire vehicles 
such as cycles, e-bikes and potentially electric vehicles. There is also a 
future opportunity for e-scooters to be made available. Further 
investigation is required to identify potential locations for such hubs; 
however, Chepstow Racecourse is suggested as a potential site to be 
explored further.

• There are also opportunities for smaller mobility hubs to be located in 
strategic locations across the Wye Valley, by relocating existing bus 
stops in the Villages to more strategic locations (such as village greens 
and village halls), to enable the transition from car to other modes of 
travel, both for residents and for visitors.

Active Travel and recreational access

The Wye Valley contains numerous walking and cycling routes which form 
a complex network of active travel, recreational and touristic routes. For 
expediency, this section notes the regionally significant Offa’s Dyke Path 
National Trail and Wye Valley Walk footpath and the emerging Wye 
Valley Greenway. These are the primary north-south routes which at 
varying points connect the river villages. Both Offa’s Dyke Path and Wye 
Valley Walk are part of longer walking routes with the former linking the 
Wales Coast Path. As previously noted, this offers potential for the area to 
celebrate the beginning and end of these long distance routes.

Inclusive active travel where the needs of all people are understood and 
catered for is becoming an increasingly important consideration. This 
includes groups with typically lower levels of uptake include the elderly, 
BAME groups and women. There is a significant opportunity for the Wye 
Valley to pioneer an approach to inclusive active travel by offering safe and 
adapted routes and means, as well as targeted marketing and branding.

Inclusive Active Travel: 2019 Arup report and mixed ability cycling.

P
age 213



17

The layers of proposed road safety and 
sustainable transport as they relate to the 
villages

P
age 214



18

Shared space Caernarfon Top: Gravel riding is growing in popularity 
creating an opportunity for a new audience.
Above: Inclusive active travel caters for all 
ages and ability – Greater Manchester

P
age 215



19

6.2 Landscape - Green & Blue Infrastructure

Green and blue infrastructure refers the landscapes (habitats, woodlands, 
fields, parks etc) and water systems (rivers, tributaries, streams etc). The 
recommendations offered around green and blue infrastructure are cognisant 
of the vast body of work contained by and managed by the AONB 
Partnership and the recently published Wye Valley Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty (AONB) Management Plan 2021-2026. In response, the 
recommendations of this study are not based around large-scale change to 
the landscape and water system of the AONB. Instead, the focus of this 
study is on recommendations which can be aligned with community-based 
projects, Council led initiatives or the result of collaboration. 

Net Zero Carbon

In 2019 Monmouthshire County Council declared a climate emergency and 
a target of net zero carbon by 2030. In achieving this target it is likely that 
Monmouthshire County Council will need to understand the contribution 
green and blue infrastructure can make both within the county and more 
specifically the study area of this report. Similar carbon assessments assess 
the sequestration value of council owned/publicly owned assets and the 
impact future changes to natural systems can make. Whilst this report does 
not make a specific recommendation for a particular course of action, this 
should be viewed as a cross cutting theme.

Pilot projects for regenerative agriculture

There is an opportunity to engage the agricultural community in order to 
deliver shared benefits for the AONB, local communities, local ecology and 
to mitigate climate change. Regenerative agriculture can be defined as 
farming practices which actively seek to conserve and enhance biodiversity, 
improve soil health and support the local economy. 

During the study we have discussed the opportunity for MCC to utilise 
publicly owned land holdings for a pilot project to explore the benefits, 
challenges and opportunities for regenerative agriculture. We recommend 
this is explored further.

Wider enhancement opportunities 

Interventions should support wider ecological connectivity through the 
enhancement and conservation of trees, hedgerows, verges, riparian habitat 
and lowland meadows for example. A local action group (Monmouthshire 
Meadows) is active within the area and have successfully delivered Trellech
Wet Meadows Local Wildlife Site with Gwent Wildlife Trust. The potential 
to create additional schemes should be explored.

Village level change

At a village level, it is recommended that any improvements to localised 
streets and public spaces are taken forward with nature-based solutions to 
water management. This is often referred to as Sustainable Urban Drainage 
Systems (SUDs). Such systems use planting and landscaped features such 
as channels and ponds to store, filter and slowly release rainwater into 
streams, rivers and watercourses. These can deliver multiple benefits 
including the creation of low maintenance filtration systems, reducing 
flooding, new habitat and recreation value. These are now required by 
Welsh Government for new road and public realm schemes.

Community led change

In addition, community led initiatives which align with and support the 
overarching aims of the AONB can play an important role in placemaking 
and raising awareness amongst the community. Micro habitat creation such 
as the so-called Tiny-forests initiative or local food production schemes 
such as Incredible Edible can prove an invaluable source of positive change 
and help further shape the character of the villages.

P
age 216



20

The layers of green and blue 
infrastructure as they relate to 
the villages

P
age 217



21

Community and village led green and blue infrastructure

Above: Native planting was designed into the Fitzpark temporary park in London. 
Monmouthshire has a successful track record of delivering small native perennial planting 
(including County Hall, Usk). This theme should be extended to each village as part of 
the public realm enhancements. 
Above right: Incredible Edible projects encourage community food production. Already 
existing in Usk, these could be encouraged within the villages to encourage healthy 
eating, biodiversity and to reflect the aims of the AONB Management Plan.
Bottom right: Mini Forest projects (Cardiff Bay shown) are small scale community tree 
planting schemes.

P
age 218



22

6.3 Tourism

The views, recommendations and ideas contained within this section have 
been discussed with key stakeholders and are focussed on the next steps and 
a possible way forward. To develop an effective, future action plan for the 
tourism aspects of “Wye Valley Villages Plan for the Future”, there is a 
need to step-back and look at opportunities and challenges with a slightly 
broader and more strategic view.

We recommend sharp, swift, and a more joined-up overview, building on 
historic work already undertaken that can clearly identify strategic priorities, 
actions and quick tactical wins.

Key considerations of this strategy (and the impending action plan that will 
outline how the recommendations should be delivered) should include the 
overarching project governance and the approach to formulating the 
strategy. Our considerations are presented as a series of key questions to be 
responded to and agreed between stakeholders as the basis for a future 
Tourism strategy.

Project Governance

1. Geographic Boundaries

What are the geographic boundaries of the project / destination? More 
specifically is it the nine villages examined in this study? The area of the 
Wye Valley AONB in Wales?  The Wye Valley AONB as a whole? Or 
another geographic boundary?

2. Leadership and delivery

Who are the organisations that will form part of the planning and delivery 
solution and who will lead the process? Destination marketing and 
destination management cannot be delivered in two separate silos which 
suggests the AONB partnership with MCC support.  Furthermore, if the 
governance of tourism includes communities, does it include tourism 
business and employees from within those communities e.g., Humble by 
Nature? If it does include businesses, does it include external, or cross-
border, or private organisations such as Visit Dean Wye?

3. Balancing tourism benefit and effect

What is the acceptable balance between tourism benefit and tourism impact 
for each individual community and component organisation? To add 
further, when considering this, what does sustainable tourism success really 
look like? This is a key question given that managing and curating future, 
sustainable tourism will require substantial resources, and a reversal of the 
erosion of public sector resources and services that have marked recent 
history.

4. The condition of the tourism economy

When considering the need and appetite to grow the tourism opportunity in 
the Wye Valley, there are two key questions to consider. Firstly, how 
“fragile is the tourism economy”? And secondly, what scale does the 
‘tourism engine’ have to therefore be in order to be robust?

P
age 219



23

Approach to formulating a new tourism strategy

The following recommendations outline a series of steps to develop and 
deliver a new strategy including:

• The Swift delivery of an updated strategy and action plan (with 
measurable outcomes) for sustainable tourism with hard metrics and a 
defined business case at its heart, that can be measured and monitored 
so that as the strategy gets implemented, the degree of its success can 
be measured, and its implementation guided and shaped.

• A new strategy should build on, and update, the Wye Valley AONB 
Sustainable Tourism Strategy 2011-2016. Although this report did not 
contain detailed metrics and economics, it did provide a clear and 
comprehensive picture of what sustainable tourism could look like. A 
review of this plan is needed to determine which elements worked 
and those which did not. It will be essential to understand what has 
changed and what new opportunities and challenges have emerged.

• The new strategy should be based on hard data – linking into the 
ongoing research and data collection already being done for example 
by MCC / Visit Wales

• A new strategy should also be cognisant of, and align with the 
Monmouthshire Destination Plan. 

• Business cases should be quantified with either ‘hard’, economic 
outcomes or social value generation. For example, the number of new 
full and part time jobs created, the value this brings to the local 
economy and relative uplift against the existing situation.

• Any new strategy should be realistic and pragmatic – but should not 
be afraid to be ambitious and aspirational.  Without an ambitious 
plan, that can deliver sustainable economic and social benefits, why 
should stakeholders and investors want to back it and provide the 
resources needed? This represents evolution as opposed to revolution 
but will require a significant and positive step-change, built-in.

• A new strategy should be divided into what is termed ‘hardware and 
software’.

o Software – The behaviours, methodologies, and means used 
to market, manage and curate the visitor experience and the 
destination (in general terms- the destination management plan 
and the destination marketing plan) 

o Hardware - The physical and bricks & mortar facilities, 
amenities and infrastructure that support the delivery of the 
visitor experience.

P
age 220



24

• Software might include.

o Brand - The development and application of a more clearly 
defined place brand, in terms of common, shared values; 
strategic messages and visual identity.  The current lack of 
singularity, clarity, and consistency of place brand within the 
wider Valley, dilutes and fails to enhance a unique and 
compelling sense of place.

o Messages that can be developed, unified, and amplified across 
all channels & platforms such as websites, social media, 
printed form and signage. These messages can be focused on 
encouraging the tourism behaviours that we want to promote. 
They might (for example) include:

 Ditch the Car! The Wye Valley is an immersive, multi-sensory 
experience that you can only enjoy when you get out of the car. 
Any visit to the Valley needs to include parking-up and getting 
out and into the landscape whether it be by walking, cycling, or 
canoeing etc.

 More to see than just a day trip! don’t just pass-through, stay 
overnight.

 Avoid the queues! The Valley is just as incredible out of season 
and off-peak. The Valley’s scenery changes with the seasons and 
is maybe even more beautiful & compelling and the welcome 
maybe even warmer, when we are not at our busiest.

P
age 221



25

o The Borderlands Theme and Identity.  The English and Welsh 
border represents an exciting melting pot, of differing 
histories, languages, ethnographies, and cultures. As long as 
boundaries separate places in political, socio-cultural, and 
economic terms, borderlands will continue to be a unique 
venue for tourist activities. This sense of passing from one 
world to another, of encompassing within a few steps two 
realms of experience, enchants and fascinates tourists. There is 
a rich opportunity to amplify this theme both in marketing and 
experiences across the Valley.

The Mexico United States 
International Park

Polish Karkonosze National Park / 
Czech Krkonoše National Park

La Amistad International Park 

Right: Borderlands – comparator managed landscapes located at national boundaries.

P
age 222



26

• Hardware opportunities that the Wye Valley stakeholders can 
champion, lead, or partner on might include:

o Signage and Wayfinding - applying a reinvigorated and 
renewed place brand and visual identity, swiftly via new 
signage and wayfinding within the agreed geographic 
boundary.  This could be a quick win and early deliverable 
demonstrating positive change for the local communities and 
visitors alike.

o Gateways – bold, physical forms on highways and footpaths, 
that signify arrival into or departure from this special and 
magical place. This could enhance and reaffirm the sense of 
place and create a positive sense of arrival which is currently 
missing. This represents another quick win and early 
deliverable.

o Visitor Attractions – especially those that celebrate and 
promote rural life and sustainable living, as tourists have 
become increasingly aware of environmental impact.  If 
attraction opportunities are left to market forces, and the mix 
only curated passively, this risks a race to bottom – bringing 
the wrong sort of visitor for the wrong sort of occasion.  
Attraction operators with adequate finances are scarce across 
the UK and Europe. That is why partnerships, soft equity 
(capital grant support) and joined-up thinking will be required, 
to proactively plan, deliver and sustain a broader range of 
complementary attractions and attraction operators in 
appropriate locations.  

o Supporting amenities – for example more serviced and or 
semi-serviced, accommodation and food and beverage 
opportunities. Celebrating the food provenance of the area, and 
offering the chance to really ‘meet local people’, as tourists are 
looking increasingly for authenticity in their experiences

P
age 223



27

o Local Tourism Hubs – pockets of more dedicated tourist 
activity located strategically with parking, amenities and 
access to the landscape or recreation especially along the river 
Valley. This would mean actively curating this need in 
appropriate locations with the supporting amenities especially 
in potentially underused areas like NRW woodlands with 
cycle trails etc nearby.

o Main Tourism Hubs There may be scope for developing larger 
and more integrated tourism hubs. These could accommodate 
and integrate new attractions and amenities and be co-located 
with the inter modal interchanges discussed in section 6.1 
Sustainable Transport and Road Safety. These could be 
compact versions possibly, of the proposed PEAK - Peak 
District National Park resort campus near Chesterfield located 
at the prime gateways to the Valley such as Chepstow 
racecourse.

Right: PEAK is a proposed all year leisure, education, wellness and entertainment 
destination set in 300 acres of reclaimed parkland on the edge of the Peak District 
National Park and Chesterfield.

P
age 224



28

6.4 Local economy

While Monmouthshire has the highest rate of active businesses and business 
births as well as the third highest GVA in Wales, career opportunities and 
availability and quality of employment sites are limited, and the tourism 
industry is seasonal.

Four drivers of change may support improvements and transformation of 
the local economy, changing demographics, business dynamics, digital 
infrastructure and housing diversity. The following section included a short 
description of each and a list of actions.

Changing demographics: An older population is attracted to the region’s 
high quality of life but are in need of specific services and a younger 
population is in need of employment opportunities and incentives to drive 
initiatives forward locally. Specific actions could be:

• Attract and retain young people through providing the right employment, 
high quality education, apprenticeships, graduate placements and startup
schemes

• Explore new ways of delivering health and social care such as the use of 
technology for remote consultation and targeting training for the care 
sector to ensure a ready supply of trained staff

Digital Infrastructure: Good quality digital infrastructure and connectivity 
is central in facilitating digital businesses, education, social inclusion, and 
inward investment in the region. The hills and valleys of the Wye Valley 
make it difficult to deploy traditional approaches to digital infrastructure 
such as laying cables. Specific actions could be:

• Provide better broadband infrastructure such as Next Generation Access 
or wireless broadband coverage to reduce out commuting

• Enhance community, recreational and cultural facilities (e.g. community 
hubs, co-working spaces) to promote capacity building activities with 
local communities and businesses in order to increase social capital, 
create skills networks and drive initiatives forward

• Promote digital workforce skills and digital customer services as well as 
business digital capacity and automation 

• Enhanced tourism offer through the use of products such as augmented 
reality at sites such as Tintern Abbey

• Continue to work with Monmouthshire Broadband/Broadband partners 
to deliver their current plan for ‘Fibre to the Premises’ internet in Tintern 
and Trellech

Business dynamics: There is opportunity for increasing entrepreneurship 
(such as the Wye Valley Producers collective) and growth in sectors such as 
environmental land management, local food processing and distribution, 
food tourism and education. Specific actions could be:

• Raise the profile of the region as a dynamic place to do business and as 
an investment opportunity for the private sector

Left: The Glove Factory 
Bradford on Avon. Digitally 
enabled rural co-working DRAFT

P
age 225



29

Housing diversity: Wye Valley is a desirable and expensive place to live, 
but it is unaffordable for people employed locally and young people. The 
high cost of housing may also be discouraging for new and existing local 
businesses. Specific actions could be:

• Encourage construction of new houses and address the need for 
affordable and varied housing stock.

• Increase availability of housing sites to provide differing residential 
products and to enable higher rates of jobs per dwelling.

• Address the wider geographic differences in employment and housing 
markets in the region.

Below: The Wye 
Valley contains 
important 
enterprises for 
local produce

Business dynamics (continued from previous page)

• Strengthen partnerships with Coleg Y Gwent to develop training and 
skills for the next generation to support hospitality, tourism and food 
promotion

• Increase the number of local suppliers securing public service contracts 
and more flexible approaches to the promotion of smaller-scale 
businesses based on indigenous resources 

• Invest in key growth sectors such as manufacturing, business, 
professional and scientific and arts, entertainment and recreation 

P
age 226



30

6.5 The Villages - Placemaking

The placemaking vision aims to define, enhance, and celebrate the 
uniqueness and diversity of the Wye Valley villages and their community. It 
aims to explore and unlock their distinct character, building on location 
conditions, history, heritage, landscape and the ethnographic narrative of the 
settlement and their people. 

To emphasise this uniqueness, we consider these villages as a tapestry of 
settlements, moving away from the basic distinction between the villages in 
the valley and the ones high on the plateau between Wye Valley and Vale 
of Usk. This network of villages allows for unique identities to flourish and 
be reinforced, together with Monmouth and Chepstow as gateway towns. 
Of these, nine are explored within this study. Redbrook although part of the 
structure of villages and acknowledged here falls outside of Monmouthshire 
and therefore this study.

Using the same six key pillars as for the overarching vision, common 
strategies and principles for placemaking can be defined, such as 
interventions that improve:

• travel and movement (road safety, active travel routes), 

• tourism (signage and wayfinding, amenities and services), 

• landscape (SUDs, biodiversity, trees and vegetation) and 

• local economy (co-working hubs, local supply chains, digital economy 
and businesses)

P
age 227



31

These proposed interventions are early 
ideas for the public and stakeholders 
to comment on. In some instances 
they fall within privately owned land 
or will require more design, feasibility 
and investigation. In such instances 
this will require a longer time frame to 
assess viability and will require more 
in depth conversations to build 
consensus.

Suggestions are offered for particular 
uses within certain village halls. These 
should not be considered as the only 
potential uses and alternative ideas are 
welcomed.

The following pages contain 
diagrammatic plans explaining how 
these proposed interventions could be 
implemented in each village and 
includes a brief summary text for 
each. 

The accompanying key provided here 
defines each of the proposed 
interventions.

P
age 228



32

TINTERN

P
age 229



33

Tintern

The remains of Tintern Abbey are one of the defining features of the Wye 
Valley. This is where visible history (the Abbey), past industry, the 
picturesque landscape and village life reflect the Wye Valley in one place. 
This places pressure on what is a small settlement to successfully manage 
the complex balance between visitors and residents. The initial proposal 
seeks to address this and enhance the village through:

• Street design to increase the sense of place, improve biodiversity and 
flood resilience (via SuDS) and improve road safety.

• A new connection over the River Wye to aid the movement of people 
through Tintern and potentially creating new opportunities for 
placemaking 

• The agglomeration of services and uses around the Abbey such as tourist 
information, intermodal interchange and local businesses

• A new transport hub to encourage greater use of sustainable transport 
and reduce the volume of traffic mover further along the valley

• A new mobility hub and possible new river connections to better link 
Tintern Parva

P
age 230



34

DEVAUDEN

Sustrans National Cycle Route

P
age 231



35

Devauden

By contrast to the destination villages such as Tintern, the character of 
Devauden reflects its function as a community and less as a tourism 
destination. During the engagement process concern was raised over the 
volume and speed of movement. The main feature of note and opportunity 
is the village green which contains the interpretative feature for John 
Wesley . Given the importance of the Wesleyan movement and its global 
reach, there is an opportunity to enhance this space to serve multiple 
purposes for the community and visitors. The active community hall and 
community council can play a key role in delivering change on the ground. 
The initial proposals are:

• Revised street design to increase the sense of place and improve road 
safety

• The transformation of the village green into a space which supports 
multiple uses and enhances the sense of place

P
age 232



36

LLANDOGO

P
age 233



37

Llandogo

One of the riverside villages, Llandogo lacks the profile and status of 
nearby Tintern. The village has no single defining feature or space and 
although it enjoys a riverside access, it feels disconnected from the river 
which once supported the local trow industry. Despite this, the village has 
significant potential as both a pivot point for multiple walking points and as 
a place. The AONB are currently investing in the restoration of Wordsworth 
Walk and Cleddon Shoots SSSI. The initial proposals seek to reshape the 
village to harness the natural advantages and rediscover its history by:

• Street design to increase the sense of place, improve biodiversity and 
flood resilience (via SuDS) and improve road safety.

• Forming a heart to the village by creating a multi-functional space within 
the village green

• Enhancing the biodiversity of the lowland river meadows

• Celebrating the maritime past by creating a new focus for river activities 
such as a new wharf, water-craft making and associated interpretation

• Reconnecting the village to the river through improved access for 
walkers and cyclists

P
age 234



38

THE NARTH

P
age 235



39

The Narth

The village is like Devauden a community rather than a focal point for 
tourism. The quiet, secluded nature of the village and wooded setting are 
defining characteristics. Proposed change in the Narth is limited considering 
the residential nature of the village. However, subtle interventions could 
help garner greater community cohesion, increase the sense of place and 
cater for low impact tourism in the form of walkers/hikers. The initial 
proposals are to;

• Use the village hall as the location for themed events (such as local food 
markets) to entice walkers and hikers and to provide respite stop.

• Street design to increase the sense of place, improve biodiversity and 
flood resilience (via SuDS) and improve road safety.

P
age 236



40

TRELLECH

P
age 237



41

Trellech

The historic pattern of buildings, archaeology and surrounding open pasture 
of Trellech create one of the most distinct villages. Although these features 
have the potential to attract larger visitor numbers, Trellech retains the feel 
of a rural village in contrast to the destination of Tintern. Addressing the 
future role of Trellech within the Wye Valley needs consideration. A 
carefully orchestrated offer which maintains tranquillity for residents while 
attracting a new audience of visitors could positively support the wider offer 
of the Wye Valley. The initial proposition includes

• Street design to increase the sense of place, improve biodiversity and 
flood resilience (via SuDS) and improve road safety

• A focal point for tourists or hub formed around the existing pub

• The continuation of habitat enhancement from Trellech water meadows 
to include the surrounding pasture land by encouraging participation 
from the community and local school

• A low impact tourism accommodation site and visitor parking/mobility 
hub

P
age 238



42

LLANISHEN

P
age 239



43

Llanishen

Like Devauden and the Narth, Llanishen is largely community focused. The 
village backs on to the B4293 partially screening it from passing traffic. It is 
fragmented in form, extending west away from the main road. Whilst the 
screening helps mitigate the impact of passing traffic for residents the lack 
of an evident ‘place’ for those passing through does little to discourage 
speeding vehicles. The initial proposal considers a more radical approach:

• Street design to increase the sense of place, improve biodiversity and 
flood resilience (via SuDS) and improve road safety.

• Diverting the B4293 to reduce vehicle speeds and create a new village 
heart (a green)

• An option to further divert the B4293 to create space for new homes set 
around the village green

P
age 240



44

ST ARVANS

P
age 241



45

St Arvans

The village marks the southern gateway to the Wye Valley and is 
immediately north of Chepstow racecourse. It marks the connection 
between the B4293 and A466  linking the lower reaches of the valley with 
the upper area. Despite this strategic importance there is little to mark this 
important location whilst local residents experience the dual negative of 
passing traffic with little direct benefit from visitors. The initial proposals 
for St Arvans includes:

• Street design to increase the sense of place, improve biodiversity and 
flood resilience (via SuDS) and improve road safety.

• Creating a prominent feature through street design and landscape design 
to denote the importance of this gateway

• The use of Chepstow racecourse as a transport hub to encourage greater 
use of sustainable transport and as an entry point to the strategic walking 
routes.

P
age 242



46

PENALLT

P
age 243



47

Penallt

The village enjoys a prominent location elevated at the head of the valley. 
The area is largely community focused with visitor destinations focused 
around Humble by Nature and Penallt Hall. Initial proposals are cognisant 
of these enterprises and build on these assets and the natural environment to 
shape a broader proposition around regenerative agriculture. 

• Street design to increase the sense of place, improve biodiversity and 
flood resilience (via SuDS) and improve road safety.

• The deployment of regenerative agricultural pilots aligned to Humble by 
Nature, the existing nature reserves and village

• The use of Penallt Hall as a rural enterprise hub 

DRAFT

P
age 244



48

CATBROOK

P
age 245



49

Catbrook

The village is a community rather than a focal point for tourism. As with the 
Narth the quiet, secluded character of the village is a defining feature. 
Accordingly, proposed change is limited. Subtle interventions could help 
garner greater community cohesion, increase the sense of place and cater for 
low impact tourism in the form of walkers/hikers. The initial proposals are 
to;

• Improve existing walking and cycling connections through the village

• Provide enhanced habitat 

• Deliver new street design to increase the sense of place, improve 
biodiversity and flood resilience (via SuDS) and improve road safety.

P
age 246



50

6.6  Governance

Leadership, ownership and identity will be decisive when it comes to 
delivering the vision for the “Wye Valley Villages AONB Plan for the 
Future”. The action and delivery plan that will support the Plan for the 
Future will need strong, constant and proactive management and guidance. 
That will ensure successful and viable development, funding and delivery of 
a programme of potential projects that will be defined for each vision pillar 
(travel & movement, landscape, local economy and tourism).

An integrated approach is essential to resolve issues and realise 
opportunities. The Wye Valley AONB Joint Advisory Committee (JAC) is 
currently the main cross-border body, consisting of local authorities, 
government agencies and interested public, private and voluntary sector 
organisations, that oversees the AONB Management Plan and the AONB 
Unit, and advises partners on issues, initiatives and strategies relating to the 
AONB.

Many of the challenges and opportunities in the Wye Valley are not bound 
by geographical or administrative boundaries and the “increasingly complex 
and widespread environmental, social and political challenges transcend 
traditional management boundaries” as the AONB management plan states. 
The opportunity is to create cross border partnerships with national entities, 
whose strategies and plans aim to achieve similar objectives and jointly 
coordinate, plan, deliver and fund future projects.

During the next stage of work, we will need to define or identify a 
governance structure that is able to deliver the vision. Clear and strong 
governance and removing traditional boundaries between the public and 
private sector could further enhance collaboration and integration between 
the existing plans and projects and offer support to new or grassroots 
initiatives.

P
age 247



51

7. Next steps

• Stage 3 work will include:

• Review of initial proposals with the client team.

• Public consultation and review and summarise the feedback and results.

• Develop the vision into a holistic strategic framework plan with an 
action plan. 

• Consider the creation of a village design guide.

• Roadmap and Recommendations to deliver the Plan of the Future.

The action plan will include a high-level delivery and funding strategy, 
identifying priorities for the short, mid and long term.

We will also include recommendations for next steps, such as a Business 
Plan for tourism, a Street Design Manual, road safety projects and pilot 
projects. Digital public engagement using Arup Virtual Engage

P
age 248



P
age 249



118    DRAFT  Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

Appendix 4
Public engagement summary

Page 250



DRAFT  Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 119
Page 251



Wye Valley Villages Virtual Engage 
Summary
Oct 2021

P
age 252



6 week engagement
Total No of responses:  Good response level - 260 (244 from VE)

Image above :Results from virtual engage 

P
age 253



P
age 254



Key messages

• General consensus and support for Road Safety (20mph, village gateways)
• General support for the concept of the network of villages
• Need to focus intervention and where to offer limited change. Limited support for 

intervention in some villages (Catbrook)
• Messaging around active travel is key – we need to show it is for all
• We need to do more to improve accessibility and inclusivity – maintenance, ease of access 

for all ages, abilities
• The River Wye needs to feature more strongly
• Final report will need to be refined – clarity of proposed intervention and language
• The ‘how’ question is prevalent. Clear messaging on delivery needed for final report

P
age 255



Themes - Feedback

P
age 256



Local Economy 
What do you like? 

What don’t you like ? 

What further suggestions do you have? 

Affordable 
housing

Supporting 
local 

businesses

Job 
Opportunities 

Lack of   
social 

housing

Lack of new 
employment 
opportunities

Impact of 
(potential)  housing 

on AONB

Village halls 
as work 

hubs (WFH)

Support 
local 

businesses

Housing 
Diversity

Transport & Movement
What do you like? 

What don’t you like ? 

What further suggestions do you have? 

Speed 
limits

Wye valley 
Greenway

Network of 
villages

Limited 
public 

transport

Unsafe 
cycling

Sharing roads 
with cyclists & 

scooters

Bike racks 
& 

amenities

Link active 
travel & public 

transport

Tourists using public 
transport & cycle paths

• Majority of respondents agree with the introduction of speed limits and road safety 
measure

• Overall, improving connectivity between villages and the Wye Valley has strong 
support

• The legibility and safety of bus stops in rural areas was brought up. This is 
particularly important for women and children

• There was a large focus on enhancing the cycling experience for residents and 
tourists. Bike parking & amenities, bike carrying buses and Park & Bike were 
common suggestions. 

• Retaining and enhancing local identity
• Integrating & Improving community hubs
• Concerns over the impact of new housing and supporting infrastructure on the AONB
• Lack of digital connectivity and opportunities for remote working in the

Wye Valley
• More accessibility to shops is desired.
• Renovating and repurposing old buildings is seen as an

opportunity

P
age 257



Landscape
What do you like? 

What don’t you like ? 

What further suggestions do you have? 

Regenerativ
e agriculture

Improved 
Ecology

Nature 
based 

approach

Agricultural 
pollution 
(inc river)

Maintenance 
of routes

Lack of 
climate 
action

Nature 
based 

tourism 

Managing 
forest health

Support 
rewilding 
projects

Placemaking
What do you like? 

What don’t you like ? 

What further suggestions do you have? 

Unique 
identity for 

each 
village

Integrated 
network of 

villages

Speed 
limit

Tourist 
infrastructure

Lack of 
consideration 

for pedestrians

Need more 
consideration for 
children & elderly

Platform 
that pulls 
together 

news/events

Repurposin
g historical 
buildings

Community 
supported 
agriculture

• Regenerative agriculture and sustainable farming were also encouraged
• The biggest concern was regarding river pollution and agricultural pollution
• The maintenance of existing paths appears to be a big problem
• The public would like to see better management and maintenance of the 

forest, including the river health
• Nature based tourism is encouraged
• Respondents recognise the importance of climate emergency and would like 

to see more ambitious climate action

• Respondents liked the unique identities for each village and they all create an 
integrated network of villages

• However, there are concerns that an increase in tourism will introduce more 
unwanted infrastructure and traffic

• Repurposing some historical building is a great opportunity and has public 
support

• Other suggestions include expansion of community manages green assets, 
engaging with local volunteers, sustainable energy hub and celebrating the 
geology of the Wye Valley with a Geopark

P
age 258



Tourism 
What do you like? 

What don’t you like ? 

What further suggestions do you have? 

Access to 
river

Local 
Identity 

Wye valley 
brand

Lack of 
focus on 
history

Risk of 
losing 

tranquillity of 
the valley

Funding & 
Delivery 

Immersive 
experienc

e

Arts & cultural
activities

Hop off /on 
buses & tours

Governance & Delivery
What do you like? 

What don’t you like ? 

What further suggestions do you have? 

Joined up 
governance

•

• Respondents could see the value in a Wye Valley brand and empowering local 
businesses

• The main concerns were the impacts of tourism on the character and tranquillity of 
the Wye Valley and its villages.

• The locals would like the history of the Wye Valley to be celebrated more
• There are questions about how these proposals are funded and delivered. The 

community would like more details on timescales, stages and they would like to be 
more involved.

Integrated 
approach

Network of 
villages

Cross border 
thinking

Not quantifying 
success of 
proposals

River pollution 
– wider reach 

needed

Retain welsh 
identity, 

language & 
culture

Influencing 
sat nav 

routing to 
enhance 
status of 

quiet lanes

Dedicated 
village agents

• Respondents would like to see an integrated approach for the network of villages 
which requires strong joined up governance

• The community would like to see more cross border thinking and strengthen links 
with neighbouring authorities

• Reaching out to wider organisations for support on addressing river pollution
• There is desire to celebrate Welsh identity, language and culture
• Other suggestions include appointing dedicated village agents and potentially 

influencing sat nav routing algorithms to enhance status of quiet lanes or suggest 
     

P
age 259



Villages - Feedback

P
age 260



Trellech (23)
What do you like? 

What don’t you like ? 

What further suggestions do you have? 

Meadow 
enhancement

(6)

Gateways 
(5)

Road 
safety

(4)

Existing road 
safety 

measures
(5)

Lack of clarity 
on 'shared 
spaces'

( 2 )

Meadow 
enhancement

(2)

Road 
safety 

measures
(9)

Recreational 
activities & 

cafes
(4)

Pedestrian 
access

(5)

Catbrook (49) 
What do you like? 

What don’t you like ? 

What further suggestions do you have? 

• Positive feedback regarding meadow enhancements
• Speed limits and gateways were widely accepted but the community would like to 

see additional road measure that ensure reduced speeds
• Respondents welcomed the idea of shared spaces but some would like more clarity
• There were some concerns about the impacts of tourism
• The community would like to see improved pedestrian access, cycle lanes, inclusive 

recreational activities and celebration of archaeological sites

• Speed limits received positive feedback in the area
• The community are strongly against any new paths, particularly any paths that cross 

private lands.
• There is also a strong opposition towards the proposed meadows
• The community are also against the proposed shared space
• There were suggestions to allocate more land to the village hall for community 

activities and parking
• There were some concerns over the disruptions caused by the distillery

Speed limit
(23)

Gateways
(7)

New paths
(6)

New paths
(37)

Catbrook
meadows

(17)

Shared space
(11)

More land for 
village hall 
activities

(3)

Enhance 
recreation 
ground

(2)

No 
interventions 

needed
(4)

P
age 261



Tintern (23)
What do you like? 

What don’t you like ? 

What further suggestions do you have? 

Access to river 
(13)

Cycle 
lanes

(5)

Pedestrian 
access

(5)

Gateways
(2)

The island
(3)

River crossing
(existing bridge)

(2)

Additional 
parking

(2)

Refurbish old 
abbey hotel

(2)

Clean the river
(welsh water)

(2)

Devauden (31)
What do you like? 

What don’t you like ? 

What further suggestions do you have? 

• The most positive feedback was around increased access to the river and river 
crossings

• The public were also keen on cycle lanes and pedestrian routes
• There was some scepticism on The Island
• There were several suggestions for renovating or repurposing The Abbey Hotel
• Residents believe current parking is inadequate, particularly with more tourism
• River pollution is also a concern among locals

• Introduction of speed limits has a lot of support, however some would like to have 
additional traffic calming measures to ensure speed is reduced

• Safe cycle lanes are in high demand. Residents would like to see better cycling 
connectivity as well

• There were mixed reviews regarding the village green. Most residents had concerns 
and preferred to leave it untouched. There were suggestions to use Memorial Hall 
for new proposals.

• Perennial planting and EV charging were popular
• Some suggestions included renovation & repurposing the church, a community pub 

and more historical interpretation

Speed limit
(13)

Cycle lanes
(7)

Village green
(4)

Village green
(15)

Speed limit
(4)

Farmers 
market

(1)

More traffic 
measures

(9)

Pedestrian 
crossing

(4)

Improve 
existing 

footpaths
(4)

P
age 262



St Arvans (12)
What do you like? 

What don’t you like ? 

What further suggestions do you have? 

Speed limits
(7)

Village 
Gateway

(4)

Increased 
value of local 

hubs (3)

Hotel ( wye 
valley walk 

route )
(4)

Terminology in 
the report

(2)

Traffic calming 
measures

(2)

Traffic 
calming 

measures
(3)

Parking 
provision

(2)

Expand 
existing local 

shop
(2)

Llandogo (30)
What do you like? 

What don’t you like ? 

What further suggestions do you have? 

• Majority are in favour of speed limit and village gateways but would like to see 
additional traffic measures

• They also recognise the value of local hubs
• Some people would like to see more parking
• Expansion of local shops, cycle paths and EV charging point is welcomed

• The majority of the community are strongly opposed to any interventions on 
Memorial green and suggest the field around Millenium Hall a more suitable 
location for the proposals

• Many residents are unhappy with the existing children's play areas and would like 
to see better parks and playing facilities for kids of all ages.

• Many residents believe the viewing spot location is inappropriate
• There is large support for repair and maintenance to footpaths and landscape. 

Current footpath conditions are poor and unsafe
• Other suggestions include local evening activities, learning centres, allotments and 

opportunities around the village shop

Speed limit
(6)

Access to river
(7)

Pedestrian 
paths

(4)

Memorial green
(11)

Tourism
(3)

Viewing point
(3)

Improve play 
area
(3)

Improve 
existing 

footpaths
(2)

Safe pedestrian 
access

(4)

P
age 263



The Narth (8)
What do you like? 

What don’t you like ? 

What further suggestions do you have? 

Speed limit
(4)

Overall scheme
(2)

Narth as a 
hilltop retreat

(1)

Noise from 
motor bikes

(1)

Signage & road 
markings

(2)

Large proposed 
houses

(1)

No more 
street lighting

(4)

Parking
provision

(2)

Expand 
existing local 

shop
(2)

Penallt (26)
What do you like? 

What don’t you like ? 

What further suggestions do you have? 

• The community is generally happy with the overall scheme and the description of 
The Narth as a hilltop retreat

• Introducing speed limits is accepted
• There was positive feedback regarding proposals for improved connectivity. Locals 

welcomed the village hall as a transport hub, new bus stops and a park & ride.
• Residents are unhappy about current noise pollution from motor bikes
• They are also concerned about large housing proposals and urbanisation due to road 

signage
• Respondents were largely against more street lighting

• The feedback was overwhelmingly focused on the importance of Redbrook Bridge. 
It is considered as a vital part of the community life and sense of pride. Its repair 
and maintenance is unquestionably of highest concern to the community.

• The locals strongly value their relationship and connection with neighbouring 
Redbrook. Cross border interactions are a part of their daily lives and they would 
like to see MCC & GCC take a joined up approach

• Proposals received very positive feedback, particularly the local hub and 
regenerative agriculture

• Residents are concerned about river pollution and their inability to enjoy water 
activities such as swimming.

• Other suggestions included community gardens, allotments and local coffee shops

Redbrook
bridge

(7)

Connecting Penallt
& Redbrook

communities (3)

Value of 
local hubs

(3)

Redbrook
bridge 

maintenance
(14)

Safe pedestrian 
access

(2)

River pollution
(4)

Redbrook
bridge 

maintenance
(13)

Community 
connectivity 

between MCC 
& GCC (2)

Community 
orchard & 
allotments

(2)

P
age 264



Llanishen (25)
What do you like? 

What don’t you like ? 

What further suggestions do you have? 

Speed limit
(12)

Community hub
(2)

Pavement 
improvements (2)

Location of 
village green

(11)

A new village 
green

(2)

unsafe 
pedestrian 

crossings (2)

Better parks 
and play 

areas
(3)

Safe pedestrian 
access

(3)

More traffic 
calming 

measures
(3)

• Residents welcomed the idea of speed limits and encouraged additional traffic 
calming measures to ensure speed is reduced

• Although a community hub and village green are welcome, residents strongly 
believe that it is best located at the village hall. The village hall is considered the 
heart of the community there is support for improving its facilities.

• Many residents are unhappy with the existing children's play areas and would like 
to see better parks and playing facilities for kids of all ages.

• They also believe safe pedestrian access is lacking and would like to see this 
i d

P
age 265



Next steps

• Feedback meeting with community councils Oct 14th

• Arup to edit and update final report 
• Issue Draft to client team w/e Oct 29th Oct
• Final report w/e 19th NovP

age 266



P
age 267



120    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

Devauden Community 
Council

St Arvans Community 
Council

Page 268



4    Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 

Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for 
the future

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Our communities and natural environment 
face significant and imminent change from the 
climate emergency and post-Covid recovery. 
These are radically changing the way we think 
about our communities and environment. We 
need to change our day-to-day life and leave 
behind many of the accepted approaches we 
have become used to such as our over reliance 
on car use. Remote working, online shopping 
and the internet are radically changing the way 
we live, access services and seek information. 

Against this backdrop of major change, the 
natural beauty, local resources and human 
history of the Wye Valley has attracted residents, 
businesses and visitors for centuries. Each 
of these are intrinsically linked meaning that 
a careful balance is key to success or indeed 
failure. Where an imbalance occurs it becomes 
obvious. Local concerns over river pollution, 
speeding cars through the villages or the impact 
of large numbers of visitors to Tintern during 
peak times demonstrate how this delicate 
balance can shift the wrong way. To compound 
these challenges is the complex geography of 
the area as the convergence of multiple local 
authorities and the Wales-England border. 
Gaining consensus and consistency in policy, 
financing and governance is challenging. 

Despite these challenges the area benefits 
from notable advantages. Beyond the obvious 
quality of the landscape, active and engaged 
community council’s and residents are providing 
energy and ambition. Many independent local 
businesses have become part of the fabric 
each marketing the area to broad audiences 
and providing local jobs. The borderland 
location should become a point of celebration 
rather than a source of inertia. Success will 
mean embracing innovation, fronting up to 
contentious issues such as traffic, developing 

new partnerships, accepting trial and error and 
building on the existing natural assets. It will 
require investment in a way that delivers far 
wider benefits to our health, our environment, 
our local communities and our local economies.

The question for the Wye Valley, its 
communities, businesses and visitors is how 
can this balance be struck and what does it 
look like? 

The “Wye Valley AONB Villages Plan for the 
Future” sets a vision for change through 
short, medium and long-term projects aimed 
primarily at the villages that are located within 
Monmouthshire. At the heart of the study is 
a response to the community’s concern over 
road safety. The plan provides a strategy for 
reducing vehicle speeds and increasing the 
use of sustainable transport such as walking, 
cycling and public transport. Importantly 
road safety is not considered in isolation. In 
recognition of the fact that within the Wye Valley 
tourism, landscape, local economy, governance, 
placemaking and transport all impact one other, 
the plan proposes measures for all of these six 
themes. 

This has led to the creation of a six-point plan 
for change which responds to the six key 
themes identified with an emphasis on delivery. 
Phasing has been a key issue and the plan 
provides clear proposals for immediate changes 
to the villages such as gateway signage through 
to longer term aspirations for sustainable 
transport and tourism.

Page 269



Wye Valley AONB Villages - Plan for the future 5

1 Ensure safe and sustainable transport 
by delivering coordinated changes to the 
streets across the villages to make them 
slower for traffic, more attractive and safer 
for pedestrians and cyclists. To reduce car 
dependency ‘Sustainable transport’ including 
buses, walking and cycling should be improved 
by grouping bus stops, cycle hire and storage, 
tourist attractions and new public spaces at key 
locations such as Tintern as ‘mobility hubs’. Bus 
services should be improved particularly during 
high season for both local people and tourists. 
Extending the Wye Valley Greenway could have 
a catalytic effect on walking, cycling and tourism 
if it were to be extended to the north and should 
be assessed for viability.

2 Conserve and enhance the landscape by 
working with other local authorities, agencies 
and land owners across the length of the River 
Wye to improve the health of the river as part 
of a ‘whole catchment study’. To encourage 
community participation a ‘Green Village’ 
initiative is proposed to deliver small scale 
projects such as community food growing and 
habitat creation. A pilot should be delivered to 
test new farming practices that deliver wider 
benefits to nature such as less pesticide use 
and habitat management.

3 Enable sustainable tourism by updating 
the tourism strategy for the area around a 
business case which will provide a basis for 
measuring impact. The unique border location 
should be celebrated as a place where visitors 
can move between countries with just a few 
steps. A simple and effective brand should be 
developed along the lines of Iceland’s Golden 
Circle or Scotlands North Coast 500. Delivering 
better tourism ‘infrastructure’ such as improved 
signage and wayfinding, bold village gateways 
and more opportunities to meet local people, 
eat local food and experience the authenticity of 
the valley should be considered.

4 Retain and improve the network of unique 
villages by recognising the distinct history and 
character of each of the villages and reflecting 
this in the proposed changes. Tintern for 
example has a much greater need to support 
tourism than a village such as The Narth which 
is much more attuned to local community life. 

5 Support the local economy by working 
to delivering of high speed internet access 
with partners. It is recommended that a ‘local 
circular economy’ approach is adopted to 
support local business and to attract specifc 
Welsh Government funding. This approach 
encourages local producers and supply chains 
to work closely with each other to retain 
money within the area for the people who live 
there rather than export to other areas.  To 
allow people to work locally and attract new 
entrepreneurs new premises that allow ‘co-
working’ or shared office space should be 
delivered. To ensure that local people can 
continue to live in the area, the Wye Valley 
Local Housing Needs Requirements should be 
updated to deliver affordable housing.

6 Provide joined-up governance by 
establishing a delivery group between key 
partners such as the local community council’s, 
Monmouthshire County Council and the Wye 
Valley AONB. Cross border working with 
adjacent Local Authorities such as Forest 
of Dean District Council will be essential in 
sharing ideas and pooling resources. Both 
recommendations will be critical in making the 
plan a reality.

Page 270



WYE VALLEY VILLAGES WORKING GROUP 

 

INAUGURAL MEETING – CATBROOK VILLAGE HALL  

10th December 2019 at 5pm 

AGENDA 

 

1. Introductions 

 

2. Appoint a chair (do we need one?) 

 

3. How will we work? -  Frequency 

 

Venue(s) 

 

Decisions (as a group, delegated) 

 

Administration 

 

4. Terms of reference - For Group 

 

For study (what is missing? What needs changing?) 

 

Timescales 

 

5. Wider consultation - How, who, where, when? 

 

6. Funding-   Study 

 

Further works 

 

7. AOB 

 

8. Date of next meeting 

 

 

 

 

Page 271



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
     
 
Appendix 4 
 

Name of the Officer  
Roger Hoggins 
 
Phone no: 07767 246138 
E-mail:rogerhoggins@monmouthshire.gov.uk 

Please give a brief description of the aims of the proposal:  

The Wye Valley Villages Future Plan sets the future direction for the 

development of various initiatives within the communities that make up 

the Wye Valley area of outstanding natural beauty (AONB). It has been 

developed jointly with the community councils and AONB office. 

Name of Service: Regeneration  

 

Date Future Generations Evaluation : 20/06/2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1. Are your proposals going to affect any people or groups of people with protected characteristics?  Please explain the impact, the 

evidence you have used and any action you are taking below.  

Equality and Future Generations Evaluation  
 

P
age 273



Protected 
Characteristics  

Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has on the protected 

characteristic 

Describe any negative impacts 
your proposal has on the 
protected characteristic 

What has been/will be done to 
mitigate any negative impacts or 

better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

Age Consultation on the plan was open to all but 

undoubtedly the priorities for some age 

groups will vary compared to others. 

However the plan is intended to support the 

valley as a sustainable community into the 

future irrespective of age. 

Active travel is not feasible for everyone. Public transport improvements are also 
featured. 

Disability .Where appropriate supporting disabled 

groups is embedded into the plan e.g. 

access to AT routes, public transport etc.  

Active travel is not feasible for everyone. Public transport improvements are also 
featured. 

Gender 

reassignment 

None None  

Marriage or civil 

partnership 

None None  

Pregnancy or 

maternity 

None None  

Race None None  

Religion or Belief None None  

Sex None None  

Sexual Orientation None None  

 

P
age 274



The Socio-economic Duty and Social Justice 
The Socio-economic Duty requires public bodies to  have due regard to the need to reduce inequalities of outcome which result from socio-

economic disadvantage when taking key decisions This duty aligns with our commitment as an authority to Social Justice. 

 Describe any positive impacts your 

proposal has in respect of people 

suffering socio economic 

disadvantage 

Describe any negative impacts 
your proposal has in respect of 
people suffering socio economic 
disadvantage. 

What has been/will be done to 
mitigate any negative impacts or 
better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

 

Socio-economic 

Duty and Social 

Justice  

None 

 

None n/a 

 

P
age 275



Policy making and the Welsh language. 

 

 
4. Does your proposal deliver any of the well-being goals below?  Please explain the impact (positive and negative) you expect, together 
with suggestions of how to mitigate negative impacts or better contribute to the goal.  There’s no need to put something in every box if it is not 
relevant!

 
How does your proposal impact 
on the following aspects of the 
Council’s Welsh Language 
Standards: 

 

 Describe the positive impacts of 

this proposal 

 

 
Describe the negative impacts 
of this proposal 

 

What has been/will be done 
to mitigate any negative 
impacts or better contribute 
to positive impacts 
 

Policy Making  

Effects on the use of the Welsh 

language,  

Promoting Welsh language  

Treating the Welsh language no 

less favourably 

Embedded into any projects through the 

Welsh language policy.  The new gateway 

village signs will display community names 

bilingually where applicable. The village 

gateway signs seek to create a unified 

theme throughout the valley while 

celebrating the distinctiveness of each 

settlement/community. 

No negative impact  

Operational  

Recruitment & Training of 

workforce 

 

n/a n/a  

Service delivery  

Use of Welsh language in service 

delivery  

Promoting use of the language 

No impact No impact  

P
age 276



Well Being Goal  

Does the proposal contribute to this goal? 

Describe the positive and negative impacts. 

What actions have been/will be taken to 

mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

A prosperous Wales 
Efficient use of resources, skilled, 
educated people, generates wealth, 
provides jobs 

The plan prompts more opportunities for working 

locally through co-working places thereby 

encouraging people who are able to, to work more 

locally and reduce the need to travel 

 

A resilient Wales 
Maintain and enhance biodiversity and 
ecosystems that support resilience and 
can adapt to change (e.g. climate 
change) 

The plan includes the development of a more 

sustainable farming model trial. It promotes public 

transport and active travel to be developed as a real 

alternative to using the car. 

 

A healthier Wales 
People’s physical and mental 
wellbeing is maximized and health 
impacts are understood 

Promotes active travel as an alternative to car travel  

A Wales of cohesive communities 
Communities are attractive, viable, 
safe and well connected 

Overall the plan is seeking to support the wellbeing 

and prosperity of the various communities with the 

Wye Valley acknowledging that the priorities vary 

between individual villages.   

The village gateway signs seek to create a unified 

theme throughout the valley while celebrating the 

distinctiveness of each settlement/community. 

A globally responsible Wales 
Taking account of impact on global 
well-being when considering local 
social, economic and environmental 
wellbeing 

The plan is centred around employment, travel, 

diversity within the communities of the Wye Valley in 

Monmouthshire 

 

A Wales of vibrant culture and 
thriving Welsh language 
Culture, heritage and Welsh language 
are promoted and protected.  People 
are encouraged to do sport, art and 
recreation 

Where it coincides with the community’s priorities 

tourism is promoted through, amongst other things, 

walking and cycling routes.  This offers increased 

opportunity to showcase Wales and its heritage, 

culture and language. 

 

P
age 277



Well Being Goal  

Does the proposal contribute to this goal? 

Describe the positive and negative impacts. 

What actions have been/will be taken to 

mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

A more equal Wales 
People can fulfil their potential no 
matter what their background or 
circumstances 

The plan promotes opportunities for local people to 

work and create employment locally for the working 

population of the valley. 

 

 

3. How has your proposal embedded and prioritised the sustainable governance principles in its development? 

Sustainable Development 

Principle  

Does your proposal demonstrate you have met 

this principle?  If yes, describe how.  If not explain 

why. 

Are there any additional actions to be taken to 
mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

Balancing short term 

need with long term 

and planning for the 

future 

The plan looks at short term goals that meet the more 

immediate needs of the local communities but also looks 

further ahead at what a longer term future to sustain the 

Wye Valley would look like. 

 

Working together 

with other partners to 

deliver objectives  

The plan has been an interesting project bringing together a 

group of local councils with the county council plus the Wye 

Valley AONB. As such it has been unusual. It has also 

consulted widely on what a future plan might include and 

what the priorities might be longer term 

 

Involving those with 

an interest and 

seeking their views 

Local councils, stakeholders and public consultation has 

generated feedback. There has not always been a 

consensus on how things should develop in the future and 

the delivery group will look to review and guide the plan into 

the future 

 

P
age 278



Sustainable Development 

Principle  

Does your proposal demonstrate you have met 

this principle?  If yes, describe how.  If not explain 

why. 

Are there any additional actions to be taken to 
mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

Putting resources 

into preventing 

problems occurring 

or getting worse 

The immediate demand was for improvements to road 

safety but the local councils agreed to allow the plan to look 

much wider and will come back together to deliver on a 

much wider agenda that touches various aspects of life in 

the valley. 

 

Considering impact 

on all wellbeing 

goals together and 

on other bodies 

The plan is ambitious. It has been contentious and will 

continue to be so as and when certain aspects are 

promoted because there was not a consensus on some 

aspects (e.g. promoting tourism throughout the area). There 

is also the challenge of finding funding to deliver on some 

parts of the project so it will be necessary to promote 

support in preference possibly to other plans given that 

there are finite funding opportunities. 

 

 
  

P
age 279



4. Council has agreed the need to consider the impact its decisions has on the following important responsibilities: Corporate 
Parenting and Safeguarding.  Are your proposals going to affect any of these responsibilities?   
 

 Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has  

Describe any negative impacts 
your proposal has  

What will you do/ have you done 
to mitigate any negative impacts 
or better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

Safeguarding  n/a n/a  

Corporate Parenting  n/a n/a  

 
5. What evidence and data has informed the development of your proposal? 
 
• The plan has been developed through extensive meetings, options development and consultation to arrive at a plan presented for all authorities 
and organisations involved to adopt. 
 

 

 

6. SUMMARY:  As a result of completing this form, what are the main positive and negative impacts of your proposal, how have 
they informed/changed the development of the proposal so far and what will you be doing in future? 

 

The Plan evidences effective collaboration and joint working with stakeholders and the communities they represent.  It seeks to ensure a unified 

placemaking theme for the Wye Valley while respecting the distinct identity of the individual communities, enhancing tourism and explosure to Welsh culture 

in the birthpace of British tourism, and addressing identified road safety concerns. 

 

7. ACTIONS: As a result of completing this form are there any further actions you will be undertaking? Please detail them below, if 
applicable. 

P
age 280



 

What are you going to do  When are you going to do it?  Who is responsible  

Seek all authorities and Wye Valley AONB to formally adopt the plan July- September ‘22 Officers and local councils 

Establish a delivery group selected from the member authrorities and 

Wye Valley AONB 

September ‘22 MCC officers 

 

8. VERSION CONTROL: The Equality and Future Generations Evaluation should be used at the earliest stage, such as informally 

within your service, and then further developed throughout the decision making process.  It is important to keep a record of this 

process to demonstrate how you have considered and built in equality and future generations considerations  wherever 

possible. 

 

Version 

No. 

Decision making stage  Date considered Brief description of any amendments made following 

consideration 

1 Initial draft June 2021  

2 Final version for Scrutiny Committee 20/06/2022 Updated to reflect content of Plan 

3    

 

P
age 281



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

1 PURPOSE and SUMMARY: 

 

1.1 This report sets out the schedule of strategic regeneration projects for the County’s towns, 

outlining what projects are in development and setting out the challenges behind 

prioritising and funding them.  The report proposes that some funding be allocated quickly 

in order that grants to businesses and work undertaken by MCC may be started as soon 

as possible to maximise delivery in year. 

 

1.2 The purpose of the report is to allow the Place Scrutiny Committee the opportunity to 

scrutinise the schedule of strategic regeneration projects and potential funding sources to 

support delivery, the proposed package of Placemaking Grant projects for which Welsh 

Government Transforming Towns funding will be sought, and the proposed development 

of Placemaking Plans for Monmouth, Magor and Abergavenny.  This will allow 

regeneration activity and business support to progress on smaller projects while waiting for 

the decision on Levelling Up Funds grant for the three bids being submitted on 6th July: 

once that decision is known, a decision can be made on how the remaining funding is 

prioritised.  It is anticipated that this report will then go to Cabinet for a decision on 27th 

July 2022. 

 

2 RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 

2.1 That Scrutiny Committee endorses the proposed development of Placemaking Plans for 

Monmouth, Magor and Abergavenny.  The will provide an overarching masterplan for each 

of the towns to support future funding bids. 

 

2.2 That Scrutiny Committee notes and scrutinises the schedule of potential Strategic 

Projects, the scale of funding required for delivery, noting the expected decision on the 

bids for Levelling Up Fund in Autumn 2022. 

 

2.3 That Scrutiny Committee endorses the proposed package of smaller Placemaking Grant 

projects for delivery in 2022/23 to 2024/25. 

 

3 KEY ISSUES: 

 

3.1 Strategic context 

SUBJECT:   REGENERATION FUNDING AND DELIVERY 

MEETING:   PLACE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

DATE:   30 JUNE 2022 

DIVISION/WARDS AFFECTED: ALL 

 

Page 283

Agenda Item 8



3.1.1 Within the current Corporate Plan the need to support local economies is highlighted 

within the priorities: 

 

‘THE COUNCIL PROVIDES MORE OPPORTUNITIES FOR LOCAL LIVING,  WORKING 

& LEISURE 

Engage with communities to create plans for the redevelopment of Usk and Caldicot town 

centres and begin discussions on plans for Monmouth and Chepstow’ 

 

3.1.2 The new administration will likely wish to review the Corporate Plan but it is anticipated 

that regeneration will remain a priority into the future (‘promoting town centres’ is a 

manifesto priority). 

 

3.1.3 Through the previous master planning/regeneration projects plus other strategic transport 

plans there have been a range of projects highlighted in each town. To remind members of 

the projects underway or to be addressed a briefing paper prepared in May is attached 

(appendix C). It does not assess priorities but is of interest when considering the volume of 

projects to be funded and progressed going forward. 

 

3.1.4 As further town plans are prepared, projects completed etc. then the list will change but it 

offers a useful overview at this time. 

 

3.2 Placemaking Plans 

 

3.2.1 Several towns in the county already benefit from local strategic documents (master plans, 

town plans etc.) which assess the key opportunities and challenges for the settlement, set 

high level objectives for regeneration, and set out the key projects through which those 

objectives can be met. The existing plans include: 

 

3.2.2 The Caldicot Town Centre Regeneration Strategy was originally developed in 2018. A 

refresh of the strategy reflecting delivery since that time is in preparation to support the 

Round 2 Levelling Up Fund bid, (more information about the LUF application is provided 

below). 

 

3.2.3 The Usk Town Improvement Plan was jointly developed by MCC, Usk TC and Llanbadoc 

CC. It has been adopted by all of the authorities, being adopted by the County Council in 

December 2021. A Masterplan steering group has been established since the May 

election to oversee its delivery. 

 

3.2.4 A Placemaking Plan for Chepstow was jointly commissioned in 2021/22 by MCC and 

Chepstow Town Council, with funding from the Welsh Government. Further consultation 

on the plan and its proposals is planned for summer 2022, after which a report and the 

final draft plan will be presented to Cabinet and Chepstow Town Council for formal 

adoption and delivery. 

 

3.2.5 A Wye Valley Villages Future Plan has been jointly developed by MCC, Devauden CC, St 

Arvans CC, Tintern CC, Trellech United CC and Wye Valley AONB. The report is to be 

scrutinised by this Committee via a separate agenda item prior to seeking adoption by 

MCC and the other partner authorities and organisations. 

Page 284



 

3.2.6 Abergavenny, Magor and Monmouth currently do not benefit from local strategic 

documents of this type. It would therefore be useful to develop such plans, in consultation 

and partnership with local stakeholders, to ensure that there is a clear shared vision for 

and understanding of the issues to be addressed through regeneration in those places, 

and a consensus on the key projects through which this can be realised. 

 

3.2.7 In addition it is understood that the revised framework for Welsh Government 

Transforming Towns funding (more information on which is provided below) will include an 

expectation that all projects funded through this mechanism will be derived from a 

Placemaking Plan or equivalent strategic plan for a given place, or that as a minimum a 

Placemaking Plan should be in development. The plans already prepared or in 

development for Caldicot, Chepstow and Usk are expected to satisfy this requirement, but 

it will be essential to put in place plans of this type for Abergavenny, Magor and Monmouth 

if regeneration projects in those locations are to be funded in this way.  

 

3.2.8 It is therefore proposed that Placemaking Plans will be developed for those towns. Given 

limitations of capacity and funding these are likely to be brought forward sequentially. It is 

proposed that the plan for Monmouth would be developed first, given the challenges in the 

town – in particular around town centre vitality, commercial vacancy rates, and pockets of 

worklessness and deprivation  (identified through the development of the Levelling Up 

Fund proposals and other work). The plan for Magor would then follow given its new 

designation as a town (which therefore makes it eligible for Welsh Government 

regeneration funding) followed by the plan for Abergavenny. The town has benefitted from 

significant investment in recent years and currently the town centre is performing relatively 

healthily. 

 

3.2.9 It is expected that some limited funding support for the development of Placemaking Plans 

will be made available via the Welsh Government Transforming Towns programme in 

2022/23, although the timing of this is not yet known. This may influence how soon work 

will begin on the development of Placemaking Plans for these three towns. 

 

3.3 Funding for regeneration delivery 

 

3.3.1 The funding of regeneration (and transport related) projects has been complex in the past 

and will likely continue to be in the future.  In most instances it should be emphasised that 

funding for projects is usually drawn from various grants, funds, budgets etc. and almost 

invariably the funding strategy will require a combination of these to make a project viable. 

The grants and funds are often Welsh Government awards (although LUF and SPF are 

awarded through UK government). 

 

3.3.2 Examples of recent grant awards are Local Transport Fund (LTF), Safe Routes in 

Communities (SRiC), Active Travel (AT), Targeted Regeneration Investment (TRI). Further 

funding comes possibly from S106 and grants often require match funding from MCC: 

permutations of these have been brought together to fund projects in the past. 

 

3.3.3 Looking forward the WG grants are now skewed more towards active travel and town 

centre regeneration, the latter via the Transforming Towns Grant. 

Page 285



 

3.3.4 Whilst some grants are allocated most are secured through a bidding process so plans to 

deliver any project(s) often rely upon a grant award and in some instances more than one.  

This means that plans to progress plans/projects often await an award and awards are 

annual so projects spanning more than one year hold a level of risk (although the new 

Transforming Towns grant is now being allocated over 3 years).  The grants that 

regeneration projects will rely on are described in more detail below: 

 

3.4 Transforming Towns funding 

 

3.4.1 Transforming Towns is the Welsh Government’s key regeneration funding programme, 

and (other than the UK Government’s Levelling Up Fund, information about which is 

provided below) is the principal likely source of funding for the delivery of regeneration 

projects in Monmouthshire in the next three years. 

 

3.4.2 Transforming Towns is focused on regeneration of town centres. As noted above, it is 

understood that from 2022/23 onwards there will be an expectation that projects funded 

through Transforming Towns will be derived from a Placemaking Plan, or at least that a 

Placemaking Plan should be in development. 

 

3.4.3 The Transforming Towns programme includes several funding streams. Largest among 

these is capital funding support available, which comprises support for “Strategic” projects 

(defined as projects with more than £250k Welsh Government funding) as well as 

Placemaking Grant (for projects with up to £250k Welsh Government funding). 

 

3.4.4 In recent years Welsh Government regeneration funding has been awarded on an annual 

basis. Transforming Towns funding was introduced in 2021/22 and funding was awarded 

for that year only. Before that, Targeted Regeneration Initiative (TRI) funding was also 

awarded annually (due to the funding criteria, Caldicot was the only town eligible for TRI 

funding). This annual process and changing grant steams has presented challenges for 

long term development and delivery of larger regeneration projects. 

 

3.4.5 Welsh Government has taken on board this feedback and changes to WG funding have 

allowed for the current round of Transforming Towns funding to cover the three-year 

period 2022/23 to 2024/25. This is positive in that it provides greater certainty about 

funding which in turn facilitates the longer-term planning and implementation of projects. 

 

3.4.6 The Transforming Towns capital funding that is available over that period is limited, 

however. The Welsh Government has allocated £44m of Transforming Towns capital 

funding to south east Wales, to include support for both Strategic projects and 

Placemaking Grant for the ten local authorities in the region. In expectation that some 

projects to which funding is awarded will not come forward, ministers have agreed to 30% 

over-profiling of the allocated funding. This means that the total amount of funding 

awarded for the three-year period may be up to £57m, although only £44m is available to 

be spent. 

 

3.4.7 This funding will be awarded on a competitive basis, rather than being divided equally 

between authorities as has been the case in the past. Nonetheless there appears to be an 

Page 286



expectation that there will be a broadly even distribution of funding across the ten 

authorities. Given that up to £57m of funding will be awarded, it is expected that a three-

year package of MCC proposals for Placemaking Grant and Strategic Projects with a 

combined value of £5-6m would stand a reasonable chance of success in terms of funding 

approvals.  

 

3.4.8 Transforming Towns funding requires at least 30% match funding from non-Welsh 

Government sources. 

 

3.4.9 A revised Transforming Towns framework has been prepared in draft by Welsh 

Government officials and is currently awaiting ministerial approval. It is expected that the 

framework will be published shortly after obtaining ministerial approval, probably in late 

June or early July, and that the applications process for Placemaking Grant will open at 

the same time. This process is likely to run over a four- to six-week period, which implies a 

closing date for submissions in late July to mid-August. Officials have suggested that there 

may be some flexibility in the timetable to allow for political approval of Placemaking Grant 

proposals if necessary. 

 

3.4.10 Although the Welsh Government approvals process for Transforming Towns Strategic 

projects is separate, officials have indicated that they will request an initial indication of 

likely Strategic projects to be submitted at the same time as the Placemaking Grant 

applications. 

 

3.5 Levelling Up Fund 

 

3.5.1 The UK Government’s Levelling Up Fund (LUF) offers funding for investment in 

infrastructure to support town centre and high street regeneration, local transport projects, 

and cultural and heritage assets. Along with Transforming Towns it is the other key 

potential source of funding which could support delivery of regeneration projects in 

Monmouthshire in the next three years. 

 

3.5.2 Proposals for packages of projects in Caldicot and Monmouth were submitted to the first 

round of LUF in June 2021. Unfortunately neither bid was successful at that time. 

 

3.5.3 LUF round 2 was announced in March 2022, with a 6 July deadline for submissions. 

Cabinet agreed in March 2022 that both bids should be revised for resubmission. 

 

3.5.4 Work is therefore underway on the following submissions for the 6 July deadline: 

 

• Monmouth, comprising an enhanced museum and visitor facility at Shire Hall; start 

up business units and agile working space with future affordable housing 

development at Market Hall; and public realm improvements to Monnow Street and 

Blestium Street with a new café and public toilets. 

 

• Caldicot, comprising the acquisition of 7-43 Newport Road (commercial/community 

uses ground floor, residential above, external and internal refurbishment); 

improvements to the Leisure Centre; and public realm improvements to the town 

centre part of Newport Road. 

Page 287



 

3.5.5 A third LUF bid focuses on transport infrastructure in Chepstow.  

 

• The bid seeks funding to create a public transport Hub (rail, bus, Taxi, EV, 

car parking, bike storage) at the railway station and compliments the 

WelTAG stage 3 study presently underway. The bid also includes funding for 

improving active travel routes in and around the town, again a WelTAG stage 

3 study. 

 

3.5.6 More information on the LUF process and proposals is provided in the report presented to 

and agreed by Cabinet on 2 March 2022. 

 

3.5.7 A decision on the round 2 LUF bids is expected in Autumn 2022. In general activity funded 

through LUF will be expected to be complete by March 2025, although in exceptional 

circumstances an extension to March 2026 will be permitted. 

 

3.5.8 At this time the Transforming Towns and Levelling Up funds are the two funds that are 

obviously available to fund regeneration work. Possibly funding may be acquired from 

other grant streams (e.g. Active Travel) where a project includes an element of 

improvement that may be classed within another grant. However, grant regimes change 

and become reprioritised through government, furthermore grant funding is sometimes 

released part way through a financial year. Where grant funding is not secured and the 

Council wishes to pursue a project then it will fall upon the Council to secure suitable 

funding and each project may need a business case to arrive at a suitable funding 

strategy. 

 

3.6 Regeneration project pipeline 

 

3.6.1 Having described the extent of plans and projects in development along with potential 

funding strategies this section discusses how projects might be split between ‘strategic’ 

and ‘placemaking’ as defined by Welsh Government. 

 

3.6.2 Officers have compiled a “pipeline” list of regeneration projects focused on town centres in 

Monmouthshire which are in varying stages of development (from early concept to detailed 

design) and for which funding for implementation has not been secured. This was 

informed by the multidisciplinary Placemaking officer group, which aims to identify priority 

projects and funding sources across the Council in a placemaking context and ensure 

various service areas are sighted on wider activity and opportunities for alternative funding 

sources.  The full list of projects is provided at Appendix A and lists strategic and 

placemaking projects. 

 

3.6.3 This is a live document and will change over time, in particular through the identification of 

new priorities and the development of Placemaking Plans. It nevertheless provides an 

indication of the scale of regeneration projects that have been identified and are in 

development. 

 

3.6.4 As can be seen, the appetite for placemaking and regeneration activity outstrips resource 

and funding capacity.  Currently there are more than 50 projects on the pipeline list, with a 

Page 288



combined cost (for those projects where cost estimates are available) of more than £28m. 

Projects for which cost estimates are not yet available include some large schemes, and 

as noted above further projects are likely to be identified through the development of 

Placemaking Plans for all towns. The number and cost of the projects is therefore 

expected to rise substantially. 

 

3.6.5 It may be helpful for planning, development and prioritisation purposes to separate the 

projects in the pipeline list into the two categories used by Welsh Government in 

assessing proposals for Transforming Towns funding: Strategic projects which are require 

more than £250k Welsh Government funding, and Placemaking projects which need up to 

£250k Welsh Government funding. 

 

3.7 Strategic regeneration projects (>£250k) 

3.7.1 The key Strategic Projects identified on the pipeline list are as follows: 

 

Project Description Cost estimate (if known) 

Cross Street, 
Abergavenny 

Public realm 
enhancements to facilitate 
permanent 
pedestrianisation (if taken 
forward) 

£2,000,000 

Newport Road, Caldicot Public realm improvements 
to pedestrianised area in 
town centre 

£2,650,000 

7-43 Newport Road, 
Caldicot 

Acquisition and 
refurbishment of key town 
centre building 

£6,100,000 

Newport Road west, 
Caldicot 

Active travel/public realm 
improvements to link 
between town centre and 
Caldicot station 

£2,500,000 

High Street, Chepstow Public realm improvements  £2,500,000 

Former Barclays building, 
Chepstow 

Scope TBC NA 

Monnow Street, 
Monmouth 

Public realm/active travel 
improvements 

£6,021,000 

Blestium Street, 
Monmouth 

Creation of new riverside 
public space with café and 
toilets 

£3,090,000 

Bridge Street, Usk Public realm improvements NA 

Twyn Square, Usk Public realm improvements NA 

Total (where known) £24,861,000 

 

3.7.2 The combined cost of these projects means that it will not be possible to deliver all of them 

within the next three years using identified funding sources. Consequently there is a need 

to prioritise the schemes against the funding (and officer resource) that is available. 

 

3.7.3 However such a prioritisation exercise at this time is complicated by the inclusion of a 

number of these Strategic projects in the LUF bids for Monmouth and Caldicot. As noted 

above, the results of the LUF bids are not expected until Autumn 2022. If both those bids 

are successful, LUF will provide significant funding for the delivery of the Monnow Street 

Page 289



and Blestium Street projects in Monmouth, and the Newport Road public realm and 7-43 

Newport Road projects in Caldicot. 

 

3.7.4 It is therefore proposed that further prioritisation of these projects against potential funding, 

and in particular against Welsh Government Transforming Towns funding likely to be 

available for Strategic project delivery in Monmouthshire, should be deferred until a 

decision on the two LUF bids has been received. 

 

3.8 Placemaking projects (<£250k) 

 

3.8.1 In addition to the Strategic projects set out in the project pipeline and outlined above, a 

significant number of smaller “Placemaking” projects have also been identified. These 

have been assessed and prioritised by officers for their deliverability over the next three 

years. The priority list of Placemaking projects is provided at Appendix B. 

 

3.8.2 As noted above, it is expected that the Welsh Government will shortly open the application 

process for projects to be funded through Placemaking Grant over the next three years. 

 

3.8.3 It is proposed that the prioritised Placemaking projects indicated in Appendix B should 

constitute Monmouthshire’s application for Placemaking Grant over that period. The total 

value of Placemaking Grant to be sought on that basis would be £2.156m. 

 

3.8.4 As noted above, it is assumed that approximately one tenth of the total Transforming 

Towns capital funding that can be awarded in South East Wales is likely to be available to 

support the delivery of regeneration projects in Monmouthshire. This puts the probable 

Transforming Towns capital funding for Monmouthshire in the region of £5-6m. An 

application for Placemaking Grant projects on the basis proposed here would therefore 

reduce to £3-4m the Transforming Towns funding available to support Strategic Projects. 

 

3.8.5 An alternative approach would be to focus wholly on the delivery of Strategic Projects, or 

to reduce the scale of Placemaking Grant projects to leave more funding available for 

Strategic Projects. However, it is considered that that approach would limit regeneration 

delivery in the next three years to a smaller number of locations (particularly if the LUF 

bids are not successful), and would also require a pause in regeneration delivery until 

there is clarity on the outcome of the LUF bids to inform prioritisation of delivery against 

Transforming Towns funding. If this approach were to be taken, the timescales for 

approval of funding for Transforming Towns strategic funding, as well as the time required 

to develop projects of that scale to the point where construction can begin, would in 

practice be likely to preclude any significant regeneration project delivery in 2022/23 

beyond projects which are already funded and underway, because the first 6 months of 

the financial year will have already passed. 

 

3.8.6 Proceeding with an application for Placemaking projects on the basis proposed here, on 

the other hand, would allow regeneration delivery to resume this year and continue 

throughout the three year period, and to permit some degree of regeneration project 

delivery in all six settlements now classified as towns. 

 

Page 290



3.8.7 The Placemaking project list is subject to change over the three year period as certainty of 

deliverability evolves and as new projects are identified through the development of 

Placemaking Plans. Priorities would also be revised if needed to align with the new 

administration’s Corporate Plan, which is in development.  Although detailed information 

about the Placemaking Grant applications and approval process is not yet available, it is 

understood that the proposals to be submitted for years two and three (i.e. for 2023/24 and 

2024/25) will be indicative and that there will be significant flexibility to vary the 

prioritisation of projects in those years, within the constraints of the grant eligibility criteria. 

 

3.9 Conclusion 

3.9.1 In conclusion, it is recommended that: 

• Placemaking Plans be developed for Monmouth, Magor and Abergavenny, in 

the order, to inform the vision and priorities for each town and to enable 

future funding bids to be made; 

• The prioritised Placemaking projects indicated in Appendix B should 

constitute Monmouthshire’s application for Placemaking Grant over the 

period 2022/23 to 2024/25. The total value of Placemaking Grant to be 

sought on that basis would be approximately £2.156m.  The year two and 

three programmes can be subject to flexibility as new projects or priorities 

arise; and 

• A decision on the bids for Strategic Projects be deferred until Autumn 2022 

when the decision on the Levelling Up Fund bids is known. 

 

4 EQUALITY AND FUTURE GENERATIONS EVALUATION (INCLUDES SOCIAL 

JUSTICE, SAFEGUARDING AND CORPORATE PARENTING): 

 

4.1 The report primarily discusses the number of regeneration (and transport related) projects 

that are presently in development and those that may come forward in the future when 

more place plans are prepared. It then talks about how the projects may be funded and 

how they may be prioritised according to a funding strategy in the future. 

 

4.2 The report does not seek to prioritise projects based upon their compliance with the 

principles of the Wellbeing and Future Generations Act or the Equalities Impact 

Assessment. 

 

4.3 Whilst each project would generate an assessment against this legislation this report does 

not look into individual projects in that detail. The report asks members to consider if 

further plans should be developed and to agree a funding strategy so no Equality and 

Future Generations Evaluation is undertaken at this time 

 

5 OPTIONS APPRAISAL: 

 

5.1 There are various options surrounding how projects might be prioritised dependant upon 

what funding might come available. This is discussed within the body of the report. The 

permutations are numerous depending upon matter such as the award of LUF for one, 

some or all of the packages that are bid for and this will then impact upon what projects 

might be pursued at a placemaking level of strategic level according to WG criteria. 

Page 291



5.2 These options will be discussed at scrutiny and potentially reflected in recommendations 

to cabinet. 

 

5.3 There are some fundamental options surrounding whether bids should be made or grants 

sought. However there is already a cabinet decision to submit LUF bids  and whilst it is 

feasible to decline the opportunity to submit bids for Transforming Towns funding this is 

not pursued as not to do so withdraws the opportunity to receive grant support for 

regeneration. 

 

 

6 REASONS: 

 

6.1 Subject to the views of the scrutiny committee the report will progress to cabinet to gain 

support for an allocation of grant funding for placemaking grants from the Transforming 

Towns Fund. This is prior to knowing if any LUF bids are successful which is later in the 

year. The strategic projects (i.e. above £250k) will await the LUF outcome but by agreeing 

that lower value project budgets are in place this allows officers to work with businesses to 

make awards which in turn allows them to get work underway and hopefully completed 

during this year. 

 

6.2 The report also offers an oversight into the wider dilemma of funding for regeneration 

projects into the future and as and when LUF awards are known will inform what strategic 

projects should take priority thereafter. 

 

6.3 The funding options are complex and reliant on awards elsewhere but the report helps to 

describe the circumstances that will inform what projects are prioritised in the future. 

 

 

7 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: 

 

7.1 Officers are aware of the value of Transforming Towns grant being made available in 

south east Wales and the working assumption of this report is an award of one tenth of the 

overall budget. The funding assumptions are discussed in the body of the report (paras 

3.13 – 3.18 and 3.37, 3.38) but we are anticipating a grant over 3 years of £5-6m. With 

£2.156m going to Placemaking grants there is a balance of £3m-4m available for other 

strategic projects unless members chose to alter the ratio. 

 

7.2 The £2.156m placemaking grant is based upon a wide spread of grant awards across the 

various county towns. Total budget is £3,434,000 when match funding at 30% is added to 

the grant (see appendix B below) 

 

7.3 The Council has a match-funding budget and a request will be made to allocate the 30% 

match funding for regeneration grants. 

 

7.4 Work will be undertaken by in-house officer resource.  Some officer time will be eligible for 

grant funding, which helps fund the staffing structure in place. 

 

 

Page 292



8 CONSULTEES: 

 

8.1 Communities and Place DMT 

8.2 Communities and Place Project Board 

 

 

9 BACKGROUND PAPERS: 

 

9.1 Relevant papers are attached as appendices. 

9.2 Cabinet approved the submission of the LUF bids in March 2021: the report can be viewed 

here 

 

 

10 AUTHOR: 

 

10.1 Roger Hoggins/ Dan Fordham, Regeneration Team 

 

10.2 Mark Hand, Head of Placemaking, Highways and Flooding 

 

11 CONTACT DETAILS: 

 

11.1 rogerhoggins@monmouthshire.gov.uk, danielfordham@monmouthshire.gov.uk  

11.2 markhand@monmouthshire.gov.uk  

APPENDIX A: REGENERATION PROJECT PIPELINE 

APPENDIX B: PLACEMAKING PROJECTS PRIORITY LIST 2022/23-2024/25 

APPENDIX C: BRIEFING NOTE: REGENERATION ACTIVITY AND PROJECTS 25 MAY 2022 

  

Page 293

https://democracy.monmouthshire.gov.uk/documents/s31267/5%20220302%20Cabinet%20LUF%20and%20UK%20SPF.pdf
mailto:rogerhoggins@monmouthshire.gov.uk
mailto:danielfordham@monmouthshire.gov.uk
mailto:markhand@monmouthshire.gov.uk


APPENDIX A: REGENERATION PROJECT PIPELINE 

 

Project Town Estimated 
cost (where 
available) 

Cross Street gateway scheme Abergavenny £80,000 

Abergavenny shop front enveloping Abergavenny £450,000 

Brewery Yard canopy structure Abergavenny £100,000 

St John's Square canopy structure Abergavenny £100,000 

Cross Street public realm Abergavenny £2,000,000 

Abergavenny station interchange Abergavenny 
 

A40 bus stop Abergavenny 
 

MCC land next to Morrisons Abergavenny 
 

   

Church Road phase 2 (Transforming Towns and MCC only - 
ATF secured) 

Caldicot £604,000 

Caldicot shop front enveloping Caldicot £345,000 

Newport Road west - AT Caldicot £2,500,000 

Caldicot school connections - AT Caldicot 
 

7-43 Newport Road Caldicot £6,100,000 

Newport Road town centre public realm Caldicot £2,650,000 

Leisure centre refurbishment Caldicot 
 

Caldicot comp site residential development Caldicot 
 

Jubilee Way residential development Caldicot 
 

Severn Tunnel Junction Caldicot 
 

B4245 active travel routes Caldicot 
 

   

Chepstow High Street  Chepstow £2,500,000 

Welsh Street car park public realm Chepstow £150,000 

Chepstow shop front enveloping Chepstow £450,000 

Hanbury House - improvement to shopfront and lettable areas Chepstow £80,000 

Barclays Bank Building Chepstow 
 

Chepstow High Street Access   Chepstow 
 

Thomas Street/Moor Street Bus Station – Public Realm 
Improvements 

Chepstow 
 

Bulwark Active Travel Links Chepstow 
 

Bulwark Neighbourhood Shops & resi above Chepstow 
 

Chepstow Transport Hub Chepstow 
 

Upper Church Street/Bridge Street link Chepstow 
 

The Castle/TIC/Museum linkage & Public Realm Improvements Chepstow 
 

Chepstow River Front Improvements Chepstow 
 

Chepstow Green Wall Chepstow £25,000 

Chepstow Castle-Welsh Street car park pedestrian link Chepstow 
 

A48 bypass Chepstow 
 

[Additional Chepstow Placemaking Plan projects TBC] Chepstow 
 

   

Magor Square public realm Magor £100,000 

Magor Square canopy structure Magor £100,000 

MUCH (Magor Undy Community Hub) Magor 
 

Magor walkway station Magor 
 

Page 294



   

Monnow Street Monmouth £6,021,000 

Monmouth Market Hall Monmouth 
 

Shire Hall (LUF-funded elements) Monmouth 
 

Blestium Street Monmouth £3,090,000 

Monmouth shop front enveloping Monmouth £450,000 

22 Monnow Street Monmouth 
 

Hereford Road pelican crossing Monmouth 
 

Wyebridge Street car park Monmouth 
 

   

Bridge Street public realm Usk 
 

Tywn Square public realm Usk 
 

Building frontage cleaning and redecoration Usk £150,000 

Car park resurfacing Usk 
 

Usk Bridge St/Twyn Square phase 1 delivery Usk £250,000 

[Usk Town Improvement Plan projects TBC] Usk 
 

   

Empty property enforcement projects All towns 
 

Vacant space above shops All towns 
 

   

TOTAL £28,295,000 

 

  

Page 295



APPENDIX B: PLACEMAKING PROJECTS PRIORITY LIST 2022/23-2024/25 

Project Town Estimated 
cost 

Cross Street gateway scheme Abergavenny £80,000 

Abergavenny shop front enveloping Abergavenny £450,000 

Brewery Yard canopy structure Abergavenny £100,000 

St John's Square canopy structure Abergavenny £100,000 

Caldicot shop front enveloping Caldicot £345,000 

Church Road phase 2 - Transforming Towns/MCC contribution only 
(NB this is required as match against the ATF funding already 
secured) 

Caldicot £604,000 

Welsh Street car park public realm Chepstow £150,000 

Chepstow shop front enveloping Chepstow £450,000 

Hanbury House - improvement to shopfront and lettable areas Chepstow £80,000 

Chepstow green wall Chepstow £25,000 

Magor Square public realm Magor £100,000 

Magor Square canopy structure Magor £100,000 

Monmouth shop front enveloping Monmouth £450,000 

Bridge Street building frontage cleaning and redecoration Usk £150,000 

Usk Bridge St/Twyn Square phase 1 delivery Usk £250,000 

TOTAL 

  

£3,434,000 

Transforming Towns – 70% £2,156,000 

MCC/other match funding – 30% £1,278,000 

Page 296



BRIEFING NOTE: REGENERATION ACTIVITY AND PROJECTS – APPENDIX C 

25 MAY 2022 

 

  

TOWN SUMMARY POSITION CURRENT REGENERATION PROJECTS 

ABERGAVENNY • Covid trial closure of upper part of Cross Street, 10-4pm 
Monday-Saturday 

• Placemaking Plan to be commissioned – timing TBC 

• Stakeholder group, potentially focused on future of 
Cross Street (including short term/interim measures), 
proposed. 

• Town centre regeneration programme to be derived 
from Placemaking Plan 

• Abergavenny Station Transport Hub  

• Abergavenny Tesco A40 Bus Stop  

• Borough Theatre. Refurbishment of theatre, part 
funded through Transforming Towns. 

CALDICOT • Historically the main focus for regeneration activity in 
Monmouthshire – highest concentration of need; only 
town in Monmouthshire eligible for Welsh government 
Targeted Regeneration Initiative funding, which was 
main regeneration funding stream until 2021 (now 
replaced by Transforming Towns). 

• Caldicot Town Centre Strategy and Action Plan 
prepared 2018. Refresh of strategy currently in 
preparation to support LUF, reflecting progress since 
2018. 

• LUF bid in preparation comprising acquisition and 
refurbishment of 7-43 Newport Road (ground floor 
commercial/ community uses, residential above, 
external and internal refurbishment); improvements to 
Leisure Centre; public realm improvements in town 
centre. 

• Caldicot regeneration stakeholder group was 
established in 2018 to as forum for updates 
on/discussion of regeneration delivery. Opportunity to 
reconsider/refocus role of group.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• Town centre regeneration programme derived from 
refreshed Caldicot Town Centre Regeneration Strategy 

• 7-43 Newport Road. Development of business case for 
acquisition and refurbishment of commercial/retail units 
at ground floor and residential above. Opportunity to 
shape retail offer to attract more/wider range of 
residents and visitors, and to offer complementary 
community uses in town centre. Funding for acquisition 
to be sought through LUF bid. Potential to seek funding 
for refurbishment from Transforming Towns 
programme.   

• Leisure centre. Monlife proposals for improvements 
and refurbishment. Funding for implementation to be 
sought as part of LUF bid. 

• Church Road phase 2. Completion of active 
travel/public realm improvements. Active Travel funding 
secured for implementation in 22/23. Transforming 
Towns and MCC match funding to be approved. 

• Newport Road town centre. Concept proposals for 
public realm improvements in pedestrianised area 
completed April 21. Detailed design underway. Funding 
for implementation to be sought as part of LUF bid. 

• Newport Road west. Active travel/public realm 
improvements to link between town centre and Caldicot 
station. Consultation in October 21. Concept design to 
be completed in July 22. Funding secured for detailed 
design in 22/23. 

P
age 297



TOWN SUMMARY POSITION CURRENT REGENERATION PROJECTS 

 
 
 
 

 

• ASDA corner site. Strategic Housing Forum partners 
developing proposals for affordable housing on land 
formerly occupied by Caldicot Comprehensive School. 

• Jubilee Way. Proposal for affordable housing 
development on current car park site, with reprovision 
of parking to rear. 

• Severn Tunnel Junction southern car park. 
Formalised car parking (170 spaces) – awaiting 
planning permission. Funding available from Cardiff 
capital region to be completed in 22/23 

• Severn Tunnel Junction footbridge. The bridge 
extension joins the platforms and ticket office to the 
south car park. Funding available to do design in 22/23 
with a view to construct by TfW in 23/24 

CHEPSTOW • Covid trial closure of High Street 10am to 4pm except 
for disabled access 

• Placemaking Plan being prepared jointly by MCC and 
CTC to provide masterplan 

• Consultation on High Street, March 2022 – majority 
preferring that road is reopened  

• Further consultation planned on three options: re-open 
to traffic, one way up-hill with improved public realm, 
complete pedestrianisation 

• LUF transport bid – Transport Hub and active travel 
improvements included in bid – both aspects at WelTAG 
stage 3  

• Town centre regeneration programme aligned to the 
Placemaking Plan. 

• Chepstow Transport Hub. An integrated public 
transport hub – bus and rail with car parking, EV 
charging, bike storage at Chepstow rail station. 
Currently at WelTAG stage 3 and subject to a LUF bid 

MAGOR • Placemaking Plan to be commissioned – timing TBC • Town centre regeneration programme to be aligned 
to Placemaking Plan 

• Magor and Undy Community Hub. Project under way 

• Magor Walkway Station. One of the new stations 
promoted by the Burns Commission  

• B4245 active travel improvements Undy to Rogiet 

MONMOUTH • Temporary widening of pavements on Monnow Street 
as part of Covid response still in place. 

• Consultation on public realm proposals for Monnow 
Street, January-March 2022 – support for formalisation 
of current temporary layout. 

• Placemaking Plan to be commissioned in 22/23 

• Town centre regeneration programme to be aligned 
to Placemaking Plan 

• Monnow Street. High level concept design complete 
following consultation in early 2022. Funding secured 
for further development of concept design and detailed 

P
age 298



TOWN SUMMARY POSITION CURRENT REGENERATION PROJECTS 

• LUF bid in preparation comprising 
infrastructure/enabling works for enhanced museum 
and visitor facility at Shire Hall; start-up business units 
and agile working space with future affordable housing 
development at Market Hall; and public realm 
improvements to Monnow Street and Blestium Street 
with new café and public toilets 

design in 22/23. Funding for implementation to be 
sought through LUF bid. 

• Shire Hall. Monlife-led project to provide enhanced 
museum and and visitor facility. Funding for initial 
infrastructure and enabling works (including 
improvements to security and insulation) to be sought 
through LUF bid. Heritage Fund bid for other elements 
of scheme in preparation by Monlife officers. 

• Market Hall. Concept proposals in development for 
refurbishment and reuse of the Market Hall to provide 
start-up and agile working space and affordable 
housing. Funding for enabling works and delivery of 
workspace to be sought as part of LUF bid. Affordable 
housing to be delivered in later phase. 

• Blestium Street. Proposal to create high quality public 
space on riverfront next to old Monnow Bridge, with 
café, public toilets, scope to accommodate market. 
Land currently occupied by public toilets and north-
eastern part of car park. Funding for implementation to 
be sought as part of LUF bid. 

• Hereford Road pelican crossing. Funding secured for 
delivery in 22/23 

• Wyebridge Street car park. Funding secured for 
delivery in 22/23; start on site imminent. 

USK • Usk Town Improvement Plan adopted December 2021 

• Usk Masterplan Steering Group established to guide 
implementation 

• Concept design for Twyn Square and Bridge Street to 
be developed in 22/23 

• Town centre regeneration programme aligned with 
Town Improvement Plan. 

• Usk Car Park resurfacing. (Maryport St South – 
completed) 

WYE VALLEY 
VILLAGES 

• Wye valley Villages Future Plan is complete and being 
submitted to the partner councils for adoption 

• When the plan is adopted the delivery group will be 
established to take the plan forward 

COUNTY-WIDE  • 20 mph zones. 

• Highways resurfacing programme. 

• Vacant space above town centre shops. 

 

  

P
age 299



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 301

Agenda Item 9
By virtue of paragraph(s) 12 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 317



Page 318



Page 319



Page 320



Page 321



Page 322



 

 

 

Monmouthshire Select Committee Minutes 
 

 

Meeting of Economy and Development Select Committee 
County Hall, Usk - Remote Attendance  

Thursday, 3rd February, 2022 at 10.00 am 

Councillors Present Officers in Attendance 

County Councillor P.Jordan  (Chairman) 
 
County Councillors: J. Becker, D. Evans, R. 
Roden, F. Taylor, P. Murphy and V. Smith 
 
 

Frances O'Brien, Chief Officer, Enterprise 

Cath Fallon, Head of Economy and Enterprise 
Hazel Ilett, Scrutiny Manager 
Robert McGowan, Policy and Scrutiny Officer 
Mark Hand, Head of Place-making, Housing, 
Highways and Flood 
Matthew Lewis (Countryside), Interim Performance, 
Evaluation and Programme Development Lead for 
MonLife 
Ian Saunders, Chief Operating Officer, MonLife 
Jonathan Davies, Acting Assistant Head of Finance 
Dave Loder, Finance Manager 

  
APOLOGIES: County Councillors: A. Davies, M. Feakins, G. Howard and B. Strong 
 

 
 

1. Declarations of Interest  
 

There were no declarations of interest. 
 

2. Public Open Forum  
 

No public submissions were received. 
 

3. Budget Scrutiny: Scrutiny of the budget proposals for 2022/23  
 

Cabinet Member Phil Murphy delivered the presentation and answered the members’ 

questions with Ian Saunders, Jonathan Davies, Frances O’Brien, Mark Hand and Cath 

Fallon. 

 

Challenge: 

 

Could we have an overview of the status of our reserves and how to potentially increase 

them in the future? 

 

We managed to increase our reserves over the last two years. They are approximately 

£7m. This administration has managed to stay within its budget throughout, and we 

hope to have a surplus by 31st March – if that is the case then we will be able to 

Public Document Pack

Page 323

Agenda Item 10a



 

 

continue supporting our reserves. The big VAT return a few years ago did that, and 

there was a substantial surplus on the budget last year, putting in £4.6m. So, the 

reserves are holding up well, but it doesn’t take much to put a large dent in them. 

 

Is MonLife providing an appropriate return on investment? Is it a sound financial 

decision? 

 

The problem with MonLife at the moment is that with Covid restrictions they are not able 

to get the normal footfall. With the improvements we are making to our leisure centres 

we’re finding that memberships are going up substantially; Monmouth was already 

doing very well, Abergavenny is getting good reviews and Caldicot will have a 

substantial increase if the levelling up bid is successful in the second round. If we 

maintain those increases in footfall, they will cover themselves, which should provide 

comfort in terms of the long-term picture. 

 

The purpose of MonLife is wider than leisure centres, and the aspirations of health, well-

being, mental wellness, etc. The future of these services was decided less than two 

years ago, the result of which was that the Council wanted an in-house model – 

examining the various models was a 4-year process. The return on investment from 

MonLife is notable, given the huge benefits it brings. Other councils that have 

outsourced have lost control of pricing options, whereas we are mostly able to keep our 

prices attainable for Monmouthshire families. 

 

Which fees are being increased and by how much? 

 

It is a huge list. Fees have been increased by as little as possible, where possible; 2.5% 

is the average. But some are set externally, so we have no choice regarding them. The 

full list is in the Cabinet papers linked on the agenda. The only areas where we are 

looking to increase fees are in Enterprise and Social Care.  

 

The commitment to climate emergency and environmental issues was mentioned – can 

we have details as to what that covers? 

There is a wide range of things, such as electric cars, trials with hydrogen, the 

possibility of a second solar farm, the profits from reuse shops going to planting trees, 

etc. Over the next few years, we aim to transition our fleet – this is one of the key things 

– but also things like investments in grounds and biodiversity. Promoting and 

encouraging walking and cycling as part of Active Travel is also very important. 

Promotion is particularly important in this area, especially in schools and throughout 

communities, so that’s where some of the funding needs to go, in order to reduce non-

essential car journeys. 

Page 324



 

 

 

One specific budget mandate proposal is for an additional post within the traffic and 

road safety team, to work closely with the highways side of the traffic and road safety 

and the active travel team, to look at improving safer routes to schools – hopefully that 

will provide alternative ways for children to get to school. We already offer a 

comprehensive programme within schools to encourage other modes of transport – that 

continues, and there is additional funding secured this year for adults’ cycle training. 

Linked to the active travel work is town centre regeneration work, supporting outdoor 

trading and making them more people-friendly and less car-dominated. 

 

Is the £1.22m Recycling and Waste budget pressure due to an increased number of 

residents using services? There is an £860k saving from retendering contracts – does 

that saving add to or offset that budget pressure?  

 

Recycling rates have gone up substantially (particularly since the introduction of the 

booking system), which costs a lot more. The increased recycling and increased 

material that’s being collected at the kerbside means that additional resources are 

needed i.e. vehicles and staff. There are also additional disposal costs. The saving is 

through the reprocurement of the household recycling contract from Viridor to Suez.  

 

I’ve never had so many missed collection queries as in the last few months. Is there a 

reason? Did we not procure additional vehicles recently because the contract was 

running out or we needed different ones? Was this because of the increased rate of 

recycling? 

 

Increased volumes of material being collected at the kerbside drive the requirement for 

additional staffing and vehicles. There have been missed collections as new staff 

become familiar with their rounds. We are conducting a system review to understand 

why we have such a high volume of demand coming in with regard to missed 

collections.  

 

We have £781k pressures from investments not being realised. What are we doing to 

mitigate that? Is our investment strategy no longer fit for purpose, post-Covid? Do the 

pressures include Spytty Retail Park and the potential loss of income at the Mitel 

building? 

It does include both. The answer to this must be very guarded as a lot of commercially 

sensitive work is taking place. We are almost certainly going to be awarding companies 

space, particularly in Castlegate. A lot of work looks to be coming to fruition, but no 

more information can be given at this time. 

 

Page 325



 

 

There are pressures resulting from the incremental impact of treasury and borrowing 

costs – have we changed our strategy? What is the forecast? What is our future 

approach to borrowing and treasury management? 

 

The treasury strategy for the next financial year is going to Governance and Audit 

committee on 28th February, which will explain much of our approach to borrowing for 

next year and will be received by full council on 3rd March. For 2-3 years we have been 

at the bottom of the treasury cost curve and in an incredibly low interest cost 

environment. Although that has helped us to maintain low treasury costs and benefitted 

the revenue budget, we also have to balance that position with having an eye on the 

medium term – we need to lock certainty into the revenue budget. Sometimes that 

comes at a short-term cost; for example, our borrowing over the last 12 months has 

been short-term in nature but there was an opportunity in December to take some 50-

year borrowing with the Public Works Loan Board. We did so, borrowing at historically 

low rates which enabled us to lock in certainty for 50 years. We have commitments such 

as the Abergavenny 3-19 school, for which we will have to borrow to meet our share of 

the cost. We need to have a balanced strategy. 

 

At the moment we have borrowing, which is slightly lower than our need, so we’re using 

internal resources to fund an element of that, which continues to keep treasury costs 

low. The incremental borrowing cost is purely down to fund that capital expenditure that 

we’re incurring in the medium term. While we are at the bottom of the treasury cost 

curve, we are taking steps to put in place some certainty, so that we aren’t exposed to 

rising interest rates that could be on the horizon. 

 

But £1.3m is over what we forecast – why is that? 

 

It’s not that it’s £1.3m more than we forecast but the treasury budget is a full-cost 

budget, so one year is never going to be the same an another. What we see is that 

changing cost from one year to the next, because we’ve had to borrow for certain 

schemes, rates have changed, etc. It was always a known factor; our capital plans 

haven’t changed significantly over the last few years. 

 

The report says we are going to pay our care staff more. How much has changed since 

the motion was brought forward in November to increase the pay of our social care 

staff? Does it apply to those with whom we contract i.e. private care agencies? It’s a 

relevant question for this committee because the care sector is the largest growing 

sector of employment. 

We are facing unprecedented increases from our care providers due to their 

requirement to pay at least the real living wage – in fact, they are having to pay more 

Page 326



 

 

than that to attract and retain staff. It is generally pay-related pressures coming through 

the system. Eve Parkinson or Jane Rodgers would be best placed to provide any further 

detail.  

 

A number of officers are funded by EU funding, which comes to an end in October. 

What is the risk that substitute funding won’t become available? 

 

The end of European funding will have an implication for a number of officers across the 

authority, at different stages over the next few financial years. We are doing a lot of 

work to map our staff, to understand their skills and see where they can be redeployed. 

But we are currently waiting to find out what is happening with the Shared Prosperity 

Fund and exploring what might be done with additional funding. A full response to this 

question will be sought from the relevant officers and circulated. 

 

How many officers are affected by this? 

 

In excess of 20 in Employment and Skills, as well as the Rural Development 

Programme team. It is hard to give definite numbers because some will move on to 

alternatively funded programmes. 

 
4. Confirmation of Minutes:  

 
4.1.   Economy and Development Select Committee dated 9th December 2021 

 
The minutes were confirmed and signed as an accurate record. 

 
4.2.   Special Meeting - Economy and Development Select Committee dated 

14th December 2021 
 

The minutes were confirmed and signed as an accurate record. 
 

5. Economy and Development Select Committee Work Programme.  
 

6. Council and Cabinet Forward Work Plan.  
 

7. Next Meeting  
 

Tuesday 15th March 2022 at 10.00am. 
 
 

The meeting ended at 11.06 am.  
 

 

Page 327



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 328



 

 

 

Monmouthshire Select Committee Minutes 
 

 

Meeting of Strong Communities Select Committee held at  on Thursday, 10th March, 2022 at 2.00 
pm 

Councillors Present Officers in Attendance 

County Councillor S. Woodhouse (Chairman) 
 
County Councillors: A. Easson, C. Edwards, 
R. Harris, V. Smith and J. Treharne 
 
 

Hazel Ilett, Scrutiny Manager 
Robert McGowan, Policy and Scrutiny Officer 
Jonathan Davies, Acting Assistant Head of Finance 
David Jones, Head of Public Protection 
Dave Loder, Finance Manager 
Huw Owen, Principal Environment Health Officer 
(Public Health) 

  
APOLOGIES: Councillors A. Webb and L.Dymock 
 

 
 

1. Declarations of Interest  
 

There were no declarations of interest. 
 

2. Public Open Forum  
 

No public submissions were received. 
 

3. Public Spaces Protection Order on Dog Controls  
 

Huw Owen presented the report and answered the members’ questions. 

 

Challenge: 

 

The majority of non-dog owners say that fouling is a problem, but dog owners don’t 

seem to see it as a problem – they are the ones that we need to address. It will take 

perhaps 18 months to bring any orders into effect – is there anything that can be done 

sooner than that? Could existing littering laws be utilised? 

 

It was basically a 50/50 split between owners and non-owners as to whether fouling is a 

problem. It’s encouraging that half of dog owners recognise the problem, as does Dogs 

Trust. There is existing legislation relating to dog fouling i.e. the designation order that 

makes it an offence for a person responsible for a dog to not pick up after it, covering 

pavements and public footpaths, etc. The legislation is enforced to some extent; in 

recent years we have issued some fixed penalty notices. Enforcement will no doubt be 

a matter that we need to consider in later reports, if and when a PSPO is introduced: 

who enforces it, who has authority to give fixed penalty notices. In recent years we have 

Public Document Pack

Page 329

Agenda Item 10b



 

 

taken the approach of raising awareness of the problem (which we will need to continue 

doing). The positive of a long process is that the process itself raises awareness. 

 

One concern is exclusion areas e.g. parks, for reasons outlined in the report. Another 

concern is future consideration: are there adequate resources to police this, from a 

council perspective? Will there be more designated walking areas? Will the council have 

funds for more areas in the towns? Will other applications be put to the back of the 

queue in the future? 

 

Currently, environmental health officers and officers in the waste and street cleaning 

sections are authorised for enforcement. We don’t have any officers solely with this duty 

doing patrols. We tried this over 10 years ago and found that it was not cost-effective. 

Moving forward, the number of authorised officers will depend on what the stakeholders 

want in regard to leads areas and exemption areas – do they want these, and how 

many? We have engaged in early discussions with the manager of the civil enforcement 

officers responsible for double yellow line parking – there is potential scope for these 

officers to be included. Police officers might also be included. 

 

Enforcement is essential. When raising awareness we need to ask people “Are you 

prepared to pay extra for dedicated officers for enforcement?”. If 50% of owners don’t 

believe that people should pick up after their dogs then the use of fines is justified. 

 

50.5% of the 931 dog owners who responded said that dog fouling is a problem – it 

doesn’t mean that the 49.5% don’t think that dog mess should be picked up. 

Importantly, 87.2% of owners and non-owners support a control requiring mess to be 

picked up. Yes, the point about dedicated officers is acknowledged. Dog fouling is fairly 

infrequent and the chances of catching someone are low – having a dedicated officer 

walking the streets each day might not mean that anyone is caught, especially 

considering early morning and night-time walks. So, the number of authorised officers 

will need to be very much led by what the stakeholders want, which would be a subject 

for further discussion. 

 

Enforcement is a concern – how can we police it? It would be better to have something 

and then look to try and enforce it rather than not having anything in place. 

 

For enforcement, we are also reliant on local solutions for local problems. If there is a 

particular area where there is a problem, and the PSPO covers that as a dogs-on-leads 

or exemption area, then we are reliant on information being given to us by members of 

the public, particularly related to offences at regular times. This intelligence will enable 

us to make a more proactive response. 

Page 330



 

 

 

Chair’s Summary: 

 

We have had an extensive discussion today on the feedback from the public 

consultation process, which is the 2nd report on this matter, the first having been 

considered by the committee last year. There are several distinct issues we have 

discussed today, which are: 

 

1) Dog Fouling: We have to consider whether we apply the ‘Pick it up’ slogan 

universally, because if we don’t apply this universally, we would need to specify 

where it applies and where it doesn’t ~ this will have a cost implication in terms of 

signage. We need to consult with private landowners such as Woodlands Trust 

for their views.  

 

2) New offence: The introduction of a new offence to not put a dog on a lead of 2m 

when asked to do so by an enforcement officer. 

 
 

3) Dog designated areas: we have invited comments on dogs on fields, sport 

pitches, parks, children’s play areas and cemeteries. In summary, the public 

consultation favoured dogs on leads as opposed to dog exemption areas and we 

had helpful feedback from the Dog’s Trust. 

 

Some of the issues we discussed were the practicality of enforcement and the cost 

implications.   Officers have advised that it’s not for Environmental Health to decide 

which areas should be dog on leads areas or dog exemption areas. It should be for the 

land controller/owner to decide this, taking into account the views of stakeholders and 

town and community councils. 

 

The next stage will be to engage with stakeholders and then produce a draft a PSPO. 

The Council will then undertake a further public consultation and report back to the 

committee. 

 

Enforcement is a major concern of the committee. Perhaps CCTV could be used for 

picking up a regular offender in the same place. Councillor Easson expressed concern 

for further measures being needed between now and the PSPO coming in, particularly 

relating to the problem with fouling around Castle Park school. 

 

The committee supports the recommendations in the report and thanks the officers for 
their extensive work on this matter, because it is an important topic that the public will 

Page 331



 

 

undoubtedly have a major interest in, so our efforts to engage them fully on this are 
much appreciated. 

 
4. Budget Monitoring - Scrutiny of the budgetary position (revenue and capital) for services 

falling within the committee's remit at Month 9  
 

Jonathan Davies and Dave Loder presented the report and answered the members’ 

questions. 

 

Challenge: 

 

You have indicated a budgetary underspend of £3m; if so, it will go into the prudential 

reserves. You indicated that our reserves aren’t as healthy as in other authorities. What 

does WLGA advise that the amount of prudentiary reserves should be? Before the £3m 

goes in, what are our percentage reserves compared to the prudent amount?  

 

We recently took a report through the Governance and Audit committee regarding our 

reserves levels, which went into detail about our earmarked reserves and council fund 

reserve. There is guidance that our council fund should be between 4-6% of our net 

revenue budget. Our council fund, as it stands, is just over 5%. When talking about 

comparative levels across Wales, the report indicated that we sit at around 19th in terms 

of our overall levels of reserves. So, we are near the bottom of that spectrum despite us 

being able to replenish reserves in the last two financial years. Replenishment is a 

positive but we still have a way to go. While comparisons can be useful, we also have to 

bear in mind that authorities will be in different places in their investment cycles i.e. 

some will have invested heavily from reserves and will look to bear the fruit of that now, 

whereas others will be at the start of that journey. 

 

So, we are in the middle of the 4-6% of the advised reserves and are going to put the 

underspend into it, while at the same time asking the population to pay more council tax 

at 2.95%. Do you think the public would be happy if they realised that? 

 

Any in-year underspend will have to be carried over regardless, so will go to reserves by 

default. We also have to bear in mind that a lot of this late notification has come through 

in the past 4-6 weeks; while it’s always welcomed, it makes it very hard for robust 

service delivery when it’s so late. It would be much easier if it came in within the original 

budget settlement for the year. In terms of replenishing reserves, the council (in the new 

administration) will need to make the decision as to the use of that money and the ability 

for that to be targeted towards service efficiencies or reducing costs over the medium 

term. So, there will be further options in the future. It is important to make the distinction 

Page 332



 

 

between the council fund and earmarked reserves: the 4-6% level refers solely to the 

council fund. 

How much notice do you get to apply for grants? 

 

It varies. The majority of grants that have come through recently are unhypothecated, 

which means that we don’t have to apply – it doesn’t go through that process, as with 

others. What we are seeing is probably the result of some underspends in Welsh 

Government’s budget, the result of which is that they are looking to put that money into 

local authorities and health, so there’s very little administrative burden on us. There are 

some smaller grants that need to go through an application process but in this round of 

notifications it has been a low administrative burden on finance. 

 

Could the figures relating to waste and street services be clarified? 

 

The Waste outturn is split between Covid-related and non-Covid-related costs. £236k 

has formed part of the Covid-related expenditure, down to having to bring on more 

vehicles because of social distancing, staff self-isolating, etc. Being a frontline service 

agency staff have to come in to cover the losses, to ensure the rounds are completed. 

Those costs are claimable from Welsh Government, so have been separated out, then 

the remaining non-Covid underspend is made up of contract savings etc. 

 

Are staff vacancies intentional? Are they due to the calibre of applicants or the rate of 

pay that we offer? 

 

It is probably a mixture. We are struggling to fill posts in certain areas because we aren’t 

paying enough but some will have been held vacant because of the spending freeze 

mentioned earlier. Other underspends are due to restructures in which we have built the 

budget to include new posts that then haven’t been filled for various reasons. So, it is a 

multitude of factors. There are a lot of vacancies – there will always be some – but we 

wouldn’t expect to have as many next year. 

 

It seems to be a waste of time and energy to build a budget that we then can’t comply 

with. should we not build a budget based around what we can actually afford? 

 

A lot of this comes off the back of the pandemic conditions – the emergency response 

that we had to make. Things haven’t returned to the pre-pandemic picture as fast as we 

would have liked. 

 

 

 

Page 333



 

 

Chair’s Summary: 

 

We noted at the outset of the discussion on this item that the report being brought to us 

is not as timely as usual and why, so our observations have taken this into account. The 

report has been taken to other scrutiny committees, so some members will have 

scrutinised this several times, however, we have asked questions around underspends 

and also our levels of reserves and comparative levels across Wales and had adequate 

responses from officers on this. Future scrutiny of budget monitoring will be undertaken 

by the new Performance and Overview Scrutiny Committee when the new council 

administration is established. Members wished to express thanks and admiration for the 

team’s hard work over the years. 

 

Councillor Easson requested that in the next administration, a report comes back to 

members about the levelling up fund for Monmouth and Caldicot. 

 
5. To confirm minutes of the previous meeting  

 

The minutes were confirmed and signed as an accurate record, proposed by Councillor 

Easson and seconded by Councillor Edwards. 

 
6. Action list  

 
7. Strong Communities forward work programme  

 

The decision was taken by Council last week to repurpose the existing select committee 

arrangements. A meeting will be scheduled with officers and the Cabinet member in the 

new administration to discuss Councillor Smith’s report. Further reports relating to 

today’s topic on dog orders will come back in the new arrangements. Most of the other 

items discussed this year in this committee have been concluded. 

 
8. Cabinet & Council forward work programme  

 
9. Date and time of next meeting  

 
This will be for the next administration to agree. 

 
 

The meeting ended at 3.32 pm. 
 

 

Page 334


	Agenda
	6 Discussion on the Committee's Forward Work Programme
	6a Scrutiny Work Programme Report Appendix 1
	6b Appendix 2 ~ Council, Cabinet ICMD Forward Plan

	7 Pre-decision Scrutiny of the Wye Valley Villages Future Plan
	7a Appendix 1 Wye-Valley-Villages-Stage-3-Report_Low-resolution
	Wye Valley Stage 1 Presentation Feb 2021 DRAFT.pdf
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12
	Slide Number 13
	Slide Number 14
	Slide Number 15
	Slide Number 16
	Slide Number 17
	Slide Number 18
	Slide Number 19
	Slide Number 20
	Slide Number 21
	Slide Number 22
	Slide Number 23
	Slide Number 24
	Slide Number 25
	Slide Number 26
	Slide Number 27
	Slide Number 28
	Slide Number 29
	Slide Number 30
	Slide Number 31
	Slide Number 32
	Slide Number 33
	Slide Number 34
	Slide Number 35
	Slide Number 36
	Slide Number 37
	Slide Number 38
	Slide Number 39
	Slide Number 40
	Slide Number 41
	Slide Number 42
	Slide Number 43
	Slide Number 44
	Slide Number 45
	Slide Number 46
	Slide Number 47
	Slide Number 48
	Slide Number 49
	Slide Number 50
	Slide Number 51
	Slide Number 52
	Slide Number 53
	Slide Number 54
	Slide Number 55
	Slide Number 56
	Slide Number 57
	Slide Number 58
	Slide Number 59
	Slide Number 60
	Slide Number 61
	Slide Number 62

	Wye Valley Stage 2 Report FINAL for Virtual Engage - 15.09.2021.pdf
	Wye Valley Villages Stage 2 Report�August 2021�Issue 1.3
	Slide Number 2
	1. Introduction Wye Villages Plan for the Future�
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	2. Draft vision�
	3. Stakeholder engagement�
	3. Stakeholder engagement�
	�
	4. National and regional context �
	�
	Slide Number 12
	5. Wye Valley context�
	Slide Number 14
	6. Six Pillars�
	Slide Number 16
	Slide Number 17
	Slide Number 18
	Slide Number 19
	Slide Number 20
	Slide Number 21
	Slide Number 22
	Slide Number 23
	Slide Number 24
	Slide Number 25
	Slide Number 26
	Slide Number 27
	Slide Number 28
	Slide Number 29
	Slide Number 30
	Slide Number 31
	TINTERN
	Slide Number 33
	DEVAUDEN
	Slide Number 35
	LLANDOGO
	Slide Number 37
	THE NARTH
	Slide Number 39
	TRELLECH
	Slide Number 41
	LLANISHEN
	Slide Number 43
	ST ARVANS
	Slide Number 45
	PENALLT
	Slide Number 47
	CATBROOK
	Slide Number 49
	Slide Number 50
	�7. Next steps�

	Blank Page
	06.10.2021 Wye Valley Virtual Engage Summary.pdf
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12
	Slide Number 13
	Slide Number 14
	Slide Number 15

	Blank Page

	7b Appendix 2 Wye-Valley-Villages-Stage-3-Report-Executive-Summary
	7c Appendix 3 Agenda  - Inaugural Meeting WVWG 10.12.19
	7d Appendix 4 FGEA - Wye Valley villages future plan- June'22

	8 Pre-decision Scrutiny of the Regeneration Funding and Delivery Plan 2022-2025  (prior to going to Cabinet on 27th July 2022)
	9 Petitions Received - to recommend actions to the Cabinet
	10b wyesham petition (1)

	10a Economy and Development Select Committee - 3rd February 2022
	Minutes

	10b Strong Communities Select Committee - 10th March 2022
	Minutes




